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( )
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2020 30
(€D)
@
7,765 (291) 2,924 21.2% 10,866 4.89
. (101) 23) (78) (0.04)
(46) - 1 35 0.02
an - 4 13 0.01
- - (329) 329 0.15
- - (28) 28 0.01
7,702 (392) 2,559 18.6% 11,193 5.04
2019 30
(O]
@
7,976 117) 2,804 18.8% 12,080 5.32
. (131) (30) (101) (0.04)
®) - 1 5 -
® - 1 3 _
(370) - 83 287 0.13
7,596 (248) 2,859 18.9% 12,274 5.40
2018 30
(O]
(O]
7,655 (148) 2,505 19.6% 10,301 4.42
- (98) (25) (73) (0.03)
(195) (193) 51 (49) (0.02)
(600) - 137 463 0.20
- - 1,133 (1,133) (0.49)
; - (1,147) 1,147 0.49
6,860 (439) 2,654 20.3% 10,656 4.58
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2020 2019 2020 2020 2019
30 30 30 30 30
B ® 5, O ® 5, ® 5, O ® 5, ® 5, O )
1,518 1,540 @ % 2,361 2,484 ) % 3,879 4,025 (&) %
(©)) 1,851 1,699 9 % 1,974 1,877 5 % 3,824 3,576 7 %
(O] 641 634 1% 369 381 @)% 1,010 1,015 - %
(&) 4,009 3,873 4 % 4,704 4,742 @)% 8,713 8,615 1%
573 573 - % 2,046 2,261 ©) % 2,620 2,834 (8) %
@ G 4,583 4,447 3% 6,750 7,003 @)% 11,333 11,450 @ %
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1,540 1,441 7 % 2,484 2,455 1% 4,025 3,897 3%
® 1,699 1,521 12 % 1,877 1,792 5% 3,576 3,313 8%
® 634 564 12 % 381 364 5% 1,015 927 9%
@ 3,873 3,526 10 % 4,742 4,611 3 M 8,615 8,137 6%
573 563 2 % 2,261 2,437 (D% 2,834 3,000  (6)%
(ONO) 4,447 4,089 9 % 7,003 7,048 @)% 11,450 11,137 3%
20200 30 2019 0 2020 2019 30
12 12 1 12
2019 30 018 30 2019 0 2018 0
12 ® 12 ® 12 ® 12 ®
® ©® ® ®
G @4 1% O ) @)% £ )
(©)
5% 9% 5% 11% 7% 9% 8% 11%
(O]
@)% =% 5% 13% =% 1% 9% 12%
(@)
% 2% 3% 9% 1% 3% 6% 10%
@)% ©% (D% % (@)% G% (6% %
@
@)% s @ &% (L)% 1% 3 7%
2020 2019
2018 30 12 2020 2019
2018 30 12
V PAY
1
30 @
2020 2019
2020 2019 2018 2019 2018
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23
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2019 2018 2019 2018
2020 2019 2018
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3,785 3,444 3,170 341 274 10 % 9 %
o71 1,105 988 (134) 117 a2y 12 %
727 721 686 6 35 1% 5 4
408 454 446 (46) 8 0y 2 %
767 656 613 111 43 17 % 7 %
1,096 1,196 1,145 (100) 51 ()% 49
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2020 30 3.5
100 2020 30
7.2
2019
100

30
13
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2020 30
221
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2020 30 125 78
2020 30
@ >
2,063,200,219” 2,000,680,274,543
2,003,366,656,020
5,982,740 18,987,892
25,000,000
123,525,418
2007 EIP 2015
ESPP 154,828,764
2020 30
1
0.0001 1,683,458,047 [€))
2)(3
0.0001 369,038,802 @A)
3
0.0001 10,703,370 ®3)
4
0.0001 345,451 ()
4
0.0001 2,480,466 )
4
0.0001 3,156,823 )
- 2,069,182,959 - -
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123,525,418
80
2020
2020 2019 10

2020 30 2020 30
335,719 749,314
335,719 749,314
166.64 162.81
17,745 17,338
55,945,532.54 121,993,338.03
5,957,639,760 12,991,070,567
335,719 749,314
335,719 749,314
166.64 162.81
17,745 17,338

55,945,532.54

121,993,338.03

5,957,639,760

12,991,070,567

15,566,039

15,566,039

1PO

2020

30
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- 194,994 47

2015 10 - 1,949,944,700
- 20,764,961
(7,963.92) 187,030.55

2016 30 (79,639,240) 1,870,305,460
(848,078) 19,916,883
(5,265.83) 181,764.71

2017 30 (52,658,339) 1,817,647,121
(560,758) 19,356,124
(4,921.20) 176,843.51

2018 30 (49,212,002) 1,768,435,119
(524,059) 18,832,065
(5,033.20) 171,810.31

2019 30 (50,331,967) 1,718,103,152
(535,985) 18,296,080
(3,464.51) 168,345.80

2020 30 @D (34,645,105) 1,683,458,047
(368,936) 17,927,144

2020 2020 11 12
17,023,356
USA

@
- 36,903.88

2015 10 - 369,038,802
- 3,929,894
0 36,903.88

2016 30 0 369,038,802
0 3,929,894
0 36,903.88

2017 30 0 369,038,802
0 3,929,894
0 36,903.88

2018 30 0 369,038,802
0 3,929,894
0 36,903.88

2019 30 0 369,038,802
0 3,929,894
0 36,903.88

2020 30 0 369,038,802
0 3,929,894
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123,525,418

- 1,964.43

2015 10 - 19,644,308
- 209,192
(208.15) 1,756.28

2016 30 © (2,081,466) 17,562,842
(22,166) 187,026
(484.68) 1,271.61

2017 30 (4,846,783) 12,716,059
(51,614) 135,414
(98.86) 1,172.74

2018 30 (988,633) 11,727,426
(10,528) 124,885
(39.36) 1,133.38

2019 30 (393,627) 11,333,799
(4,191) 120,694
(63.04) 1,070.34

2020 30 (630,429) 10,703,370
(6,713) 113,981

549,945

37.48 37.48

2020 on @ 374,819 374,819
3,991 3,991
(2.94) 34.55

2020 30 (29,368) 345,451
(313) 3,679

2020 24 7.3
37,481,900
374,819
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- 248.05
2016 21 - 2,480,466

- 26,415

0 248.05
2016 30 0 2,480,466

0 26,415

0 248.05
2017 30 0 2,480,466

0 26,415

0 248.05
2018 30 0 2,480,466

0 26,415

0 248.05
2019 30 0 2,480,466

0 26,415

0 248.05
2020 30 0 2,480,466

0 26,415

- 315.68
2016 21 - 3,156,823

- 33,617

0 315.68
2016 30 0 3,156,823

0 33,617

0 315.68
2017 30 0 3,156,823

0 33,617

0 315.68
2018 30 0 3,156,823

0 33,617

0 315.68
2019 30 0 3,156,823

0 33,617

0 315.68
2020 30 0 3,156,823

0 33,617

2020 30
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1

(€]

99

100.00

The

Depositary Trsut Company

(€]

(©)

@

100

100.00

USA

(€Y}

(€5}

100

100.00

100

100.00
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- - 100

- - 100.00

- - 100

- - 100.00
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2020 30
(€))
@ 19355
144,092,407 8.50
The Vanguard Group 100
3) 10055
127,158,232 7.50
BlackRock, Inc. 52 55
02210
® 63,378,552 3.74
FMR LLC 245
- 334,629,191 19.74
2021 10 SEC SC 13G/A
2021 SEC SC 13G/A
2021 SEC SC 13G/A
1
@ @
10036-6728
64,285,884 17.42
Blue Ridge Investments,
LLC
JP 10017-2070
JPMorgan Chase & Co. 270
JP 19801-2920 40,272,211 10.91
JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A. 201 15
94104
Wells Fargo & Company 420
28202-0901 30,108,730 8.16
Wells Fargo Risk
Services, Inc. 301
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Citigroup Inc.
Citibank, N.A.
10013-2362
o ) 25,394,012 6.87
Citicorp North America 388
Inc Malurus
| Malurus 11
Malurus
11 10
10019-6036
20,847,478 5.65
Barclays Bank PLC
¥ 1301
MUFG EMEA
EC2Y 9AJ
o5 13,868,474 3.76
MUFG Securities EMEA PLC
10019-6018
6,824,832 1.85
BNP Paribas Arbitrage SNC 787
60603-1008
The Northern Trust 50 4,129,834 1.12
Company M-10
HSBC 10018-2706
3,683,328 1.00
HSBC Bank USA NA 452
- 209,414,783 56.74
2020 30
1
(€)) @
_ L 105-8011
Sumitomo Mitsui Card 05-80 20 4,173,490 38.99
Company, Limited
10022
China Merchants Bank 535 321,323 3.00
17
40213
Targobank AG 10 279,414 2.61
Industrial & Commercial 100032 55 242,178 2.26
Bank Of China Limited
105
Union Bank Of Taiwan 109 234,842 2.19
1010 BDV
Banco De Venezuela Sa 204,425 1.91
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100031
Bank OF China Limited 198,558 1.86
BOC
11564
Arab National Bank 56921 178,049 1.66
_ _ 105
National Credit Card 163,142 1.52
363 ’
Center
100032
China Construction Bank i 149,281 1.39
Corporation
- 6,144,702 57.39
2020 30
@
@
ECAN 8AF
K 25 27,005 7.82
WorldPay (UK) Limited ’ i
FC2y TN 21,307 6.17
LBG Equity Investments 25 ’ .
Limited
92120 CS 70052 19,970 5.78
Credit Agricole Corporate 12
and Investment Bank
75013
15,046 4.36
BPCE S.A. 50
E14 5HQ
14,330 4.15
HSBC Bank plc
75886 18
o 189 12,514 3.62
Société Générale S_A.
D02 RK57
11,198 3.24
Chase Paymentech Europe 79 ’
Limited 200
75009 9,414 2.73
BNP Paribas 16 ’ .
F14 488 8,864 2.57
Barclays Capital Securities ’ .
Limited
Allied Irish Banks, 8,626 2-50
p-l.c.

75/251

oOoOooodn



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

- 148,274 42.94
2020 30
1
@ @
K ECAN 8AF
- 25 422,7 17.04
WorldPay (UK) Limited > 0
EC2V THN 333,554 13.45
LBG Equity Investments 25 ’ )
Limited
92120 CS 70052 312,624 12.60
Credit Agricole Corporate 12
and Investment Bank
E14 5HQ
224,333 9.04
HSBC Bank plc
K EC2M 4AA
250 184,077 7.42
RBS AA Holdings (UK)
Limited
D02 RK57
175,311 7.07
Chase Paymentech Europe 79
Limited 200
Allied Irish Banks, 135,085 5.44
p-l1.c.
us 55402-7000
US Bank National 800 111,772 4.51
Association BC-NN-H18T
20121
104,208 4.20
Mediobanca Banca Di Credito
Finanziario Spa
NW1 3AN
. 1,584 .2
Santander Equity 81,58 3.29
Investments Limited
- 2,085,253 84.06
2020 30
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1
@ @
75013
219,300 6.95
BPCE S.A. 50
75886 18
189 180,147 5.71
Société Générale S.A.
75009 137,223 4.35
BNP Paribas 16 ’ ’
28016
102,310 3.24
ServiRed, Sociedad Espafiola
de Medios de Pago, S.A.
) ) 12 92547 94,990 3.01
Credit Agricole Corporate
and Investment Bank
oL 94,605 3.00
Vn Norge As 1397 » .
20045 75,920 2.40
CartaSi S.p.A. 55 ’ ’
o 67000
Banque Fédérative du 75,008 2.38
Credit Mutuel
F14 488 70,150 2.22
Barclays Capital Securities ’ i
Limited
Se-105 34 67,006 2.12
Swedbank AB (PUBL)
- 1,116,659 35.38
2020 30
EIP ESPP 2020 30
ESPP
17
a
a
( )
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2020

30

30

ESPP
EIP

ESPP

EIP

139
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2020 2019 30

2020

0.30
0.30
0.30
0.30

2019

0.250
0.250
0.250
0.250

2020 10 23 2020 11 13
2020 12 0.32
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() )

NYSE

http://investor.visa.com
http://usa.visa.com/about-visa/operating-responsibly_html 94119

193243
corporatesecretary@visa.com
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NYSE
2020 11
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120,000

NYSE

SPAC
Carney Technology Acquisition Corp. 11 CTAC
CTAC
SPAC
CTAC IPO
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CoviD-19

corporatesecretary@visa.com 94119

193243

board@visa.com
193243

http://investor.visa.com

businessconduct@visa.com
888 289-9322

https://visa.alertline.com 94119
193243
2020 10
2020 2020
2020
http://investor.visa.com
SEC
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https://usa.visa.com/about-visa/operating-responsibly.html
527
25,000
2020 Center for Political Accountability
CPA-
Trendsetter CPA-
ESG
ESG
ESG ESG
ESG
ESG
ESG ESG
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2000

2019

2019 2020 12 SEC

http://investor.visa.com
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™
2020
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2020

KPMG

KPMG

2020

2020

120,000

KPMG

10-

KPMG
KPMG

2020

KPMG
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2020

2021

10-



2020

SEC

SEC

KPMG LLP

2020

2020

30
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2020
http://investor.visa.com
30
PCAOB
KPMG
PCAOB
KPMG KPMG
KPMG
KPMG

10-
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NEO

COVID-19

NEO

NEO

2020 10

NEO

Say-on-Pay

2020 21
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Frederic W. Cook
& Co Fw

2020 12 SEC

2020 11 23

2020
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2020 11 23

2020
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2020 11 23

2020 12 SEC

ESG

2020 12

2020
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Fw Fw

FW
2019 10 105,000 110,000
2020
200,000 215,000
2019 10
10,000 15,000

2020

110,000
75,000
20,000
15,000
15,000
15,000
25,000

20,000

20,000

20,000

EIP
500,000
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2020 28 215,000
2019 11 20 33,333 2019 12 15
15,000
Political Action Committee PAC
PAC
5,000
2020
2020
2020 11 23 2020
1 2 3
C H®  ® . H® C )

155,000 215,021 5,000 375,021

142,500 215,021 35,000 392,521

140,000 215,021 15,000 370,021

(CY) 108,750 248,346 - 357,096

203,750 215,021 5,000 423,771

160,000 215,021 20,000 395,021

155,000 215,021 10,000 380,021

152,500 215,021 20,000 387,521

165,000 215,021 19,500 399,521

140,000 215,021 20,000 375,021
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FASB ASC 718
17
2020
30,000
15,000 14,500
5,000 2020
15,000 2019
2020 PAC
2020
5,000
2019 11 20 2020 28
2020
( ) ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
110,000 - 45,000 - - -
110,000 - 10,000 - 7,500 15,000
110,000 - - 15,000 15,000 -
82,500 - 15,000 - - 11,250
110,000 75,000 - 3,750 - 15,000
110,000 - - 15,000 35,000 -
110,000 - 20,000 25,000 - -
110,000 - 10,000 17,500 - 15,000
110,000 - 20,000 - - 35,000
110,000 - - 15,000 15,000 -
2021

Fw 2021

13 15 15 15

SEC
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2020 30
2020
30
2013
2020 30
2020 30
KPMG LLP
COVID-19
2020
12
33
60

250,856 540,557 791,413

142,139 615,933 758,072
168,087 497,673 )

665,760

73,633 346,086 419,719

9,098 39,182 48,280

110,373 - 110,373

71,233 . 71,233

59,909 1
. 59,900 ")

27,413 . 27,413
18,428 - 18,428
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4,283 - 4,283
3,945 - 3,945
2,962 - 2,962
1,481 _ 1,481D
1,446 - 1,446
1,021,141 2,250,975 3,272,116
18
2,880
11,641 3,525
10,160
43
29 ( )
Lynne Biggar
58
2016
2013 11 2016 Time Inc.
1992 2013
American Express Company 2012 2013 11
2011 us
Voya Financial, Inc.
Paul Fabara
55
2019
2011 2019

2018 2019

2016 2018
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Barclays
2009 2011 2006
2009 Barclaycard
2002 2006
Alliance Data Systems
Providian Financial Corporation
Ryan Mclnerney

45

2013

200
JP 2010
2013 75,000 14
23 20
McKinsey & Company
Vasant M. Prabhu

60

2015

NBC NBCUniversal 2014
2015 NBC
NBC
Marriott International
Starwood
Hotels & Resorts Worldwide, Inc. 2004 2014
35 Safeway, Inc.

The McGraw-Hill Companies

Pepsi-Cola International
PepsiCo

Booz, Allen & Hamilton
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56
2013 11
54
2014
2022
2020 12
58
Inc.
Corporation
2020
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Rajat Taneja

IT

Electronic Arts Inc.

2011 10 2013 11
IT
Microsoft Corporation 2011
2007 2011

Kelly Mahon Tullier

PepsiCo, Inc.

2011 2014

Frito-Lay, Inc.

Baker Botts LLP
Sidney A. Fitzwater

12

Lloyd A. Carney

Grid Dynamics Holdings Inc.
Nuance Communications Inc.
Vertex Pharmaceuticals

Brocade Communications Systenms,
Cypress Semiconductor
Micromuse, Inc.

CTAC
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2007
Carney Global Ventures, LLC
2013 2017 11
2008 2012
Systems
2003 2006

International Business Machines Corporation

Inc.
Nortel Networks Inc.
Bay Networks, Inc.
Mary B. Cranston
72
Chemours Company
Corp.
MyoKardia, Inc.
Inc.
Corporation

Winthrop Shaw Pittman LLP

1999 2006
2012

30

National Law Journal
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Xsigo
1BM
Wentworth Institute of Technology
Lesley College
Juniper Networks,
McAfee

Exponent,
GrafTech International, Inc.

International Rectifier

Pillsbury

2006 12

2002
100

500
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Francisco Javier Fernandez-Carbajal
ALFA ALFA S.A.B. de C.V.
CEMEX S.A.B. de C.V.
Fomento Economico Mexicano, S.A.B. de C.V.
El Puerto de Liverpool,
S.A.B. de C.V. Fresnillo, plc
Grupo Aeroportuario del Pacifico,
S.A.B. de C.V. Grupo Bimbo, S.A.B. de
C.V. Grupo Gigante, S.A.B. de
C.V. Grupo Lamosa, S.A.B. de C.V.
IXE IXE Grupo Financiero S.A_B.
de C.V.
2002
2005
Servicios Administrativos Contry
S.A. de C.V.
2000 2002 BBVA BBVA
Bancomer
BBVA Grupo Financiero BBVA Bancomer, S_A.
1991 BBVA
1999 10 2000 1995 10
1999 10
Instituto Tecnologico y de Estudios Superiores de Monterrey
BBVA
BBVA
Alfred F. Kelly, Jr.
MetLife Inc.
Affinion Group Holdings, Inc. Affinion Group,
Inc.
2016 12 2019
2016 2016 10
Intersection
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2015 2016
Capital Partners L.P.
2011 2014 48
2014 NY/NJ
Company
2010 2005
2000
23
1985 1987
1981 1985

Ramon Laguarta

57

2018 10
20
2017
2012 2015
2008 2012
2006 2008
2003 2006
2001 2003
2001
ESADE

20

2007
2005
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TowerBrook

2014 NY/NJ Super Bowl Host

2007

2018 2015

2015

1999
1996 1999



John F. Lundgren
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Callaway Golf Company

Stanley Black & Decker, Inc.

Black & Decker

Georgia-Pacific

1995 1997
1997 2000

12

14

Robert W. Matschullat

The Clorox Company

69
Staples, Inc.
2019
2010 2016
2016 12
2004 2010
The Stanley Works
2000 2004
Corporation
James River Corporation
Fort James Corporation
73
The Walt Disney Company

Incorporated
2013 2019
2012 11 2015

2006 2006 10
2004 2005

1995 2000
1991 1995
2004 2020

2002
1992 1995

McKesson Corporation
Morgan Stanley & Co.
The Seagram Company Limited

2005 2006

2002 2018
2007
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42 100

Denise M. Morrison

66
Quest Diagnostics
Campbell Soup Company
2018 10
Denise Morrison & Associates, LLC
2011 2018
2010 10 2018 2010 10 2011
2007 10 2010
2005
2007 USA Campbell USA 2003 2005

Kraft Foods, Inc.

2001 2003
2001
2000 Nabisco Down the Street
1998 2000
1997 1998
1995 1997
1984 1995 Nestle SA
1982 1984
1975 1982
Boston College
120

15
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Suzanne Nora Johnson

63
Intuit Inc. Pfizer Inc.
American International Group, Inc.
2004 11 2007
The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.
Global Markets
Institute
21
Linda J Rendle
42
2020
20 2020 2020
2019 2020
2019 2019
2018
2019
2017 2018
2016 2017
2014 10
2016 2012
2014 10 2003 2012

2000 2002 12 (Procter & Gamble)
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2017 11

2012

2010

John A. C. Swainson
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Schneider National, Inc.

Assurant Inc.

Corporation CA, Inc.

Cadence Design Systems Inc.

2016 11
Dell Inc.

2012

Silver Lake Partners

2005

2004

1997

1BM

1BM

1BM

65

2009 12
CA Technologies

2004 11

2004 1BM

1BM

26

1BM

Maynard G. Webb, Jr.
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2004 11 2009 12
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Salesforce.com. Inc.

Extensity, Inc. Gartner, Inc.
Hyperion Solutions Corporation
LiveOps, Inc. Niku Corporation

Yahoo! Inc.

Webb Investment Network
Everwise Corporation

2008 2013
2006 12 2011

2002 2006

eBay Inc. 1999 2002

eBay Technologies
1998 1999 Gateway,
Inc.
1995 1998
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2020
2020 2019 2018 NEO
NEO
2020
1 2 3 4
C > C > Y ¢ C HO®  H® ¢ HY® ¢
2020 1,550,076 - 17,026,616 4,562,500 3,100,000 - 125,736 26,364,928
2019 1,400,059 - 14,246,423 4,312,489 4,270,000 - 36,800 24,265,771
2018 1,300,038 - 8,693,984 3,500,008 5,973,500 - 26,416 19,493,946
2020 1,100,050 - 8,039,757 2,124,987 1,760,000 1,209 23,850 13,049,853
2019 1,000,040 - 6,493,501 1,625,005 2,440,000 1,372 26,800 11,586,718
2018 1,000,038 - 5,848,193 1,999,994 3,704,000 1,215 16,500 12,569,940
2020 1,100,050 - 9,439,901 2,624,994 1,760,000 3,227 27,100 14,955,272
2019 900,047 - 7,133,141 1,825,008 2,196,000 3,600 30,621 12,088,417
2018 900,035 - 6,777,537 2,250,003 3,333,600 3,351 21,500 13,286,026
2020 1,100,050 - 8,939,651 2,500,007 1,760,000 1,743 20,850 14,322,301
2019 900,047 - 6,977,836 1,712,503 2,196,000 1,969 22,215 11,810,570
2018 900,035 - 6,803,356 2,125,007 3,306,600 1,769 17,750 13,154,517
2020 750,035 - 9,128,814 3,381,227 900,000 - 8,899,802 23,059,878
2020 2019 2018
NEO
NEO 2020
ASC 718
EPS 2020
2017 11 19 2020 11 30 2018 11 19 2021
11 30 2019 11 19 2022 11 30
2018 11 2019 11
EPS 2020 12

SEC
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- 4,562,488 12,464,128 24,928,254
- 2,125,067 5,914,690 11,829,379
- 2,624,943 6,814,958 13,629,916
- 2,499,928 6,439,723 12,879,445
7,799,935 781,159 547,720 1,095,441
2020 2019 2018
FASB ASC 718 NEO
17
2020 12 SEC
2020 ( VIP VIP
NEO
2020 11 13 NEO
C ) ( )
3,100,000 - 3,100,000
1,760,000 - 1,760,000
1,760,000 - 1,760,000
1,760,000 - 1,760,000
900,000 - 900,000
2020
11
2020 2020
2020
2020
401
1 2 3 4
P H®  H®  HY®
- 93,636 17,100 15,000 125,736
- - 17,100 6,750 23,850
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- - 17,100 10,000 27,100
- - 17,100 3,750 20,850
8,871,452 - 28,350 - 8,899,802
8,641,826
229,626
2020 401 17,100 2019
2020
NEO
10,000 3,000
10,000
PAC 2020 5,000
3,750 10,000 3,750 2020
PAC 2020
5,000 5,000
KPMG 2008 PO KPMG 2020
KPMG
KPMG
KPMG
KPMG
KPMG KPMG
PCAOB
KPMG
KPMG
2019 2020
® @
16)) 9,540 2,580 9,548 2,193
1,015,915 274,744 1,016,767 233,533

112/251

SEC



2020

KPMG
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18 3402

XBRL

SEC PCAOB

10 C)HCHC)
SEC

KPMG
KPMG
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2019

2021

30

)

2020 11 19
2020
2020

1934

30

UFJ

32
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10-
10- 2020 30

S-X

12 )
193

38 50 ) 131

106.49



EDINETOOOO

OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

oOoOooodn

( )

2020 30 2019 30

( ) ( )
$ 16,289 \ 1,734,616 $ 7,838 \ 834,669
901 95,947 1,205 128,320
3,752 399,550 4,236 451,092
1,264 134,603 3,048 324,582
1,618 172,301 1,542 164,208
1,850 197,007 1,648 175,496
1,214 129,279 741 78,909
757 80,613 712 75,821
27,645 2,943,916 20,970 2,233,095
231 24,599 2,157 229,699
3,175 338,106 2,084 221,925
2,737 291,463 2,695 286,991
15,910 1,694,256 15,656 1,667,207
27,808 2,961,274 26,780 2,851,802
3,413 363,450 2,232 237,686
$80,919 \ 8,617,064 $ 72,574 \ 7,728,405
$ 174\ 18,529 $ 156\ 16,612
1,736 184,867 3,990 424,895
1,850 197,007 1,648 175,496
821 87,428 796 84,766
4,176 444,702 3,997 425,641
1,840 195,942 1,625 173,046
2,999 319,364

914 97,332 1,203 128,107
14,510 1,545,170 13,415 1,428,563
21,071 2,243,851 16,729 1,781,471
5,237 557,688 4,807 511,897
3,891 414,353 2,939 312,974
44,709 4,761,061 37,890 4,034,906

18
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30

30

30
A

A

B

C

2,001,622

24

11

2020
5

2020

0.0001

0.0001
2020 2019
1,683
0.0001
2019 30

0.0001
2019 30

25
2020 2019
2020 2019
2020 2019
30
1,718
622
1,097
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( )
( )
2020 30 2019 30
) ( )
2,437 259,516
1,106 117,778 2,285 243,330
1,543 164,314 3,177 338,319
(39) (4,153) @) (18,210)
16,721 1,780,619 16,541 1,761,451
14,088 1,500,231 13,502 1,437,828
3 319 6 639
(196) (20,872) (192) (20,446)
(291) (30,989) 199 21,192
838 89,239 (663) (70,603)
354 37,697 (650) (69,219)
36,210 3,856,003 34,684 3,693,499
$80,919 8,617,064  $ 72,574 7,728,405
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( )
30
2020 2019 2018
) ( ) ( ) ( )
$ 21,846 \2,326,381 $ 22,977 \2,446,821 $ 20,609 \2,194,652
3,785 403,065 3,444 366,752 3,170 337,573
971 103,402 1,105 117,671 988 105,212
727 77,418 721 76,779 686 73,052
408 43,448 454 48,346 446 47,495
767 81,678 656 69,857 613 65,278
1,096 116,713 1,196 127,362 1,145 121,931
11 1,171 400 42,596 607 64,639
7,765 826,895 7,976 849,364 7,655 815,181
14,081 1,499,486 15,001 1,597,456 12,954 1,379,471
(516) (54,949) (533) (56,759) (612) (65,172)
225 23,960 416 44,300 464 49,411
(291) (30,989) @i (12,459) (148) (15,761)
13,790 1,468,497 14,884 1,584,997 12,806 1,363,711
2,924 311,377 2,804 298,598 2,505 266,757
$ 10,866 \1,157,120 $ 12,080 \1,286,399 $ 10,301 \1,096,953
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( )
( )
30
2020 2019 2018
) ( ) ( )
$ 4.9 \ 522 $ b5.32 \ 567 $ 4.43 \ 472
$ 7.94 \ 846 $ 8.68 \ 924 $ 7.28 \ 775
$ 19.58 \ 2,085 $ 21.30 \ 2,268 $ 17.72 \ 1,887
1,697 1,742 1,792
245 245 245
11 12 12
$ 4.89 \ 521 $ b5.32 \ 567 $ 4.42 \ 471
$ 7.93 \ 844 $ 8.66 \ 922 $ 7.27 \ 774
$ 19.56 \ 2,083 $ 21.26 \ 2,264 $ 17.69 \ 1,884
2,223 2,272 2,329
245 245 245
11 12 12
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30

2020 2019 2018

) ( )« ) ( )

$ 10,866 \1,157,120 $ 12,080 \1,286,399 $ 10,301  \1,096,953

1 106 20 2,130 94 10,010
- - ) (532) (19) (2,023)

®) (319) 1 106 (215) (22,895)

1 106 - 50 5,325

@ (745) (174) (18,529) 16 1,704

1 106 36 3,834 ) (532)

18 1,917 9 958 5 532
(©) (319) @ (213) @ (106)
(547) (58, 250) 233 24,812 90 9,584
119 12,672 (25) (2.,662) (24) (2,556)
(81) (8,626) (85) (9,052) 32 3,408
19 2,023 16 1,704 ) (213)
1,511 160,906 (1,228)  (130,770) (352) (37,484)
1,029 109,578 (1,204)  (128,214) (331) (35,248)

$ 11,895 \1,266,699 $ 10,876  \1,158,185 $ 9,970 \1,061,705
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2017

2018

@

30

30

0.195

0.210
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A B c
1,818 245 13 $ 5,526 5 (52) $ 16,900 $ 9,508 $ 878 $ 32,760
10,301 10,301
331) (331)
9,970
11 1)
(56) 56
4 @
2
@ 327 327
(€Y 94) 4
3 164 164
(1,918) (1,918)
(58) (619) (6,573) (7,192)
1,768 245 12 $ 5,470 $ (D) $ 16,678 $ 11,318 $ 547 $ 34,006
( )
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1,768 12 $ 5,470 $ () $ 16,678 $ 11,318 $ 547 $ 34,006
12,080 12,080
(1,204) (1,204)
10,876
385 7 392
172) 172)
®) 8
2 (6
3
407 407
w (111) (111)
2 162 162
(2,269) (2,269)
(56) (595) (8,012) (8,607)
1,718 11 $ 5,462 $  (@171) $ 16,541 $ 13,502 $  (650) $ 34,684
C
11 $ 5,462 % arn) $ 16,541 $ 13,502 $  (650) $ 34,684
10,866 10,866
1,029 1,029
11,895
25 (25)
@n (€D))
(164) 169 5
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A (€} ) ®
A @ 3 207) 207
I 3 @
3
416 416
16N (160) (160)
1 190 190
A 0.30
(2,664) (2,664)
A (44) (473) (7,641) (8,114)
2020 30 @ 3 1,683 245 11 $ 5,086 $ (39  $16,721 $ 14,088 $ 354 $ 36,210
@
B A B
2017 30 2 3 1,818 245 13 \ 588,464 \ (5,537) \ 1,799,681 \ 1,012,507 \ 93,498 \ 3,488,612
1,096,953 1,096,953
(35,248) __ (85.248)
1,061,705
(1,171) @,171)
(5,963) 5,963
c 4 16N
2
@ 34,822 34,822
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@ (10,010) (10,010)
3 17,464 17,464
A
0.195
A
0.210 (204,248) (204,248)

A (58) (65,917) (699, 959) (765,876)
2018 30 2 3 1,768 245 12 \ 582,500 \ (745) \ 1,776,040 \ 1,205,254 \ 58,250 \ 3,621,299
o A

B c A B
2018 30 2 3 1,768 245 12 \ 582,500 \ (745) \ 1,776,040  \ 1,205,254 \ 58,250  \ 3,621,299
1,286,399 1,286,399
(128,214) (128,214)
1,158,185
40,999 745 41,744
(18,316) (18,316)
(852) 852
c 2 Q@

3
43,341 43,341
@ (11,820) (11,820)
2 17,251 17,251

A

0.25 (241,626) (241,626)
A (56) (63,362) (853,198) (916,559)
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2019 30
A
A
c
A
A
2020 30
@

0.30
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2 3 1,718 245 11 \ 581,648 \ (18,210) \ 1,761,451  \ 1,437,828 \ (69,219)  \ 3,693,499
A B c
3 1,718 245 11 \ 581,648 \ (18,210) \1,761,451  \1,437,828 \ (69,219)  \ 3,693,499
1,157,120 1,157,120
109,578 109,578
1,266,699
2,662 (2,662)
(3,940) (3,940)
(17,464) 17,997 532
® (532) (532)
@ 3 (22,043) 22,043
3 @
3
44,300 44,300
w (17,038) (17,038)
1 20,233 20,233
(283,689) (283,689)
(44) (50,370) (813,690) (864,060)
@ 3 1,683 245 11\ 541,608 \ (4,153) \1,780,619  \1,500,231 \ 37,697 \ 3,856,003
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30

2020 2019 2018

$10,866 \1,157,120 $12,080 \1,286,399 $10,301 \1,096,953

6,664 709,649 6,173 657,363 5,491 584,737
416 44,300 407 43,341 327 34,822
767 81,678 656 69,857 613 65,278
307 32,692 214 22,789 (1,277)  (135,988)
€)) (3,940) 172)  (18,316) an @17

(145)  (15,441) @71)  (28,859) (64)  (6.815)
1,858 197,858 (1,533)  (163,249) (223)  (23,747)
(43) (4,579) (333)  (35,461) (70)  (7.454)
(8,081) (860,546)  (6,430)  (684,731) (4,682)  (498,586)
(402)  (42,809) (310)  (33,012) 59 6,283
21 2,236 24) (2,556) 3 319

(2,384)  (253,872) 1,931 205,632 262 27,900
923 98,290 627 66,769 1,760 187,422

(290)  (30,882) (231)  (24,599) 452 48,133
10,440 1,111,756 12,784 1,361,368 12,941 1,378,087
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( )
30
2020 2019 2018
) ( ) ( )
(736) (78,377) (756) (80,506) (718) (76,460)
(2,075) (220,967)  (2,653) (282,518)  (5,772) (614,660)
4,510 480,270 3,996 425,534 3,636 387,198

an (8,200) (699) (74,437) (196) (20,872)

267) (28,433) (501) (53,351) (50) (5,325)
72 7,667 22 2,343 16 1,704
1,427 151,961 (591) (62,936)  (3,084) (328,415)
(8,114) (864,060)  (8,607) (916,559)  (7,192) (765,876)
7,212 768,006
(1,750) (186, 358)
(2,664) (283,689)  (2.,269) (241,626)  (1,918) (204,248)
(1,236) (131,622)

190 20,233 162 17,251 164 17,464
(160) (17,038) (111) (11,820) (94) (10,010)
(333) (35, 461)

(99) (10,543)

(3,968) (422,552)  (12,061) (1,284,376)  (10,790)  (1,149,027)

440 46,856 Q17 (29,498) (101) (10,755)

8,339 888,020 (145) (15,441)  (1,034) (110,111)
10,832 1,153,500 10,977 1,168,941 12,011 1,279,051
$ 19,171  \2,041,520 $ 10,832 \ 1,153,500 $ 10,977 \ 1,168,941
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30

2020 2019 2018

$ 2,671 \ 284,435 $ 2,648 \ 281,986 $ 2,285 \ 243,330
545 \ 58,037

©

$ 537 \ 57,185 $ 537 \ 57,185

$ \ $ \ $ 195 \ 20,766

$ 38 \ 4,047 $ 95 \ 10,117 $ 77 \ 8,200
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200
Visa U.S.A. Inc. USA Visa International Service
Association Visa Worldwide Pte.Limited, Visa
Europe Limited Visa Canada Corporation
US GAAP
VIE
VIE
US GAAP
COVID-19
COoVID-19 COVID-19
COVID-19 COVID-19

90
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90

oTTI

50
OTTI

20
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ROU

ROU

ROU

ROU

2020 30
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2020
2020 30

2020
2020 30

20

2018 10
ASU 2014-09 2018 10
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50

19
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2020

2019

13

2018
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17

2016

2018

2016

2020 10

2019 12

2020

2020

2022 12 31

FASB ASU 2016-02

FASB

FASB

FASB

FASB

FASB

ASU

ASU

ASU

ASU

ASU

4.9

2020 11

EDINETOOOO

OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)

oOoOooodn

16
ASU
FASB
2019 10
2018-02 ASU 2017 12 22
2019 10 ASU
2016-13 ASU
ASU
ASU 2016-13
2019-12 ASU
ASU 2021 10 ASU
2020-01 ASU
ASU 2021 10
2020-04 ASU
U.S.GAAP
ASU
ASU  2020-04
2020 13 5.3
0.4
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20
942 888
54 2020 30
2019 30
360
( )
$ 23
319
647
$ 989
47
) )
$ 70 4
249 12

$ 319 10
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2020 2019 2018 30
30
2020 2019 2018
$ 09,804 $ 9,700 $ 8,918
10,975 10,333 9,027
6,299 7,804 7,211
1,432 1,313 944
(6.664) (6,173) (5,491)
$ 21,846 $ 22,977 $ 20,609
30
2020 2019 2018
$ 10,125 $ 10,279 $ 9,332
11,721 12,698 11,277
$ 21,846 $ 22,977 $ 20,609

2020 30 1.4
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30
2020 2019 2018
$ 16,289 $ 7,838 $ 8,162
901 1,205 1,491
1,850 1,648 1,324
131 141
$ 19,171 $ 10,832 $ 10,977
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B USA
1:05-md-01720-J6-J0 E.D.N.Y. MDL 1720 MDL 1720
NDL 1720
NDL 1720
MDL 1720
MDL 1720
MDL 1720 23(6)(3) 2015 10 22
MDL 1720
MDL 1720 MDL 1720 20
USA
2020 2019

( )

$ 1,205 $ 1,491
467
300
@ (600)
)
am 14
$ 901 $ 1,205
@ 20

467
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2020 2019
370 20
B
A B
A A
B A
15
USA
USA
USA
USA
20
USA
USA USA
USA
Q)
USA
()  USA USA
USA
USA
2015 10 22 MDL 1720
23(b)(3) MDL
1720 MDL 1720
MDL 1720
USA
20
33.3333 66.6667

33.3333 66.6667
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2014 26
33.3333 66.6667
LSA LSA
LSA
LSA
) 2016 21 1.0
UK&I (b)
UK&I
VE
VE UK&I
UK&I
VE
VE
VE
VE
VE VE
UK&I VE
VE
70
UK&I A

VE
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@ ()
© A
VE
A
VE
VE
VE
UK&I A
A
2020 UK&I 7.3
A 374,819
UK&I 100
A A
UK&I
15
VE
20
2020
30 UK&I A
VE 164
2020 30 VE
UK&l
2019 30 $ 2,285 $ 3,177 $  (171)
VE
@ 37)
@ (72) (92) 169
(1,107) (1,542)
2020 30 $ 1,106 $ 1,543 $ 39
) VE 20

@
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UK&I

@

&)

®

2020

2019

VE
30
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2020
2020 30 2019 30
@ @ @ (O E)) @
( )
$ 3,168 $ 1,106 $ 5,519 $ 2,285
4,331 1,543 7,539 3,177
7,499 2,649 13,058 5,462
(39) (39) (171) (171)
$ 7,460 $ 2,610 $ 12,887 $ 5,291
(a) 2020 30 UK&I
(b) 2020 30 UK&I
A 6.387 6.861 ©)
199.97
(a) 2019 30 UK&I
(b) 2019 30 UK&I
A 12.936 13.884 ©)
172.01
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2020 2019 2020 2019
( )
$ 12,522 $ 6,494 $ $
1,469 150
650
148 126
2,582 5,592
1,253 675
512 437
$ 14,573 $ 7,295 $ 4,563 $ 6,179
$ 135 $ 113 $ $
181 $ 52

$ 135 $ 113 $ 181 $ 52
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2020 30 2019 30
( ) ( )
$2,581 $§ 1 $ - $2,582 $5,50 $ 4 $ (2) $5,592
1,251 2 - 1,253 672 3 - 675
$3,82 $§ 3 8§ - $3,835 $6,262 $ 7 $ (2) $6,267
(3,604) (4,110)
$ 231 $2,157
2020 30
( )
$ 3,604
231
$ 3,835
102 110
2020 30
2020 30
( )
$ 841
212
a1
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2020
2020 30
30
2020 2019 2018
( )
$ 80 $ 247 % 173

4 1 -

115 117 2
- - 193
1 18 102

$ 200 $ 383 $ 470
2020 30 24.1
26.6 2019 30 16.7
18.4
2020 30
2020 30
2020 2019
30 30
( )
$ 71 $ 71

1,007 965
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2020

30

2019
687
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2020 2019
30 30
( )
1,997 1,913
163 180
3,923 3,441
7,161 6,570
(4,424) (3,875)
$ 2,737 $ 2,695
2020 2019 30
2.7 2.3
30
2026
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
( )
$ 419 $ 313 $ 225 $ 142 $ 62 $ 24 $1,185
2018
596 558
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2020 30 2019 30
( )
$ 709 $ @76) $ 333 $ 701 $ (314 $ 387
199 (134) 65 199 (120) 79
95 (89 6 95 (86) 9
17 14 3 17 (13) 4
1,020 (613) 407 1,012 (533) 479
23,317 - 23,317 22,217 - 22,217
4,084 - 4,084 4,084 - 4,084
27,401 - 27,401 26,301 - 26,301
$ 28,421 $ (613) $27,808 $ 27,313 $ (533) $26,780
2020 2019 2018
80 60 55
2020 30
30
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
( )
$ 81 $ 76 $ 52 $ 50 $ 40 $ 108 $ 407
2020 2019 30
2020 2019
( )
- $ 15,656 $ 15,194
48 643
206 (181)
- $ 15,910 $ 15,656
2020 2019 2018
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2020

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026

2020

2030

2.29

30

30

15

2020

466
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2020

2020

30

30

oOoOooodn

2021

108
103
95
82
70
163

621
G

570

2023
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10
2020 30 2019 30 @
2020 12 2.20
$ 3,000 $ 3,000 2.30%
2022 2.15
1,000 1,000 2.30%
2022 12 2.80
2,250 2,250 2.89%
2025 12 3.15
4,000 4,000 3.26%
2027 1.90
1,500 2.02%
2027 0.75
500 0.84%
2027 2.75
750 750 2.91%
2030 2.05
1,500 2.13%
2031 1.10
1,000 1.20%
2035 12 4.15
1,500 1,500 4.23%
2040 2.70
1,000 2.80%
2045 12 4.30
3,500 3,500 4.37%
2047 3.65
750 750 3.73%
2050 2.00
1,750 2.09%
24,000 16,750
7 (108)
@ 248 87
$ 24,070 $ 16,729
$ 2,999 $
21,071 16,729
$ 24,070 $ 16,729
@
)
13
2020 30
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15
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2020
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30 3.3
2050 2020
2020 2021
20 4.0
2040 2020
2020 2020 10 15
3.0
2020 2019 30
5.0

30
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2020 30
30
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
$ 3,000 $ 1,000 $ 2,250 $ $ $ 17,750 $24,000
11
30
30
2015 10 2015 12 31

ERISA

153/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

30 30
2020 2019 2020 2019
$ 919 $ 844 $ 528 $ 452
- - 4 4
28 32 10 13
37 95 11 109
64 (52) an (22)
- - - 1
- - 27 (29)
$ 920 $ 919 $ 563 $ 528
$ 920 $ 919 $ 563 $ 528
$ 1,090 $ 1,090 $ 490 $ 436
114 52 5 93
2 - 22 10
64 (52) an (22)
- - 25 @D
$ 1,142 $ 1,090 $ 525 $ 490
$ 222 $ 171 $ (398 $  (39)
$ 229 $ 178 $ - $ -
€)) @ - -
® (6) (38) (38)
$ 222 $ 171 $ (38 $  (398)
30 30
2020 2019 2020 2019

$ 135 $ 154 $ 93 $ 70
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30 30
2020 2019 2020 2019
( )
$ O $ @™ s (G63) $  (528)
$ - $ - $ 525 $ 490
$ O $ @™ s (G63) $  (528)
$ - $ - $ 525 $ 490
30

2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
$ - $ - $ - $ 4 $ 4 4
28 32 32 10 13 12
2 (71) (70) (15 (18) (20)
6 - - 2 - -
8 7 3 - - -
$ @) 3$ (32 $ @35 9 1 $ O )

30
2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
( )
$ B $ 114 $@¢n $ 21 $ 27 30
a4 ) ® €)) -
$ (199 $ 107 $(0) $ 19 $ 28 30
$ (49 $ 75 $@) $ 20 $ 27 26
30
2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
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(1) 2015 10

35

50
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2.88%

3.27%
7.00%

65

3.26% 4.23%
4.23% 3.84%
7.00% 7.00%

2015 12 31

43 53

38 2020

13 50 37
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1.60%

1.80%
3.00%

2.50%
2.50%

53

30

1.80%

2.90%
3.00%

2.50%
2.50%

46

12

2.90%

2.70%
4_.25%

3.20%
3.20%

2020 30
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2020 2019 30

30

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

( )

$ 17 ¢ 18 $ - $ - 8% - & - $ 17 $ 18
- - 509 580 - - 509 580

- - 373 188 - - 373 188

- - 30 35 - - 30 35

84 99 - - - - 84 99

- - - - 37 37 37 37

92 133 - - - - 92 133

$ 193 $ 250 $ 912 $ 803 $ 37 $ 37 $1,142 $1,090

30

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

( )
$ 6 $ 16 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 6 $ 16
- 66 - - - - - 66
- - 48 44 - - 48 44
- - - - 67 51 67 51
- - 65 - - - 65 -
@ - . 339 313 - - 339 313

$ 6 $ 8 $ 452 ¢ 357 $ 67 $ 51 $ 525 $ 490

@
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( )

2021 $ 1 $ 10

2021 130 7

2022 93 7

2023 89 8

2024 80 8

2025 74 8

2026-2030 289 43

401k
2020 2019 2018 401k
140 121 93
401k
12
2020 30 97.3
55.6
2020 2019 30
2020 2019
30 30
( )

$ 1,850 $ 1,648
228 259
1,306 1,293
717 477

$ 4,101 $ 3,677
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13
2020 2019 30
10.7 10.9

2020 2019 30

71 47

2020 2019 30
39 31
2020 2019
2018
12
2021 40
2019
2019 2025 12 3.15
2020 2019 30 186
298
2020 30 137
2020 2019 30 248
89 2019 30

2020 2019

150 95
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2020

2020
0.8

30

2019

30
2020

2020
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2019 30

19

30 64
26
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14
ROU
(1) 2019 2020
$ 1,350 $ 1,186
558 263
$ 1,908 $ 1,449
2020
46 2019 2018 45
10
2020 11 10
2019 2018 10
15
A 2020 A
374,819
A 2020 2019 30
A
2020 30 2019 30
A A A A
(€)) (€))
A -®  100.0000 35 - - -
UK&l 2 6.3870 16 2 12.9360 32
3 6.8610 22 3 13.8840 44
A
, 1,683 - 1,683 1,718 - 1,718
B 245 1.6228@ 398 245 1.6228@ 398
C 11 4.0000 43 11 4.0000 45
2,197 2,237
(€H) A
@)
®3) A 2020 2019 30
“ B A
10
A UK&I
A VE
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UK&I
A _
VE
UK&I
30
2020 2019 2018
UK&I UK&I UK&I
( )
A 16 22 () () K K
2 $ 194 .31 $ 194.33 $ 141.32 $ 150.26 $ 113.05 $ 112.92
$ 72 % 92 $ 6 $ 2 % 35 $ 21
$ 3,084 $ 4,216 $ - $ - $ - $ -
@ A
) B c
A
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A
@
@
@
2019
5.5
2020
2020
C
B

2020

8.5

2020 30
2020

10 23
A UKé&l

2020 12
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B
30
2020 2019 2018
( )
- 2 5
- $ 174.73 $ 132.32
- $ 300 $ 600
30
2020 2019 2018
( )
44 56 58
$ 183.00 $ 154.01 $ 123.76
$ 8,114 $ 8,607 $ 7,192
2019 2018
2020 9.5
2020
2020
0.30 2.7
A 0.32 B
2020 11 13
B
B A
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UK&I

16

12

UK&I

UK&I

2020 30
140

12
12

UK&l

UK&I

100
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15
A
A €)) A UK&I
B C A ©)
A
2020
@ @ G w/e @ A ® B OUOR
$ 8,310 1,697 $ 4.90 $ 10,866 2,203 @ $ 4.89
1,951 245 $ 7.9 $ 1,948 245 $ 7.93
214 11 $ 19.58 $ 214 11 $ 19.56
391 $ 391

$ 10,866
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®

*

2020

2019
A
*
2018
A
*
2018
2018
2018
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@ @ G ®/e @ A ® B ®/@ @
$ 9,273 1,742 $ 5.32 $ 12,080 2,012 @ $ 5.32
2,130 245 $ 8.68 $ 2,127 245 $ 8.66
247 12 $ 21.30 $ 246 12 $ 21.26
430 $ 429
$ 12,080
a @ @ w/e) @ A @ B ®/e) @
$ 7,937 1,792 $ 4.43 $ 10,301 2.329 @ $ 4.42
1,787 245 $ 7.28 $ 1,785 245 $ 7.27
218 12 $ 17.72 $ 217 12 $ 17.69
359 $ 358
$ 10,301
B
2019 2018 398 400 403
c 2020 2019 2018
44 46 49
A 2020 UK& 2020 2019
32 2020 43 2019
44
2020 2018
2020 2019
A UK&I
15



17
2007
2007
RSU
2020 2019
2020 2019
EIP
2020 2019
@
@
A
@
(1) 2018
2018
@
(©)
®
2020
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EIP
RSA
A 236
EIP
EIP
2022 31
2018 EIP
393 388 312
2018 63 59 53
10
2018
30
2020 2019 2018

4.03 3.98 4.00

1.6% 2.9% 2.0%

18.7% 20.2% 18.3%

0.7% 0.7% 0.7%

$ 29.37 $ 25.89 $ 18.24

1PO
2018 2018
97 3
1PO 10

€3]
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2019 30 5,714,658
1,247,982
(67,193)
(1,108,898)
2020 30 5,786,549
2020 30 3,425,611
2020 30
@ 5,718,325
(1) 2020 199.97
)
2020 2019 2018
107 249
2020 30
22 0.45
EIP RSA RSU
RSA
A
RSU
RSU
2016 RSA
2018 30
RSA RSU
2020 2019 2018
183.61 137.38 111.11
RSA RSU
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$ 90.18
$ 182.50
$ 140.17
$ 63.53
$ 114.61 6.87
$ 87.28 5.79
$ 113.96 6.84
2020 30
31 23
A
RSU
A
EIP
RSA
A
RSU
2020 2019
284 228

$ 494
$ 386
$ 492
146
55
RSA
A
RSU
2018
183



2020

2019 30
2020 30
(1) 2020
2020 30

0.83

1.6
2018
41

31

1.9
2020
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OooooOodd
RSU
(€))
5,166,759 $ 118.79
2,352,714 $ 183.61
(2,561,379) $ 110.73
(267,594) $ 147.70
4,690,500 $ 154.06 0.83 $ 938
199.97
RSU 381
500
2020
20.9 0.7
2019 2018
211.08 153.42 120.11
2020 2019

65
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2020
@

2019 30 1,070,690 $ 129.08

@) 470,128 $ 211.08

(546,018) $ 118.18
- $ -
_ $ -
2020 30 994,800 $ 171.33 0.73 $ 199
(1) 2020 199.97
@
2020 30 20
0.73
ESPP
15 A
ESPP A 20 2020 2019
2018 ESPP
18
2020 30
30

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

$ 61 $ 26 $ 5 $ 5 $ 5 $ - 8 102
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2020

2020

2019

2019

2018

30

2.7
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30

2020 2019 2018
$ 9,178 $ 9,536 $ 8,088
4,612 5,348 4,718
$ 13,790 $ 14,884 $ 12,806
3.0

30

2020 2019 2018
$ 1,662 $ 1,504 $ 2,819
212 243 219
743 843 754
2,617 2,590 3,792
42 184 (1,214)
9 28 (96)
256 2 23
307 214 (1,287)
$ 2,924 $ 2,804 $ 2,505
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2020

2020

CARES

CARES
2020

2020

50

22 2020

27

2019 30

30
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OooooOodd
30
2020 2019
$ 114 $ 117
204 273
121 125
80 65
148 33
203 148
12 6
(84) (69)
798 698
(343) (314)
(5,492) (4,983)
@137 (184)
(5.972) (5,481)
$ (5,174) $ (4,783)
19 17
2016
329
CARES
2017 12 31
63 24
2020 2019
13 16
367 2018
2028 2037 2017
2025 2027
30
2020 2019 2018
(D Q) (D (@) (G D)
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2020 2019
2019
2019 2018
2018
2018

2018 10

2020 2019 30

771
134
30

280

740

2020 2019 2018

1.2
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ooooooo
$ 2,896 21% $ 3,126 21 % $ 3,141 25 %
199 2% 223 2 % 201 2 %
(483) @% (527) @)% (465) O
- - % - - % 1,147 9 %
329 2% - - % (1,133) (9%
an - % (18) - % (386) )%
$ 2,924 21 % $ 2,804 9% $ 2,505 20 %
21 19 2020
329
19 20 2019
24.5 2019 21
FDLI
global intangible low-tax income GILTI
2018
1.1
1.1
161
93 130
2020 2019 30 988
2020 2019 30
327 2020 2019
2.8 2.5
2008 10 2023 30
2020 2019 2018
324 295
0.13 0.14 0.13
30
2.6 2.2 1.7
1.6 1.4
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66
2020 2019
2020

233

2012
2008

2012

2013

2017

CRA

2018
15

2019
165

2015
2011

2010

30

CRA

2016
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2020 2019 2018
$ 2,234 $ 1,658 $ 1,353
66 216 367
(83) (13) (233)
376 384 172
(12) -
(&) (€D)
$ 2,579 $ 2,234 $ 1,658
68
2018
31 26
2006 2011
CRA 2003 2009
CRA 2010
2015 2016
2020 CRA
2006
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2020 2019
$ 1,203 $ 1,434
10 37
26 535
467 -
(792) (803)
$ 914 $ 1,203
USA
MDL
2020 2019
$ 1,198 $ 1,428
- 370
467 -
@ (600)
$ 888 $ 1,198
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2020 2019
$ 5 $ -
26 165
10 (160)
$ 21 $ 5
MDL
2005 USA
MDL1720
1PO
1PO
USA
Mastercard Incorporated Mastercard
International Incorporated
2012 2012
4.0
500 1.1
2016 30
2018 17
2012
900 600
2012
5.3
2019 12 13
700 467

2019 16
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2019 11 20

2020 29 O0ld Jericho Enterprise, Inc.
24

2020

MDL

2013 50
MDL1720
USA

MDL1720

MDL1720
MDL1720

40
2020

2013 550

100
400
30
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2016 11 2017
2017 11 2018
2018
2018
2018 11 29
2020 17
pce
2013 EC DCC
EU
2020 10 16 EC
2010 12
10
2017
Wal-Mart Canada
Home Depot of Canada Inc.
2020 26
2020 10 29
ATM
ATM National ATM Council 2011 10 ATM 13 ATM
USA Plus
System, Inc.
ATM
2019 20
2011 10 ATM

2011 10

2019
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20 2020 10

2012 13
CID 15
CID
PIN
CID

Pulse Network

2014 11 25 Pulse Network LLC
PIN
2018 31
2019 10
2020
EMvy
Milam®s Market B&R
B&R Supermarket, Inc. Grove Liquors LLC 2016
2016 15 USA
EMVCo
EMVCo
2015 10
EMVCo
MDL1720
2020 28 2020 11
2019 12 ACCC ACCC
ACCC
2019 11
2020

2019 12 13 360 Euronet 360 Finance Limited

Euronet Polska Spolka z.0.0.
Euronet Services spol. s.r.o.

ATM
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2020 26 EC
EC

Plaid Inc.

2020 11
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2020 2019
2020 2020 2020 2019
® 30 31 2020

30 12 31
$ 5,101 $ 4,837 $ 5,854 $ 6,054 $ 21,846
$ 3,142 $ 2,999 $ 3,924 $ 4,016 $ 14,081
$ 2,137 $ 2,373 $ 3,084 $ 3,272 $ 10,866
A $ 0.97 $ 1.07 $ 1.39 $ 1.46 $ 4.90
B $ 1.57 $ 1.74 $ 2.25 $ 2.37 $ 7.94
C $ 3.88 $  4.29 $ 5.54 $ 5.8 $ 19.58
A $ 0.97 $  1.07 $ 1.38 $ 1.46 $ 4.89
B $ 1.57 $ 1.74 $ 2.25 $  2.37 $ 7.93
C $ 3.87 $  4.29 $ 5.54 $ 5.8 $ 19.56

2019 2019 2019 2018

® 30 31 2019

30 12 31
$ 6,137 $ 5,840 $ 5,49 $ 5,506 $ 22,977
$ 3,735 $ 3,908 $ 3,641 $ 3,717 $ 15,001
$ 3,025 $ 3,101 $ 2,977 $ 2,977 $ 12,080
A $ 1.34 $ 1.37 $ 1.31 $ 1.30 $ 5.32
B $ 2.19 $ 2.23 $ 2.13 $ 212 $ 8.68
C $ 5.38 $ 5.48 $ 5.23 $ 5.20 $ 21.30
A $ 1.34 $  1.37 $ 1.31 $ 1.30 $ 5.32
B $ 2.19 $ 2.23 $ 2.13 $  2.12 $ 8.66
C $ 5.37 $ 5.48 $ 5.23 $ 5.20 $ 21.26
(¢H) Overview within Item 7 -

Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 2020 10-K
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Table of Contents
VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
September 30,
2020 2013
{in millions, except par value data)
Assets
Cash and sash ecubvalanls 5 16,289 % 7.638
Restricted cash equivalents—U.5. lligation escrow sm 1.205
Invastimant securilies 3,752 4,235
Settlement recelvabe 1,264 3048
Accounts recaivable 1,618 1.542
Customer collateral 1,850 1548
Cuarrent porion of client incentives 1,214 741
Prepaid expenses and other cumant assals 757 712
Tolal current assels 27 6ds IR
Investmanl sacurilies iy | 2157
Clignt incentivos 3475 2084
Proparly, aquipment and technology, nel 2.73r 2685
Goodwill 15,910 15,6565
Inzngible aasets, net 27,808 26,780
Other assels 3413 2232
Tolal assels 5 80818 3 72.574
Liabilitios
Accounts payabla 5 174 & 158
Soellement payabks 1,736 3330
Customer collaleral 1,850 1548
Accrued compensalion and benails a1 786
Cliant Incanthes 4176 3aa7
Accrued labiities 1,840 1625
Currant maturities of dabl 2,983 =
Acorued Itigation 914 1,203
Teval current labilitios 150 3415
Long-lemn datd 21,07 16,728
Dedarrad tax Habilities 5231 4 807
Cther labiltles 3.8M 2530
Total liabilitios FrE R S
Commitments and contingencies (NMole 15)
Equity
Pm siock, $0.0001 par value, 25 shares aulhorized and 5 shares Baued and outstanding as
Seras A converible participating prefermed stock, less than ong and no shames issued and
outstanding 21 Seplember 30, 2020 and 2019 (the “seres A preferrad siock™), respaciively 2A3T il
Seres B convertibde paricipating prefemed slock, 2 shares Issued and outstanding al Seplember
30 2020 and 2019 {the "UKE! prafermad siock™) 1,106 2285
5 C converdible partic , 3 sharas issued and oul ting al Seplember
mﬂ-??!ﬂm and 201 Qpﬂ.lm 'pEa“m‘meng mmj o bl £l 1,543 3177
Class A common slock, 50.0001 par value, 2,001,622 shams aulhodized, 1 683 and 1,718 shares
Bsuad and oulslanding al Seplember 30, 2020 and 2019, respacivaly ~
Class B common slock, $0.0001 par value, 622 shares authodzed, 245 shares lssued and oulstanding
al Seplember 30, 2020 and 2013 = =
Class C conmon stock, $0.0001 par value, 1,097 shares authorzed, 11 shares Issued and
outsiznding al Seplember 30, 2020 and 2019 = =
Right to recover lor coverad lossas (35) {171)
Addional paid-in capitsl 16,724 16.541
Accumulated income 14,083 13,502
Accumuiated olher comprehensive Income {loss), nel
Irvastmant securities 3 &
Defined benefit penslon and other postralirement plans {19¢) (192}
Darvative instruments (21} 189
Forelgn currency transiation adjustments 333 {683}
Tolal accumulated olher comprahensive incoma (loss), net KN
Tolal equity 36,210 TR
Total labiities and sculty S I S 1

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial staterments,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Neot evenues

Operating Expenses
FPersonnel

Marketing

Nedvwark and processing
Professional feas
Depreclation and amortization
Generl and adminstralive
Litigation provision

Total operating expenses
Operating income

Mon-operating Income (Expense)
Intemest expense, nel

Invesimanl income and olher

Toflal non-operating income {expensa)
Income before Incoms laxes

Incorma Lax provision

Net incomo

Basic Earmnings Per Share
Class A common siock
Chass B common slock
Class C commion stock

Basic Weighted-average Shares Outstanding
Class A common siock
Chiss B common slock
Class C commaon stock

Diluted Eamings Per Share
Class A common siock
Class B common stock

Class C common stock

Diluted Weighted-average Shares Outstanding
Class A common siodk
Class B common siock
Class C common stock

For the Years Ended
September 30,

oOoOooodn

2020 2018 2018

(in millions, except per share data)
3 2848 5 22977 % 20,608

3,785 5,444 4170
a7 1,105 948
T2T 721 Ba6
408 454 448
T&T BAE 813

1.086 1,198 1,145
11 400 0T
7.765 7.676 7.655
14,081 15,001 12,954
(518) (533) (612)
225 416 484
291 (117} {148)
13.790 14,654 12,806
2.924 2 504 2505

$ 10B6E £ 12080 5 10,301

5 490 i 532 § 443
==

5 794 560 7.2
5 19.58 E 21.30 i 17.72

5 4.89 E 5.2 § 4.42
H 793 & B56 & 27

I et o s ires

245 245 245
11 i 12

See accompanying notes, wivch are an infegral part of these consolidated financial staterments,
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended
Seplember 30,
2020 20159 2018
{in millions)
Nt ineome £ 10866 & 12080 % 10,30
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Imvestment secunties:
Med vnraalized gain (loss) 1 20 =]
Income Lax effect — {3} {12}
Reclassification adjustments {3 1 {215)
Incoma tax effect 1 -— 50
Defined benefil pension and olher postretirement plans:
el vnrealized actuandal galn (oss)and prior service credit (cost) (7} {174} 16
Income lax effect 1 36 (=
Reclassificalion adjustmants 18 9 5
Income tax effect (3} (2} {1}
Crervative instruments:
Hed vnrealized galn (loss) (547} 233 20
Income lax effed 118 {25} (24}
Reclssification adjustments (81} (55 a2
Income lax sffed 18 16 {2
Forelgn curency transiation adjustments 1,511 {1,228} {352}
Other comprehensive income {loss), net of tax BB A R A 1,028 i1,204) {331}
Comprehensive income. § 11895 & 10876 % 0.970

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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WVISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Right b m.lrm
Bt S G % Recavor for  AddiSaral Compraborabva
Serkes Series  Chass Cliss  Class  Profored Cowened Paid-in Acoumulrted I'mnn'i:;[.bml;, Tolal
e [+ A [:] [+ ook Lossos Capétal Incomie Egquity
(in millione. exonol por share data)

Balance as of Soplember 30, 2017 2 3 1418 245 1§ 558 § 5z) § 18800 % o508 % BrE 552 Tan
Mt incoma vA0Y a0
Cithar compruhanshm ircoms nol ol

ax s Ciade ol
Comprshonstm Incoma B[O
WE {owmitory oovmned fossds ingurma {1 {11}
Ripcowiry ihvowgh corvanmion rlis st i58) 58 —
Corvarsion of Class C comenon sk

ko int publs kol b 4 m =

of sl nd sbock pnd WV P -

Visling Ay el 2 —
Shan-bosoed oomponsation, nol of forsiuros - BT azr
Rizsbricing s#nck nnd poniommanon-based

e A in cauh e Ak " B 4
Cashig = " of

stk e ol eoity plas B o o
Casb chicnd s daclannd anid paid. #la

cumrnry amoind of 55185 por class A

oot Skl in Uha Tind quesder isnd s {18781

70 clasa & commen slock dor the

sl of Bhn Escal poar
Riépa st of clies A corinon slack 58§ (Lak] 1557 {718
Balance as of Soptember 30, 2B F £l 1,768 245 12 5 547 § 7y & 1667 & 11318 5 AT 5 G

M Decreass in Class A common stack reinled 1o s of metided slock smns is loss than ono milion sharns

Sea accompanying notes, which are an indegrad parf of these consalidafed financial sfatemants.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY—{Continued)
Right 12 m.lrm
Proferrod Siock Common Slock Rt owar for Akl c
Bevies  Sories Chss Chss Chss  Pretormed Covoned Paid-in Acoumulrted h:mﬂnll;, Tolal
=] [+ A B c Stock Lossos Capétal Incomie
[in millions. oxoepd por share data)

Ealance ns of Soplember 30, 2018 2 3 1.7A4 245 12 & Bam § i7h & 1BATE % 118§ BT & 008
Ml incomis nnen 12060
Cthar conprodrn sha ircomn (koas), nol of bx {1204)  (1.204)
Crmrgrihanshm irnoms 10,876
Aduplion of row Becounting slarcands 385 7 a2
VE liwritory cowined s, Incurmd {1724 T4
Recovony through corvomsion il aojustmon [L.]] & -
Cornvarsion of cless C common siock upan . .

gl sl pLablis mariol 2 i

o meeslcting sEoch e

Visling Lo pantancn 3 =
Share-bassd oxnpensation, nal of lodeluros ALF any

ﬂﬁhﬁTﬂ?wm L] {111} {111}
Cask pronmcs. o issusno of oomimon sinck 2 183 s

wreli ey scully lans 1
Cashy civiconds tecland ani L&l

md!?}ﬁwﬂﬂ mw;w f2.288) (2.208)
Ropuschess of clisss & common stock 1543 5 [0k {8,807

Balance os of Soplember 30, 2018 Fd 3 1,718 245 11 i 2452 i 'I?'Iii Ila'l i 131800 = ﬁ iﬂg

Sea accompanying notes, which are an indegrad parf of these consalidafed financial sfatemants.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY—{Continued)

Profevad Stock s Bk Right ta
Rocover for  Additional

Series Sories  Serios Class  Class  Class Profered Covered Palkd<n

& -] [+ LY B [+ ok Losses Capdtal

(in milions. oxoepd por share data)
Balance as of Soplember 30, 2018 - 2 3. 1N M5 1 § S48 5 171 & B51 $ \nER § (650) & 34684
Hal incoma 10,855 11 BBS

Cihor comprohonsive incomo (loss |,
bl o Rix 1088 1,02

Crontprish orsha inoomsn 11,686

e &= (251

WE Immitory covmned fossds inurma (L)) L]
WWM ruliy {1854) 188 5
Isan of sarins & profomed sknck — M [} (]

ﬂwmbnd'ﬂu:uh stack i n {207 27

Corvarsion of cliss © tomon stuck 3 "
wpon salos rlo public markst ;

% - 3 =

bt shims

Share-basi comperaation, ol of . .
foelnliums 416 416

Risirictad siock an0 poanmance-
mmnmnﬂum sh for {1 {180 {180

Comprobensive
Accunmulated In-mrr:.thmp, Total
[N T Equity

Caak proraacs o lsusno of
ST Bk e senploy o 1 180 il
oLy plars.

it ooy ey (2684) 2.884)
chiss A Coiman shack

Repurchass of class A common sback 144) 73 (T h41) 6,114

Balance as of Soplombor 30, 2020 = 2 3 1883 245 11 $ 508 % (38 5 KT $ 14088 5 54 5 IEXD

M incroass, dacrasn of Beancs B leas than ong milkon shams

See accompanying notes, which ame an indegrad parf of these consolidafed financial statemants.
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VISA INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended
Soplember 30,
2020 215 2018
fin millions)
Operating Activitios
Mt Income $ 10866 3 12080 5 103
Adjusiments (o reconcile nel incoma (o nel cash provided by (used In) operating activilles:
Clienl incentives 6 664 B173 5,491
Shame-basad compensalion 416 407 327
Depreclation and amorization of property, equipment, technology and intanglble asses 787 656 613
Deferrad income Laxes 307 Zid {1.277)
VE tamilory coverad losses incurred (3T} {172} 11}
Cthaer (145) (271 64}
Change in operaling assels and iabiities:
Seltlement roceivable 1,858 {1,533) (223}
Accounts recababla (43} (333) 7y
Clienl incentives (8,081) {64300 4.582)
Clher assets (402} 310 58
Accounts payable Fa | (24) 3
Setllement payable 2.384) 1,881 262
Accnued and other llabiities 923 627 1,760
Accrued igation (280} {221} 452
Mal cash provided by (used in) oparating acthvities 10,440 12,784 12,841
Investing Activities
Purchases of property, equipment and lechnology {736) {T56) (T18)
Imvasiment sacurilies:
Purchases 12,075) {2 653) 5.772)
Proceads from maturitles and sales 4510 3996 3636
Acquisilions, nel of cash and restricled cash acouired (k] (899 {198}
Furchasas of / conlribulions (o other investmants {2E6T) {501} (509
Oiher investing acthvities 72 22 16
Med cash provided by {usaed inj Investing acthvities 1427 1581) (3,084)
Financing Activitios
Repurchass of class A common slock 8,114} (8,807} (7,192}
Proceeds from bsuance of senior noles 7212 — -
Repayments of deld = - {1,750)
Dividends paid (2. 664) (2.269) (1,918}
Payment of defermed purchase consideration related o the Visa Evrope acoulsition (1.236) =
Cash proceeds from issuance of common siock under employes equity plans 150 162 164
Resirced siock and pedormance-based shares sofiled in cash for laxes (160) (111} (24}
Paymants to sattis dedvative insruments (333} = -
Cither financing adhvitles (99) - —
Mel cash provided by (used in} financing activities {3.968) (12081  (10.780)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, eash squivakents, restricled cash and restricled cash
equivalents 44D (2??} {101}
increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, restdcled cash and resircled cash equivalents 8,339 i145) {1,034}
Cash, cash aquivalants, rastricted cash and restricted cash equivalants at baginning of year 10,832 10,977 12,011
Cash, cash equivalents, restricled cash and resfricted cash equivalents al end of year 5 19171 5 hs3z 5 10877

Supplemental Disclosurs
Cash pald for income taxes, nsl 26T 2548 2285
Interest payments on debl 537 537 85

$ $ %
5 5 ]
Chariable contribution of investment securtiss to Visa Foundation s =% — § 195
Accruals relaled to purchases of propery, equipment and lechnology $ B 5 85 5 L)

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these consolidated financial staternents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2020

Mote 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization. Visa Inc. {("Visa" or the “Company”) is a global payments fechnology company that enables
innovative, secure and reliable electronic payments across more than 200 countries and territories. Visa and its
wholly-owned consolidated subsidiares, including Visa US.A. Inc. ("Wisa U.S.AT), Visa Infernational Service
Association ("Visa Infernational”), Visa Worldwide Ple. Limited, Visa Europe Limited ("Visa Europe”), Visa Canada
Corporation {"Visa Canada’), Visa Technology & Operations LLC and CyberSource Corporation, operate one of the
world's langest elecironic payments network — VisaNet — which facilitates authorization, clearing and setflement of
paymeni fransactions and enables the Company to provide its financial insfitution and seller clients a wide range of
products, plattorms and value added services. Visa is noi a financial institution and does not issue cards, extend
credit or set rales and fees for account holders of Visa products. In most cases, account holder and merchant
relationships belong 1o, and are managed by, Visa's financial institution clients.

Consofidation and basis of presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Visa
and its consolidated entities and are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of Amenca ("U.5. GAAP"). The Company consolidates s majority-owned and confrolled entities,
including variable interest entites ("WIEs") for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The Company's
investments in VIEs have not been material 1o s consolidated financial statements as of and for the periods
presented. All significant intercompany accounts and fransactions are eliminated in consolidation.

The Company's activities are interrelated, and each aclivity is dependent upon and supportive of the other. All
significant operating decisions are based on analysis of Visa as a single global business. Accordingly, the Company
has one reportable segment, Payment Services,

Use of estimates. The preparaton of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.5. GAAP requires
management 1o make estimates and assumplions about future events. These estimates and assumptions affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of confingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial stalemenis and reporfed amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Future actual results could differ matenally from these estimates. The worldwide spread of coronavirus
{"COVID-19") has created significant uncerlainty in the global economy. There have been no comparable recent
events that provide guidance as fo the effect COVID-19 as a glebal pandemic may have, and, as a result, the
ultimate impact of COVID-19 and the exent 1o which COVID-18 continues to impact the Company’s business,
results of operations and financial condiion will depend on future developments, which are highly unceriain and
difficult to predict The use of estimates in specific accounting policies is described further below as appropriate.

Cash, cash equivalents, resfricfed cash, and resfricled cash equivalents, Cash and cash equivalents include
cash and certain highly liquid investments with original maturities of 80 days or less from the date of purchase. Cash
equivalents are primarily recorded at cost. which approximates fair value due to their generally short maturities. The
Company defines restricied cash and restricted cash equivalents as cash and cash equivalents that cannot be
withdrawn or used for general operating activities. See MNofe 4—Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash and
Restricfed Cash Equivalents.

Resiricted cash equivalents—ULS. litigafion escrow. The Company mainains an escrow account from which
monetary liabilties from setllements of, or judgments in, the U.5. covered itigation are paid. See Mofe 5—ULS, and
Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans and Note 20—Legal Matters for a discussion of the U.S. covered
litigation. The escrow funds are held in money market investmenis, together with the interest earned, less applicable
taxes payable, and classified as restricted cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheets. Interest eamed on
escrow funds is included in non-operating income (expense) on the consolidated statements of operations.

Investments and fair value. The Company measures cerlain assets and liabiliies at fair value. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to franster a liability in an ordedy fransaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Fair value measurements are repored under a three-level valuation
hierarchy. See Nofe 6—Fair Value Measurements and Investments.

Marketable equity secunitios. Marketable equity securities, which are reported in investment securities on the
consolidated balance sheets, include mutual fund investments related to various employee compensation and
benefit plans. Trading aclivity in these investments is at the direction of the Company's employees. These
investments are held in a frust and are not available for the Company's operational or liquidity needs. Inferest and
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—({Continued)
September 30, 2020

dividend income as well as gains and losses, realized and unrealized, from changes in fair value are recorded in
non-operating income (expense), and offset in personnel expense on the consolidated staterments of operations,

Available-for-sale dedt securifies. The Company's investment in debt securifies, which are classified as
available-for-sale and reporled in invesiment securities on the consolidated balance sheets, include U5,
government-sponsored debt securities and U S, Treasury securities. These securifies are recorded at cost at the
ime of purchase and are carried at fair value. The Company considers these securities to be available-for-sale 1o
meed working capital and ligquidity needs. Investments with orginal maturities of greater than 290 days and staled
maturities of less than one year from the balance sheet date, or investments that the Company intends 1o sell within
one year, are classified as current assets, while all other securities are classified as non-current assets. Unrealized
gains and losses are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) on the consolidated balance
sheets until realized. The specific identification method is used to caleculate realized gain or loss on the sale of
securties, which is recorded in non-operating income {(expense) on the consolidated statements of operations.
Interest income is recognized when eamed and is included in non-operaling income (expensa) on the consolidated
staterments of operations.

The Company evaluates s debt securities for other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") on an ongoing basis.
When fhere has been a declineg in fair value of a debl security below the amodized cost basis, the Company
recognizes OTTI i {1) it has the indent fo sell the securty; (2) it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell
the security before recovery of the amorized cost basis; or (3) it does not expect 1o recover the enfire amorized
cost basis of the security,

MNon-marketable equily securiies. The Company's non-marketable equity securifies, which are reported in
other assets on the consolidated balance sheets, include investments in privately held companies without readily
determinable market values. The Company adjusts the camying value of its non-marketable equity securifies 1o fair
value when fransactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer are observable. All gains and losses
on non-marketable equity securities, realized and unrealized, are recognized in non-operaling income (expense).

The Company applies the equity method of accounting for investments in other enfities when it holds between
20% and 50% ownership in the entity or when it exercises significant influence. Under the equity method, the
Company's share of each enlity's profit or loss is reflected in non-operating income (expense) on the consolidated
statemenis of operations. The equity method of accounting is also used for flow-through enfities such as limited
parinerships and limited liability companies when the investment ownership percentage is equal 1o or greater than
5% of oufstanding ownership interests, regardless of whether the Company has significant influence over the
investees,

The Company applies the fair value measurement alternative for investments in other entities when it holds
less than 20%: ownership in the entity and does not exercise significant influence. or for flow-through enfities when
the investment ownership is less than 5% and the Company does not exercise significant influence. These
investments consist of equity holdings in non-public companies and are recorded in other assets on the
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company regulardy reviews invesiments accounted for under the equity method and the fair value
measurement alernative for possible impairment, which generally invelves an analysis of the facts and changes in
circumstances influencing the investment, expectations of the entity’s cash flows and capital needs, and the viability
of its business model.

Financial instruments. The Company considers the following to be financial instruments; cash, cash
equivalents, restricted cash, restricted cash equivalenis, investment securities, setilement receivable and payable,
accounts receivable, customer collateral, non-marketable equity investiments and derivative instruments. See Note
f—Fair Value Measurements and nvestments.

Setfement recefvable and payable. The Company operates systems for authorizing, clearing and setfling
payment fransactions worddwide. Most U5, dollar settlements with the Company’s financial instilution clients are
sefiled within the same day and do not result in a receivable or payable balance. Setflements in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar generally remain outstanding for one o two business days, resulting in amounts due from and
fo clients. These amounts are presented as setflement receivable and settlement payable on the consolidated
balance sheets.
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September 30, 2020

Custormer colfateral. The Company holds cash deposits and other non-cash assets from certain clients in order
to ensure their performance of setlement obligations arising from Visa payment services are processed in
accordance with the Company's operating rules. The cash collateral assets are restricled and fully offset by
comesponding liabilities and both balances are presented on the consolidated balance sheeis. Pledged securifies
are held by a custodian in an account under the Company's name and ownership; however, the Company does not
have the right 1o repledge these securities, bul may sell these securifies in the event of default by the client on its
sefilement obligations. Letters of credit are provided primarily by client financial institutions o serve as irevocable
guarantees of payment. Guarantees are provided primarily by parent financial institutions 1o secure the obligations
of their subsidiaries. The Company roufinely evaluates the financial viability of institulions providing the leflers of
credit and guarantees. See Nofe 72—Sefflement Guarantee Management.

Guarantecs and indemnificalions. The Company recognizes an obligation at inception for guarantees and
indemnifications that qualify for recognition, regardless of the probability of occurrence. The Company indemnifies
its financial institution clients for settlement losses suftered due to the failure of any other client to tund its setilernent
obligations in accordance with the Visa operating rules. The estimated fair value of the liability for setflernent
indemnification is included in accrued liabilifes on the consolidaled balance sheets,

Froperty, equipment and fechnology, nef. Property, equipment and fechnology are recorded at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and amortization, which are compuied on a siraight-line basis over the asset's
estimated useful life. Depreciation and amorization of technology, furniture, fixtures and equipment are computed
over estimated useful lives ranging from 2 to 10 years, Leasehold improvements are amorized over the shorer of
the useful life of the asset or lease term. Building improvements are depreciated between 3 and 40 years, and
buildings are depreciated over 40 years. Improvemnents that increase functionality of the asset are capitalized and
depreciated over the assetfs remaining usetul lite, Land and construction-in-progress are nod depreciated, Fully
depreciated asseds are refained in properly, equipment and technology, net, until removed from service.

Technology includes purchased and internally developed software, including technology assets obtained
through acquisitions, Internally developed software represenis software primarily used by the VisaNel electronic
payments network. Internal and external costs incurred during the preliminary project stage are expensed as
incurred. Qualifying costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized. Once the project is
substantially complete and ready tfor its intended use these costs are amortized on a straighi-ine basis over the
technology's estimated useful life. Acquired technology assets are initially recorded at fair value and amortized on a
siraight-line basis over the estimated useful life.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets for impairment annually or more frequently if
events of changes in circumstances indicate that the cammying amount of an asset or asset group may not be
recoverable, If the sum of expected undiscounted net fulure cash flows is less than the carrying amount of an assed
or assed group, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group
exceeds its fair value. See Note 7—Froperty, Equipment and Technology, Net.

Leases. The Company delermines if an arrangement is a lease at ils inceplion. Right-of-use ("ROU") assels,
and comresponding lease liabilties, are recognized at the commencement dale based on the present value of
remaining lease payments over the lease term. For this purpose, the Company considers only payments that are
fixed and determinable al the time of commencement. As a majonty of the Company's leases do not provide an
implicit raie, the Company uses ils incremental borrowing rale based on the information available at the
commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The ROU asset also includes any lease
payments made prior to commencement and is recorded net of any lease incenfives received. The lease ferms may
include options to exiend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably cerain that the Company will exercise such
options. The Company does not record a ROU assel and coresponding liability for leases with terms of 12 months
or less.

The Company does not include renewals in the determination of the lease term unless the renewals are
deemed 10 be reasonably assured af lease commencement. Lease agreements generally confain lease and non-
lease components. Mon-lease components primarily include payments for maintenance and utiliies. The Company
does not combine lease payments with non-lease components for any of its leases. Operating leases are recorded
as ROU assets, which are induded in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The current porfion of lease
liabilities are incuded in accrued liabilties and the longterm podion is included in other liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s lease cost consists of amounts recognized under lease agreements in
the results of operations adjusted for impairment and sublease income.
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Intangible assefs, net. The Company records idenfifiable inangible assets at fair value on the date of
acquisition and evaluates the usetul lite of each asset.

Finite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of customer relationships, reseller relationships and trade names
obiained through acquisifions. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis and are lested for
recoverahility it events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
These infangibles have useful lives ranging from 3 1o 15 years. No events or changes in circumstances indicate that
impairment existed as of September 30, 2020. See Nofe 8—Infangibie Assels and Goodwill,

Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade name, customer relationships and reacguired rights.
Intangitle assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are evaluated for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may exist. The Company first assesses
gualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform a guantitative impairment fest for indefinite-lived
intangible assets. The Company assesses each category of indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an
aggregate basis, which may require the allocation of cash flows andfor an estimate of fair value 1o the assets or
asset group. Impairment exists if the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than the carrying value,
The Company relies on a number of factors when completing impairment assessments, including a review of
discounied nel fulure cash flows, business plans and the use of present value tfechnigues.

The Company completed ils annual impaiment review of indefinite-lived intangible assets as of February 1,
2020, and concluded there was no impairment as of that date. No recent events or changes in circumstances
indicate that impairment of the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets existed as of September 30, 2020.

Goodwill, Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acguired in
a business combination. Goodwill is not amortized bul is evaluated for impairment at the reporing unit level
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment may exist.

The Company evaluated s goodwill for impairment as of February 1, 2020, and concluded there was no
impairment as of that dale. No recent events or changes in circumstances indicate that impairment existed as of
Seplember 30, 2020

Accrued litigation. The Company evaluates the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome in legal or regulatory
proceedings to which it is a party and records a loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These judgments are subjective, based on the
status of such legal or regulalory proceedings, the merits of the Company's defenses and consultation with
comorate and external legal counsel. Actual outcomes of these legal and regulatory proceedings may differ
materally from the Company's estimates. The Company expenses legal costs as incurred in professional fees in the
consolidated statements of operations. See Note 20—Legal Mafters.

Revenue recognition, The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09 effective QOctober
1, 2018 using the modified refrospective fransition method. Results for repording periods beginning after October 1,
218 are presented under the new revenue standard. The comparative prior period amounts appearing on the
financial statements have not been restated and continue 1o be reported under the prior revenue standard.

The Company's net revenues are comprised principally of the following categories: senvice revenues, dafa
processing revenues, international fransaction revenues and other revenues, reduced by client incentives. As a
payment network service provider, the Company's obligation to the customer is to stand ready to provide continuous
access to our payment network over the contractual term. Consideration is varable based primarily upon the
amount and type of fransacions and payments volume on Visa's products. The Company recognizes revenue, net
of sales and other similar taxes, as the payment network services are performed in an amount that reflects the
consideration the Company expects 1o receive in exchange for those services. Fixed fees for payment network
services are generally recognized ratably over the related service pericd, The Company has elecled the optional
exemption to not disclose the remaining performance obligations related o payment network services and other
performance obligations which are constrained by and dependent upon the future performance of its clients, which
are varable in nature, The Company also recognizes revenues, net of sales and other similar taxes, from other
value added services, including issuer and consumer solutions, merchami and acquirer solufions, fraud
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management and security services, data products, and consulting and analylics, as these value added services arg
performed,

Service revenues consist mainly of revenues eamed for services provided in support of client usage of Visa
paymeni services. Current quarter service revenues are primarily assessed using a calculation of current quarer’s
pricing applied fo the prior quarter's payments volume. The Company also eams revenues from assessments
designed 1o suppor ongaing acceptance and volume growth initiatives, which are recognized in the same pericd the
related volume is fransacted.

Dala processing revenues consist of revenues eamed for authorization, clearing, seflement, value added
services, network access and other maintenance and support services that facilitate transaction and information
processing among the Company’s clients globally. Data processing revenues are recognized in the same pericd the
related fransactions occur or services are performed.,

International ransaction revenues are eamed for cross-border fransaction processing and currency conversion
activilies. Cross-border fransactions arise when the country of origin of the issuer or financial instilution originating
the transaction is different from that of the beneficiary. International fransaction revenues are recognized in the
same period the cross-border transactions occur or services are performed.

Other revenues consist mainly of value added services, license fees for use of the Visa brand or technology,
fees for accourt holder services, cerfification, licensing and product enhancements, such as extended account
holder protection and concierge services. Other revenues are recognized in the same period the relatled
fransaclions ococur or services are performed.

Client incentives. The Company enfers into long-term contracts with financial instdution dients, merchanis and
strategic pariners for varous programs designed to increase revenue by growing payments volume, increasing Visa
product acceplance, winning merchant routing transactions over to Visa's network and driving innovation. These
incentives are primarnly accounted for as reductions to revenues, Client incentives are accounted for as operating
expenses if the payment is in exchange for a distinct good or service provided by the customer. The Company
generally capitalizes upfrort and fixed incertive payments under these agreements and amortizes the amounts as a
reduction 1o revenues ratably over the comtractual ferm. Incentives that are eamed by the customer based on
performance {argets are recorded as reductions 1o revenues based on management's estimate of each client's
future performance. These accruals are regularly reviewed and estimates of performance are adjusted, as
appropriate, based on changes in performance expectations, aclual client performance, amendments 1o existing
contracits or the execution of new contracts.

Marketing. The Company expenses costs for the production of advedising as incurred. The cost of media
advertising is expensed when the advedising takes place. Sponsorship cosis are recognized over the period in
which the Company benefils from the sponsorship Aghts. Promotional items are expensed as incurred, when the
related services are received, or when the relaled event occurs.

Income faxes, The Company's income 1ax expense consists of two components: curment and deferred. Current
income tax expense represents faxes paid or payable for the current period. Deferred fax assets and liabilities are
recognized to reflect the fulure tax consequences attributable fo temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the respective 1ax basis of existing assets and liabilites. and operating loss and
credit carmyforwards. Deferred fax assets and liabilifies are measured using enacted tax rates expected o apply 1o
faxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or seffled. In
assessing whether deferred tax assets are realizable, management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A valuation allowance is recorded for the portions
fhat are not expected 1o be realized based on the level of historical faxable income, projections of fulure faxable
income over the periods in which the temporary differences are deductible, and qualifying tax planning strategies.

Where interprefation of the fax law may be uncerlain, the Company recognizes, measures and discloses
income {ax uncertainties. The Company accounts for interest expense and penalies related to uncerain 1ax
positions in non-operating income (expense) in the consdlidated siatements of operations. The Company files a
consolidated federal income fax return and, in cerain slates, combined state tax relurns. The Company elects {o
claim foreign tax credits in any given year if such election is beneficial to the Company. See Note 79—income
Taxes.

193/251



EDINETOOOO
OO000OO00o0bDOo00DOoOdnoo(ELse92)
oOoOooodn

Table of Contents
VISA INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—({Continued)
September 30, 2020

FPension and ofher postrefirement benefit plans. The Company's defined benefit pension and other
postretirement benefit plans are actuarially evaluated, incorporating various critical assumptions including the
discour rate and the expected rate of return on plan assets (for gqualified pension plans). The discount rate is based
on a cash flow matching analysis, with the projected benefit payments matching spol rates from a yield curve
developed from high-quality corporate bonds. The expected rate of return on pension plan assets is primarily based
on the fargeted allocation, and evaluated for reasonableness by considering such factors as: (i) actual return on
plan assets; (i) historical rates of return on various assed classes in the porfolio; (i) projecfions of returns on
varous assel classes, and (iv) cument and prospective capital market conditions and economic forecasts. Any
difference between actual and expecied plan experience, including asset return experience, in excess of a 10%
comidor is recognized in net periodic pension cost over the expected average employee future service period, which
ranges from approximately 6 fo 10 years for the US. and non-U.5. pension plans. Other assumptions involve
demographic factors such as refirement age, morality, aftrition and the rate of compensation increases, The
Company evaluates assumptions annually and modifies them as appropriate.

The Company recognizes setflement losses when it setlles pension benefit abligations, induding making lump-
sum cash payments fo plan paricipants in exchange for their rights 1o receive specdified pension benefits, when
cerain thresholds are mel. See Nofe 771—Pension and Other Postretirement Benefifs.

Foreign currency remeasurement and transiation, The Company's funclional currency is the U 3, dollar for the
majorily of its foreign operations except for Visa Europe whose functional currency is the eurn. Transactions
denominated in currencies other than the applicable functional currency are converted 1o the funciional currency at
the exchange rate on the transaction date, At perod end, monetary asseds and liabilities are remeasured to the
functional currency using exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilifies
are remeasured at historical exchange rates. Resulling foreign currency transaction gains and losses related o
conversion and remeasurement are recorded in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements
of operations and were not material for fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Where a non-U.S. currency is the functional currency, franslation from that functional currency to the U3,
dollar is performed for balance sheed accounts using exchange rates in effect al the balance sheet dates and for
revenue and expense accounts using an average exchange rate for the period. Resulfing transiation adjustments
are reporfed as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income {loss) on the consolidated balance
sheets.

Derivative financial insfruments. The Company uses foreign exchange forward dervalive confracts to reduce
its exposure to foreign currency rate changes on forecasted non-funclional currency denominated operational cash
flows. The terms of these derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges are generally less than 12 months.
To qualify for cash flow hedge accounting treatment, the Company formally documents, at incepfion of the hedge, all
relationships between the hedging fransactions and the hedged Hems, as well as the Company’s risk management
objective and strateqy for undertaking various hedging fransactions. The Company also formally assesses whether
the derivatives that are used in hedging tfransactions are highly effective in offseting changes in the cash flows of
the hedged dems and whether those derivatives may be expecied to remain highly effective in fuiure periods.

Derivatives are carried at fair value on a gross basis on the consolidated balance sheets. Gains and losses
resulting from changes in tair value of derivafive instruments designated as cash flow hedges are accounted for
gither in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the consolidated balance sheets, or in the
consolidated statements of operations in the corresponding account where revenue or expense is recorded. Gains
and losses resulting from changes in fair value of derivafive instruments not designated for hedge accounting are
recorded in general and administrative expense for hedges of operating activity, or non-operating income (expense)
for hedges of non-operating aclivity.

Gains and losses related to changes in fair value hedges are recognized in non-operating income (expense)
along with a corresponding loss or gain related to the change in value of the underlying hedged item in the same
line item in the consolidated statement of operations. The change in value of net investment hedges are recorded in
other comprehensive income (loss). Amounts excluded from the eftectiveness testing of net investment hedges are
recognized in non-operating income (expense). Cash flows associated with derivatives designated as a fair value
hedge may be included in operating, investing or financing acfivilies on the conscolidated statement of cash flows,
depending on the classification of the tems being hedged. Cash flows associated with financial instruments
designated as net investment hedges are classified as an investing activity. See Nofe 15—Dervative Financial
instruments.
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Share-based compensation. The Company recognizes share-based compensafion cost, net of estimated
forteitures, using the fair value method of accounting. The Company recognizes compensation cost for awards with
only service conditions on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting
period. Compensation cost for performance-based awards is recognized on a graded-vesting basis, The amound is
initially estimated based on farget performance and is adjusted as appropriate based on management's best
estimate throughout the pefformance period. See Note 17—Share-based Compensafion.

Eamings per share, The Company calculales eamings per share using the two-class method to reflect the
different rights of each class and series of outstanding common stock. The dilutive effect of incremental common
stock equivalents is reflected in diluted eamings per share by application of the freasury stock method. See Nofe 16
—Eamings Per Share.

Recently lssued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 20186, the FASE issued ASU 2016-02, which requires the recognition of lease assets and lease
liabilities arising from operating leases on the balance sheet. Subsequently, the FASE also issued a series of
amendments to this new lease standard that address the fransition methods available and danfy the guidance for
lessor costs and other aspects of the new lease standard. The Company adopted the standard effective October 1,
2018 using the modified retrospective transiion method with comparative periods confinuing 1o be reported using
the prior leases standard. The Company elected 1o apply the package of practical expedients permitted under the
fransition guidance, allowing the Company 1o carry forward the historical assessment of whether a contract was or
contains a lease, lease classification and capitalization of initial direct costs. The adoption did not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASE issued ASU 2018-02, which allows a reclassification from accumulated other
comprehensive income 1o refained earnings for adjusiments 1o fax effects that were originally recorded in ofher
comprehensive income due fo changes in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate resulting from the enactment
of the U.S. tax reform legislation on December 22, 2017, commonly referred o as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the
“Tax Act”), The Company adopted the ASU effective October 1, 2018, The adoption did not have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASE issued ASU 2016-13, and also issued subsequent amendments, which requires the
measurement and recognilion of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amorized cost. The
amendments in the ASU are effective for the Company on October 1, 2020. The Company is evaluating the impact
ASU 2016-13 will have on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2018, the FASBE issued ASU 201912, which simplifies the accounting for income iaxes by
removing cerfain exceptions o the general principles in the exsting guidance for income faxes and making other
minor improvements. The amendments in the ASU are effective for the Company on October 1, 2021. The
Company does nod plan to early adopt the ASU at this ime, The adoplion is not expected 1o have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

In January 2020, the FASE issued ASU 2020-01, which clanfies that an enfity =should consider observable
fransactions that require i1 to either apply or discontinue the equity method of accounting for the purposes of
applying the fair value measurement allernative. The amendments in the ASL are effective for the Company on
October 1, 2021, The adoption is nol expected to have a materal impact on the consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASE issued ASU 2020-04, which provides optional expedients and exceplions for
applying U.5, GAAP to confracts, hedging relationships and other fransactions that reference the London Interbank
Oftered Rale or another reference rate expected to be disconfinued because of reference rate reform. The
amendments in the ASU are effective for the Company upon issuance through December 31, 2022, The Company
iz evaluating the effect ASU 2020-04 will have on its consolidated financial statements,
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Note 2—Acquisitions

Pending Acquisition. On January 13, 2020, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to acquire Plaid
Inc. for $5.3 billion. The Company will pay approximately $4.9 billion of cash and $0.4 billion of refenfion equity and
deferred equity consideration. This acquisidion is subject 1o customary closing conditions, including regulatory
reviews and approvals. On November 5, 2020, the U.5. Department of Justice filed a complaint in the U.S, District
Court for the Northern District of California seeking a permanent injunction to prevent Visa from acquiring Plaid. See
Mate 20—Legal Matters,

Fiscal 2019 Acquisiions. The Company acquired several businesses for a total purchase considerafion of
042 million, which consisted of 3888 million in cash and $54 million of deferred cash consideration. The allocation
of the purchase price o the tangible and intangible assets acquired and fo liabilities have been completed as of
Seplember 30, 2020. There were no material adjustments 1o the preliminary purchase price allocation as of
September 30, 2019, Goodwill was recorded to reflect the excess purchase consideration over net assets acquired,
which represents the value that is expected from expanding the Company's product offerings and olher synengies.
Goodwill that is expected o be deductible for fax purposes amounts {o approximately $360 million,

The following table summarizes the purchase price allocation in aggregate for the businesses acquired:

Purchase Price

Allocation

{in millions)
Net tangible assets acquired (liabilities assumed) 5 23
Intangible assets 318
Goodwill 647

M ndludes fair value of previoushy-held interest in the amuired entities of $47 million.

The following {able summarizes the identified inlangible assels acquired based on the purchase price
allocations:

MI"“,:P“ Date Fair Wnllilhiad-ﬁwraga
alue seful Life

{in millions) (in years)
Developed fechnologies 5 70 4
Customer relationships 249 12
M T v R T L R T3 T LU T L] Lt o1 Tl ek wet Ca i T mee e . $ 319 10

Pro forma information related fo the acquisitions has not been presenfed as the impact was not matenial to the
Company's financial results. Transaclion costs incurred were not material and were included in the Company's

consolidated statements of operations.
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The nature, amount, timing and uncerainty of the Company's revenues and cash flows and how they are
affected by economic factors are most approprately depicted through the Company’s revenue categones and
geographical markets. The following tables disaggregate the Company’s net revenues by revenue category and by
geography for the yvears ended September 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018;

For the Years Ended

September 30,
2020 2019 2018

{in millions)
Service revenues $ 9,804 3 9700 % 8.918
Data processing revenues 10,975 10,333 9,027
International transaction revenues 6,299 7,804 Toald
Other revenues 1,432 1313 =2 E)
Client incentives (6,664) (6,173) (5,491)
Net revenues......... S S e B 21,846 5 228977 % 20,608

For the Years Ended

September 30,
2020 2018 2018
in millicns)
LS. 1 10,125 5 10279 % 9332
Inernational 11,721 12,658 11,277
Metrevenues. ... ... B 21IB4& & 220977 § 20,600

Remaining performance obligalions are comprised of deferred revenue and unbilled contract revenues thal will
be invoiced and recognized as revenues in fulure periods primarily related to value added services. As of
Seplember 30, 2020, the remaining performance chligations were $1.4 billion. The Company expecis approximately
half 1o be recognized as revenue in the next two years and the remaining thereafter. However, the amount and
iming of revenue recognition is affected by several factors, including contract modifications and terminations, which

could impact the estimate of amounis allocated 1o remaining performance obligations and when such revenues
could be recognized.

Note 4—Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash and Restricted Cash Equivalents

The Company reconciles cash, cash equivalents, resfricted cash and resfriclied cash equivalents repored in

the consolidated balance sheets that aggregate 1o the beginning and ending balances shown in the consolidated
statements of cash flows as follows:

September 30,
2020 2019 2018
{in millions)

Cash and eash equivalents $ 16280 5 7838 $ 8162
Resfricted cash and restricied cash equivalenis:

U.5. liigation escrow am 1,205 1.4

Customer collateral : ; : 1,850 1,648 1,324

Prepaid expenses and other curmen] asseds 131 141 —
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash

(a1 ] 4T 1T O e gt L A e S

. 2 19-i1?1 5 10832 % 10977
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Note 5—U.5. and Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plans
U.S. Retrospective Responsibifity Plan

The Company has established several related mechanisms designed 1o address potential liability under certain
litigation referred 1o as the "U.S. covered litigation.” These mechanisms are included in and referred to as the U.S.
refrospective responsibility plan and consist of 2a U.S. litigation escrow agreement, the conversion feature of the
Company's shares of class B common sfock, the indemnification obligations of the Visa U.5.A members, an
interchange judgment sharing agreement, a loss sharing agreement and an omnibus agreement, as amended.

U.3. covered lligation consists of a number of matters that have been setlled or otherwise fully or substantially
resolved, as well as the following:

= fthe Imerchange Multidistrict Litigafion. In re Paymeni Card Imlerchange Fee and Merchanl Discount
Anfitrust Litigation, 1:05-md-01720-JG-JO (E.D.N.Y.) or MDL 1720, including all cases currenily included in
MDL 1720, any other case that includes claims for damages relating to the period prior to the Company's
IPO that has been or is transfemed for coordinated or consolidated pre-rial proceedings at any time 1o MOL
1720 by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation or olherwise included at any fime in MDL 1720 by order
ot any court of competent jurisdiction;

« any claim thai challenges the reorganization or the consummation thereof, provided that such claim is
fransferred for coordinated or consolidated pre-frial proceedings at any time 1o MDL 1720 by the Judicial
Panel on Mulidistrict Liigation or otherwise induded at any fime in MDL 1720 by order of any courl of
competent jurisdiction; and

= any case brought atler Octlober 22, 2015 by a merchant that opted out of the Rule 23(b)(3) setflement class
in MOL 1720 that arises out of facts or circumstances substantially similar to those alleged in MOL 1720 and
that is not fransferred to or otherwise included in MOL 1720. See Nofe 20—Leogal Matiers.

U8, litigation escrow agreement. In accordance with the US. ltigation escrow agreement, the Company
maintains an escrow account, from which setiements of, or judgments in, the U.5. covered litigation are paid. The
amount of the escrow is determined by the board of directors and the Company's lifigation commitiee, all members
of which are affiliated with, or act for, cerlain Visa U.S.A. members. The escrow funds are held in money market
investments along with the interest earned, less applicable taxes and are classified as restricted cash equivalents
on the consclidated balance sheets,

The following table sets forth the changes in the restricted cash equivalents—U.S. liigation escrow account by
fiscal year:

2020 2018
{in millions)

Balance al beginning of period $ 1205 % 149
Return of fakedown payment 1o the liigation escrow account 467 -
Deposits into the litigation escrow account —_ 300
Payments to class plaintits’ settlement fund''’ —_ (B00)
Payments to opt-oud merchants!” and interest eamed on escrow funds (771) 14

Balance atend of period. ... B 90 1,205

'} These payments ars associated wilh the inlarchange mullidistid liigation. Sea Nate 20—Legal Matfers

The accrual related o the U.5. covered lifigation could be either higher or lower than the U.5S. litigation escrow
account balance. A fakedown payment of approximately $467 million was received and deposited into the
Company's litigation escrow account. The deposit info the litigation escrow account and reestablishment of a prior
accrual 1o address opt-oul claims was recorded dudng fiscal 2020. The Company recorded an accrual of $370
million for the U.S. covered litigation during fiscal 2019, See Note 20—Legal Matters,
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Conversion feature, Under the terms of the plan, when the Company funds the U5, litigation escrow account,
the: shares of class B common slock are subject to dildion through an adjustment o the conversion rate of the
shares of dass B common stock 1o shares of class A common stock. This has the same economic effect on diluted
class A common siock eamings per share as repurchasing the Company's class A common stock, because it
reduces the class B conversion rate and consequently the as-converted class A common stock share count. See
Mate 75—Stnckholders’ Equity.

Incemnification obligations. To the extent that amounts available under the U.5. litigafion escrow arrangement
and other agreements in the plan are insufficient 1o fully resolve the US. covered litigation, the Company will use
commercially reasonable efforis to enforce the indemnification obligations of Visa U.SAs members for such
excess amounis, including but not limided to enforcing indemnification obligations pursuant to Visa US.A's
cerificate of incorporation and bylaws and in accordance with their membership agreements.

Interchange judgment sharing agreement. Visa U.S.A. and Visa Inlermational have enfered inlo an interchange
judgment sharing agreement with certain Visa U.5.A. members that have been named as defendants in the
interchange mullidistrict liigation, which is described in Nofe 20—Legal Mafters. Under this judgment sharing
agreement, Visa U.S.A. members that are signatories will pay their membership proportion of the amount of a final
judgment nol allocated 1o the conduct of Mastercard.,

Loss sharing agreement. Visa has entered into a loss sharing agreement with Visa U.S.A., Visa International
and certain Visa U.S.A. members. The loss sharing agreement provides for the indemnification of Visa U.S.A., Visa
International and, in cerain circurnsiances, Visa with respect to: (i) the amount of a final judgment paid by Visa
U.S.A. or Visa Intemmafional in the U.S. covered litigation atter the operation of the interchange judgment sharing
agreement, plus any amounts reimbursable 1o the imerchange judgment sharing agreement signatories; or (i) the
damages portion of a setlement of a U.5. covered Iitigation that is approved as required under Visa U.SA's
cerificale of incorporation by the vole of Visa U.S.A's specified voling members. The several obligation ot each
bank thatl is a party 1o the loss sharing agreement will equal the amount of any final judgment enforceable against
Wisa U.5.A., Visa International or any other signatory to the inferchange judgment sharing agreement, or the amount
of any approved setlement of a U.S. covered litigation, multiplied by such bank's then-current membership
proportion as calculated in accordance with Visa U5 A s cerificate of incorporation.

On QOctober 22, 2015, Visa entered inlo an amendment o the loss sharing agreemend, The amendment
includes within the scope of U.S. covered litigation any action brought after the amendment by an opt-out from the
Rule 23(b)(3) Setlement Class in MDL 1720 that arises oul of facts or circumstances substantially similar 1o those
alleged in MDL 1720 and that is nol fransferred to or otherwise included in MOL 1720. On the same date, Visa
entered into amendments to the interchange judgment sharing agreement and omnibus agreement that include any
such aclion within the scope of those agreements as well,

Omnibus agreement. Visa entered into an omnibus agreement with Mastercard and certain Visa U.S.A,
members that confirmed and memorialized the signatories” intentions with respect 1o the loss sharing agreement,
the interchange judgment sharing agreement and other agreements relating 1o the interchange multidistrict liigation,
see MNote 20—Legal Mafters. Under the omnibus agreement, the monetary portion of any setflement of the
interchange multidistrict Itigation covered by the omnibus agreement would be divided into a Mastercard portion at
33.3333% and a Visa portion at 66.6667%. In addition, the monetary podion of any judgment assigned to Visa-
related claims in accordance with the omnibus agreement would be treated as a Visa portion. Visa would have no
liability for the monetary porion of any judgment assigned to Mastercard-related daims in accordance with the
omnibus agreement, and if a judgment is not assigned to Visa-related claims or Mastercard-related claims in
accordance with the omnibus agreement, then any monetary liability would be divided into a Mastercard portion at
J33.3333% and a Visa portion at 66.6667%. The Visa porion of a setflemem or judgment covered by the omnibus
agreement would be allocated in accordance with specified provisions of the Company's U.S. refrospective
responsibility plan. The litigation provision on the consolidated statements of operations was not impacted by the
execution of the omnibus agreement.
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On August 26, 2014, Visa entered into an amendment 1o the omnibus agreement. The omnibus amendment
makes applicable fo cerain settlements in opt-out cases in the inlerchange mulidistrict litigation the setllerment-
sharing provisions of the omnibus agreement, pursuant to which the monetary portion of any setfement of the
interchange multidistrict Iigation covered by the omnibus agreement would be divided info a Mastercard porion at
33.3333% and a Visa porlion at 86.8867%. The omnibus amendment also provides that in the event of termination
of the class sefllerment agreement, Visa and Mastercard would make mutually acceptable arrangements so that
Visa shall have received two-thirds and Mastercard shall have received one-third of the total of {i) the sums paid 1o
defendants as a result of the termination of the setlement agreement and (i) the fakedown payments previously
made o defendamis.

Europe Retrospective Responsibility Plan

UK foss sharing agreement, The Company has entered into a loss sharing agreement with Visa Europe and
cerain of Visa Europe’s member financial institutions located in the United Kingdom {the *UK LSA members”). Each
of the UK LSA members has agreed, on a several and nal joint basis, to compensate the Company for cerain
losses which may be incurred by the Company, Visa Europe or their affiliales as a result of certain exisfing and
potential litigation relating 1o the setfing and implementation of domestic mulilateral inderchange fee rates in the
United Kingdom prior o the dosing of the Visa Europe acquisifion (the “Closing”), subject o the terms and
conditions set forth therein and, with respect o each UK LSA member, up o a maximum amount of the up-front
cash consideration received by such UK LSA member. The UK LSA members’ obligations under the UK loss sharing
agregment are condifional upon, among other things, either (a) losses valued in excess of the sterding eguivalent on
June 21, 2016 of €1.0 billion having arisen in UK covered claims {and such losses having reduced the conversion
rale of the UK&I preferred stock accordingly), or (b) the conversion rate of the UK&| preferred stock having been
reduced {0 zero pursuam 1o losses ansing in daims relating to multlateral inlerchange fee rate setting in the Visa
Europe territory.

Lifigation management deed. The Company has entered info a lifigation management deed with Visa Europe
which sets forlh the agreed upon procedures for the management of the VE temitory covered liigation, the allocation
of losses resulting from this ltigation (the *VE territory covered losses”) between the UK&| and Europe preferred
stock, and any accelerated conversion or reduction in the conversion rale of the shares of UK&I and Europe
preferred stock. The lifigation management deed applies only to VE territory covered litigation (and resultant losses
and liabilties). The litigation management deed provides that the Company will generally control the conduct of the
VE temitory covered litigation, subject to certain cbligations fo report and consult with the liigation management
committees for VE 1emiory covered litigation (the *VE teritory Itigation management committees®). The VE erritory
litigation management committees, which are composed of representatives of certain Visa Europe members, have
also been granted conseni rights to approve cerain material decisions in relation 1o the VE territory covered
litigation.

The Company obtained cerain protectons for VE temifory covered losses through the UKED and Europe
preferred stock, the UK loss sharing agreement, and the litigation management deed, referred 1o as the "Europe
refrospective responsibility plan.” The plan covers VE termitory covered litigation (and resultant liabilities and losses)
relating fo the covered period, which generally refers 1o the period before the Closing. Visa's protection from the
plan is further limited to 0% of any liakilities where the claim relates to inter-regional multilateral interchange fee
rales where the issuer is located outside the Visa Europe ferritory, and the merchant is located within the Visa
Europe ferritory. The plan does not prolect the Company in Europe against all types of liligation or remedies or fines
imposed in competition law enforcement proceedings, only the interchange litigation specifically covered by the
plan’s ferms.

Unlike the U.5. retrospeciive responsibility plan, the Europe retrospeclive responsibility plan does noi have an
escrow account that is used o fund setflements or judgments. The Company is entiled to recover VE {erritory
covered losses through a periodic adjustment to the class A common slock conversion rates applicable o the UK&I
and Europe preferred stock, The total amount of protection available through the preferred stock component of the
Europe refrospective responsibility plan is equivalent to the as-converied value of the preferred stock, which can be
calculated at any point in ime as the product of: {a) the outstanding number of shares of preferred stock; (b) the
current conversion rate applicable to each class of preferred stock; and (c) Visa's class & common stock price. This
amount differs from the value of the preferred stock recorded within stockholders’ equity on the Company's
consolidated balance sheels. The book value of the prefermed stock reflects its historical value recorded at the
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Closing less YE temitory covered losses recovered through a reduction of the applicable conversion rate, The boolk
value does not reflect changes in the underlying class A common stock price subsequent o the Closing,

Visa Inc. net income will not be impacted by VE territory covered losses as long as the as-converted value of
the preferred stock is greater than the covered loss. VE temritory covered losses will be recorded when the loss is
deemed 1o be probable and reasonably estimable, or in the case of attorney’s fees, when incurred. Concurrently, he
Comparny will record a reduction 1o stockholders’ equity, which represents the Company’s right to recover such
losses through adjustments 1o the conversion rate applicable to the preferred stock. The reduction to stockholders’
equity is recorded in a contra-equity account referred to as “right to recover for covered losses.”

As required by the liigation management deed, at the fourth anniversary of the Visa Europe acquisifion, Visa,
in consuliation with the VE ferrfories [Higation management commitiee, camied out a release assessment of the
extent 1o which, if at all, it would be appropriate 1o effect a parlial conversion of UK&| or Europe preferred stock info
class A common stock or seres A preferred stock. After the completion of this assessment, in September 2020, the
Company refeased $7.3 billion of the as-converled value from its UK&| and Europe preferred stock and issued
374,819 shares of series A preferred stock (the “Fourth anniversary release”). Each holder of a share of UK&! and
Eurocpe preferred stock received a number of series A preferred stock equal fo the applicable conversion adjustment
divided by 100. The Company paid $5 million in cash in lieu of issuing fractional shares of series A preferred stock.
The release resulted in a downward adjustment {0 the UKEI and Europe preferred stock conversion rates. See Nofe
15—Stockholdars’ Equity.

VE territory covered losses may be recorded before the corresponding adjustment 1o the applicable conversion
rale is effected, Adjustmenis o the conversion rate may be executed once in any six-month period unless a single,
individual loss greater than €20 million is incurred, in which case, the six-month limitation does not apply. When the
adjustiment 1o the conversion rate is made, the amount previously recorded in “right o recover for covered losses”
as confra-equity will then be recorded against the book value of the preferred stock within stockholders’ equity.
During the year ended September 30, 2020, the Company recovered $184 million of VE territory covered losses
fhrough adjustments to the class A common stock conversion rates applicable 1o the UK&l and Europe preferred
stock,

The following fable sets forlh the activiies related o VE ferritory covered losses in preferred stock and “right 1o
recover for covered losses” within stockholders' equity during the yvear ended September 30, 2020

Freterred Stock

Right to Recover for
UKEI Europe Covared Losses
(in millions)

Balance as of September 30, 2019 g 2285 § 3NTT % (171)
VE territory covered losses incurred'” - — {37)
Recovery through conversion rate adjustment™’ (72) {92) 169
Fourth anniversary release {1,107 {1.542) —

Balance as of September 30, 2020. ... % 1,106 § 1,543 3 (39)

M E terrilory coverad losses incurred refladl setiements with merchants and addlional legal cosls. See Nofe 20—Legal Matters.

B pcfjustment to right 1o recover for coversd lbsses for the conversion rale adjustment differs from the adual recoversd amount due lo
diferancas in foreign exchange rales batwaan the tlima the losses wane incurmed and the subsequent recoveny hrmugh the comeanmion rats
adjusiment
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The following table sets forh the as-converied value of the preferred stock available 1o recover VE 1erritony

covered losses compared 1o the book value of prefermed shares recorded in stockholders” equity within he
Company's consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2020 and 2019

Septernber 30,
2020 2019
Asconverted As=convertod
:;:f of Bngrl;;.:luz of m of Bu;l-:m\gha of
S&unltmﬂ' smnl?’" Stucl‘t"ﬁﬂ' Stock'”
{in millions}
UKEI preferred stock. ;i L 3 3,168 $ 1,106 S 5519 % 2,285
Europe prefered stock 4,33 1,543 7,538 INFT
TR ol et e i S S Y 3 o 7,499 2,649 13,058 5462
Less: right to recover for covered losses (39) (39) (171) {(171)
Total recovery for covered losses available ... $ TAGD § 2,610 g 12,887 § 5.291

ik}
[Fd]

Figures in the table may nol recaloulals axactly due 1o mounding. As-converlad and book values are basad on unrounded numbers.

The as-converad value of prefermed stock s calculated as the produdt of: {a) 2 million and 3 milion shares of the UKE| and Evrope prefered
slock outstanding, respectively, as of Septembear 30, 2020, (b) 6 387 and 6.861, the cass A comman slock convarsion rale applicable to the
UK&| and Europa prefered stock outstanding, respecively, as of Seplamber 30, 2020; and (c} $1922.97, Visa's dlass A common slock closing
slock price as of Seplember 30, 2020,

The as-converted value of preferred siock |5 calculaled as the produd of: (&) 2 milion and 3 million shares of the UK&| and Evrope prefemed
slock oulstanding, respedively, as of Seplember 30, 20M8; (b) 128338 and 13.884, the dass A common stock comeersion rafe applicable o
the UK&! and Evrope prefermed siock oulslanding, respeclively, as of Seplember 30, 2 9; and (c) $172.04, Visa's class A common slock
dosing stock price a3 of September 30, 2019,
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MNote 6—Fair Value Measurements and Investments

The Company measures cerlain assels and liabiliies at fair value, See Nofe 7—Summarny of Significant
Accounting Poticies.

Assets and Liabilities Measured af Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Fair Value Measurements at September 30
Using Inputs Considered as

Level 1 Lovel 2
2020 2013 2020 2015
(in millions}
Assets
Cash equivalents and restricted cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 12522 3 6494 $§ - 5 =

LS. government-sponsored debt securifies - — 1,469 150

U.5. Treasury securifies 650 — — _
Investment securities:

Marketable equity securities 148 126 — —

U.S. government-sponsored debt secunties —_ — 2,582 5,502

U.S. Treasury securifies 1,253 BTS — -
Other current and non-current assets:

Derivative instruments — —- 512 437
Tl o upinsr sty d5T3 % 7285 $ 4,563 5 6,179
Liabilities
Accrued compensation and benefits:

Deterred compensation liability $ 135 % 112 % - % —
Accrued and other liabilities:

Derivative instruments. —_ — 181 52
T e S R e R R s 8 135 § 113 % 181 S 52

Level T assels and liabilities. Money market funds, marketable equity securities and U.S. Treasury securities
are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, as fair value is based on unadjusted qguoted prices in aclive
markets for identical assets and liabilities. The Company's deferred compensation liability is measured at fair value
based on marketable equily securities held under the deferred compensation plan.

Level 2 assets and habitiies. The fair value of U.S. government-sponsored debt securities, as provided by
third-party pricing vendaors, is based on quoded prices in aclive markets for similar, not identical, assets. Derivative
instruments are valued using inputs that are observable in the market or can be derived principally from or
comoborated by observable market data.
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LS. government-sponsored debt securifies and ULS. Treasury secunties. The amorlized cosi, unrealized gains
and losses and fair value of debt secunties were as follows:

Seplember 30,
2020 2019
Amortized Gross Unrealized Fair Amariiasd Gross Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains  Losses Valug Cost Galns  Losses Valug
{in milllons)
U.5. government-sponsored debt
securities $ 2581 § 1 % — % 2582 % 559 % 4 % (2) % 5582
U.5. Treasury securifies 1,251 2 — 1,253 672 3 - 675
ol et 3@32 $ 3% — 5335 $ 6262 5 V7 § 52; b 6,267
Less: curreni portion % (3,604) £ {41109
Long-term debt securities. ... i 231 § 2157

Debt securities are presented below in accordance with their stated mafunties, A portion of these investments
are classified as non-current as they have stated maturties of more than one year from the balance sheet date.
However, these investments are generally available 1o meet shor-term liquidity needs.

Emggzbgr 0,
{in millions)
Due within one year $ 3,604
Due afler 1 year through 5 years 231
A S R e R e e i T 3,835

Assets Measured af Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis

Non-maretable equily securifies. The Company's non-marketable equity securiies are invesimenis in
privately held companies withoul readily determinable market values. These invesiments are classified as Level 3

due to the absence of quoted market prices, the inherent lack of liquidity and the fact that inputs used to measure
fair value are unobservable and require management’s judgment.

During fiscal 2020 and 2019, $102 million and $110 milion of upward adjusiments, and $6 million and $4
millicn of downward adjustments including impairment, respectively, were included in the carrying value of non-
marketable equity securifies accounted for under the fair value measurement allernative. The following table

summarizes the total carrying value of the Company’s non-marketable equity securities held as of September 30,
2020 including cumulative unrealized gains and losses:

Eaphzraléigr‘.!ﬂ.
{in milions)
Initial cost basis. g a1
Adjustments:
Upward adjustments 212
Dowmward adjustments. (including impairment) {11)
Carrying amount, end of PEHO..........co e s s s b bbb e sssssesns B 1Im2

MNon-financial assets and tabilities. Long-lived assets such as goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible asseis, finile-
lived intangible assets and propery, equipment and technology are considered non-financial assets. The Company
does not have any non-financial liabilties measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. Finite-ived intangible

assets primarily consist of customer relationships, frade names and reseller relationships, all of which were obtained
through acquisifions. See Note 8—intangible Assets and Goodwill.
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If the Company were required to perform a guantitative assessment for impaiment testing of goodwill and
indefinife-lived intangible assets, the fair values would generally be estimated using an income approach. As the
assumptions employed fo measure these assets on a non-recurring basis are based on management's judgment
using internal and external data, these fair value determinations are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy,
The Company completed its annual impairment review of its indefinite-lived intangible assets and goodwill as of
February 1. 2020, and concluded that there was no impairment. Mo recent events or changes in circumstances
indicate that impairment existed at Sepltember 30, 2020, See Note 7—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,

Investment Income

Investmenti income is recorded as non-operating income {expensea) in the Company's consolidated statements
of operations and consisted of the following:

Faor the Years Ended
September 30,
2020 2019 2018
(in millions)

Interest and dividend income on cash and investments $ 80 % 247 § 173
Realized gains {losses), net on debt securities 4 1 —
Equity securties:

Unrealized gains (losses), net 115 117 2

Realized gains (losses), net from donation - — 193

Realized gains (losses), net 1 18 102
DTN Y YL I N TRE L) o i i e b i e e 200 % 383 % 470

Other Fair Value Disclosures

Debt Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The
fair value of the debd instruments, as provided by third-party pricing vendors, is based on quoted prices in aclive
markets for similar, not idenfical, assets, If measured at fair value in the financial statements, these instruments
would be dassified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. As of September 30, 2020, the carrying value and
estimated fair value of debt was $24.1 billion and $26.6 billion, respectively. As of September 30, 2019, the carrying
value and estimated fair value of debt was $16.7 billion and $18.4 billion, respectively.

Other Financial Instruments not Measured at Fair Valie. The following financial instruments are not measured
al fair valug on the Company's consolidated balance sheed at September 30, 2020, bul require disclosure of their
fair values: sefierment receivable and payable and customer collateral. The estimated fair value of such instruments
al Septemmber 30, 2020 approximates their carrying value due to their generally short maturiies. If measured at fair
value in the financial statements, these finandial instruments would be classified as Level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy.
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Note T—Property, Equipment and Technology, Net

Property, equipment and technology, net, consisted of the following:

Seplember 30,
2020 2019
{in millions)

Land 5 T % 7
Buildings and building improvementis - 1,007 265
Fumniture, equipment and leasehold improvemen 1,997 1,913
Construction-in-progress 163 180
Technology 3,923 3,441
Total property, equipment and technology.......conn 7,161 6570

Accurmulated depreciation and amordization {4,424) {3.875)

Property, equipment and technology, net...........ccciiiiciiici. 3 2{.—'3? 5 2605

Technology consists of both purchased and internally developed software. Inlernally developed software
primarily represents software utilized by the VisaNet electronic payments network. At September 30, 2020 and
2019, accumulated amorizadion for technology was $2.7 billion and $2.3 billion, respectively.

Al September 30, 2020, estimated future amorlization expense on technology is as follows:

For the Years Ending September 30,
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter Total
{in millions)
Estimated future amortization expense .. $ 419 § 313 § 225 5 142 § 62 § 24 % 1,185

For fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, depreciation and amorization expense related 1o property, equipment and
technology was S887 million, 3586 million and $558 million, respectively.
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Mote 8—Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Indefinite-lived and finite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following:

September 30,
2020 2018
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Amortization et Gross Amortization Met
{in millions)
Finitedived intangible assets:
Customer relationships $ T09 % (376) % 333 % 01 % {314) % 3ar
Trade names. 199 {134) 65 168 {1209 78
Resaller relationships a5 (89) 6 85 (86) 8
Other 17 (14) 3 17 (13) 4
Total finite-lived intangible assets. . 1,020 {613) 407 1,012 {533) 479
Indefinitedived intangible assets:
Customer relationships and
reacquired nghis 23,317 - 23,37 22217 — 22217
Visa trade name 4,084 — 4,084 4,084 — 4,084
Total indefinite-lived in tangihle
assets. - 27,40 —_ 27,401 26,301 — 26,301
Total Intanglble asﬁat& s 421 § iﬁ1 3] 2 21"3&3 F 27313 % S533) 5 26,780

For fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, amorization expense related to finile-lived intangible assets was 580 million,
S60 million and £55 million, respectively.

Al September 30, 2020, estimated future amorization expense on finite-lived infangible assets is as follows:

For the Years Ending September 30,
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter Total
{im millions}
Estimated fulure amorlizationexpense. . $ 81 & 76 $ 52 $§ 50 % 40 % 108 § 407

The change in goodwill during the years ended Seplember 30, 2020 and 2018 are as follows:

2020 2019
{in millions)

Goodwill, beginning of period 3 15,656 % 15,194
Goodwill from acquisitions, net of adjustiments 43 613
Foreign currency franslation 206 (181)

Goodwill, end of perlod............ oo s i 15|91I} 5 15.656

For addifional information on acguisitions, see Nofe 2—Acquisifions.

There was no impairment related 1o the Company's finife-lived or indefinite-lived infangible assefs (including
goodwill) during fiscal 2020, 2019 or 2018.

Note 9—Leases

The Company entered into various operating lease agreements primarily for real estate. The Company's
leases have original lease periods expiring between fiscal 2021 and 2030, Many leases include one or more options
to renew. The Company's lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or matenal

restriclive covenants. Payments under the Company's lease arrangements are generally fixed. Al Seplember 30,
2020, the Company had no finance leases,
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During fiscal 2020, fotal operating lease cost was $114 million. At Seplember 30, 2020, the weighted-average

remaining lease ferm for operating leases was approximately 6 years and the weighled-average discount rate for
operating leases was 2.29%,

Al September 30, 2020, the present value of fulure minimum lease payments was as follows:

Seplember 30,
2020

{im milllons)
2021 : 5 108
2022 103
2023 95
2024 B2
2025 70
Thereafter 163
Total undiscounted [Ease PAYIIEIES. ...t searsstsssressosssssss s 144 sns s s saason sasss a4 snssassnsin 621
Less: imputed interest {51)
Present value of lease liabilities ... ... ... B 570

At Seplember 30, 2020, the Company had additional operating leases that had nol yet commenced with lease

obligations of 3466 million. These operaling leases will commence between fiscal 2021 and 2023 with non-
cancellable lease terms of 1 10 15 years.
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Note 10—Debt

The Company had outstanding debt as follows:

Seplomber 30,
Effective
2020 2019 Intarast Rata'’
(in millions, cxecept percentages)

2.20% Senior Notes due December 2020 $ 3,000 5 3,000 230 %
2.15% Senior Notes due September 2022 1,000 1.000 2.30 %
2.80% Senior Notes due December 2022 2,250 2,250 289 %
3.15% Senior Notes due December 2025 4,000 4,000 G20 %
1.80% Senior Notes due April 2027 1,500 — 202 %
0.75% Senior Notes due August 2027 S00 - 084 %
2.75% Senior Nodes due September 2027 750 750 291 %
2.05% Senior Notes due April 2030 1,500 - 213 %
1.10% Senior Notes due February 2031 1,000 - 1.20 %
4.15% Senior Notes due December 2035 1,500 1.500 4.23 %
2.70% Senior Notes due April 2040 1,000 —_ 2.80 %
4.30% Senior Notes due December 2045 3,500 3,500 4,37 %
3.65% Senior Notes due September 2047 750 750 373%
2.00% Senior Notes due August 2050 1,750 -— 209 %
IR O IE L oy ne i il sl s el e e e elonen i e 24,000 16,750

Unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs (178) (108)

Hedge accounting fair value adjustments' 248 a7
Total carrying valueofdebt ... % 24]I}TU g 16,729
Reported as;

Current maturities of debt $ 2999 § —

Long-term debt 21,071 16,729
Total carrying value ofdebt ... $ 24,070 % 16,729

'1' Effedlive interesl rates disclosad do rol reflect hedge accounting adjustmants.
= Reprasents the changs in faie value of interos! rate swap agreemonts enterad irlo on a portion of the sutstanding sonior notes, Soa Nafe 1—
Summary of Sigrificant Accounting Policles and Nofe 13—Dervalive Fivancia! nstrimanis

Senor Nates

The Company's outstanding senior notes, or collectively, the "Notes”, are senior unsecured obligations of the
Company, ranking equally and ratably among themselves and with the Company's existing and future unsecured
and unsubordinated debt. The Notes are not secured by any assets of the Company and are not guaranteed by any
of the Company's subsidiaries. The Company was in compliance with all related covenanis as of September 30,
2020. Each series of Notes may be redeemed as a whole or in parf at the Company's oplion at any me af specified
redemption prices.

In August 2020, the Company issued fixed-rale senior notes in a public offering in an aggregate principal
amount of $3.3 billion with maturities of 7, 10 and a half and 20 years. The August 2027 Noles, 2031 Noles and
2050 Notes, or collectively, the “August 2020 Notes®, have interest rates of 0.75%, 1.10% and 2.00%, respectively.
Interest on the August 2020 Notes is payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year,
commencing on February 15, 2021. The nel aggregale proceeds, after deducling discounts and debt issuance
costs, were approximately $3.2 billion. The net proceeds from the offering of the August 2027 Notes will be used 1o
fund eligible green projects and the net proceeds from the offering of the 2031 Notes and 2050 Notes will be usad
for general corporate purposes,
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In April 2020, the Company issued fixed-rale senior notes in a public offering in an aggregate principal amount
of 4.0 bilion with maturities of 7, 10 and 20 years. The Aprl 2027 Notes, 2030 Notes and 2040 Notes, or
collectively, the “Aprl 2020 Notes”, have inlerest rates of 1.80%, 2.05% and 2.70%, respectively. Interest on the
April 2020 Notes is payable semi-annually on April 15 and QOctober 15 of each year, commencing October 15, 2020,
The net aggregate proceeds, after deducting discounts and debd issvance costs, were approximately 34.0 billion.
The net proceeds from the offering of the Aprl 2020 Notes will be used for general corporate purposes.

Commercial Paper Program

Visa mainiains a commercial paper program to suppor its working capital requirements and for other general
comaorate purposes. Under the program, the Company is authonized to issue up 1o $3.0 bilion in ouistanding notes,
with maturities up 1o 397 days from the dale of issuance. The Company had no outstanding obligations under the
program as of September 30, 2020 and 2015,

Credit Facility

On July 25 2019, the Company enfered into an amended and restated credit agreement for a 5 year,
unsecured $5.0 billion revolving credit facility (the "Credit Facility”), which will expire on July 25, 2024. The Credit
Facility is not governed by any financial covenants. This Credil Facility is maintained to ensure the inlegrity of the
payment card setlement process and for general corporate purposes. Inferesi on borrowings under the Credit
Facility will be charged at the London Interbank Offered Rate or an alternative base rate, in each case plus
applicable margins that fluctuate based on the applicable credit rating of the Company's senior unsecured long-lerm
debt. The Company has agreed 1o pay a commiiment fee which will fluctuate based on such applicable rating of the
Company. The Company had no amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility as of September 30, 2020 and 2018,

At September 30, 2020, future principal payments on the Company's oufstanding debt were as follows:
For the Years Ending September 30,

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereattar Total
(in millions)
Future principal payments $3000 %1000 $2250 %3 — % — B 17,750 § 24,000

Mote 11—Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company sponsors various qualified and non-qualified defined benefit pension and other postretirernent
benefit plans that provide for retirement and medical benefits for all eligible employees residing in the U.S. The
Company also sponsors olher pension benefit plans that provide benefits for internationally-based employees at
cerfain non-U.3. locafions.

Disclosures presented below include the U.S, pension plans and the non-U.5, plans, comprising only the Visa
Europe plans. Disclosures relaling to other U5, postretirement benefit plans and other non-U.S. pension benefit
plans are not included as they are immaterial, individually and in aggregate. The Company uses a September 30
measurement date for its pension and other postrefirement benafit plans,

Defined benefit pension pians. The U_S. pension benefits under the defined benefil pension plan were eamed
based on a cash balance formula, An employee's cash balance account was crediled with an amount equal 1o 6%
of eligible compensation plus interest based on 30-year Treasury securities. In Oclober 215, the Company's board
of direclors approved an amendment of the U.S. qualified defined benefit pension plan such that the Company
discontinued employer provided credits after December 31, 2015, Plan paricipants continue 1o earn interest credits
on existing balances ai the time of the freeze.

The funding policy for the U.S. pension benefits is to contribute annually no less than the minimum required
corfribution under ERISA.

Under the Visa Europe plans, retirement benefits are provided based on the paricipants” final pensionable pay
and are curently closed fo new enfrants. However, future benefits confinue to accrue for active paricipants, The
funding policy is fo confribute in accordance with the appropriate funding requirements agreed with the trustees of
the UK pension plans. Addiional funding amounts may be agreed 1o with the UK pension plan trusiees,
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A recondiliation of pension benefit obligations, plan assels, funded status and amounts recognized in the
Company's consolidated balance sheets were as follows:

U5, Plans Wondl. S, Plans
September 30, Seplember 30,
2020 209 2020 2019
{in millions)

Change in pension benefit obligation:

EBenefit obligation at beginning of period % 29 & g44 % 528 % 452
Service cost = — 4 4
Inerest cost 28 32 10 13
Aciuarial loss {gain) a 95 11 108
Benefit payments (64) (52) (17) {22)
Plan amendment —_ — —_— 1
Foreign currency exchange rate changes — — 27 {25

Benefit obligation al end of period i 920 5 g918 § 563 3 528

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 920 § 019 § 563 S 528

Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 1,080 % 1080 % 490 % 436
Actual retum on plan assets 114 52 5 g3
Company confribution 2 — 22 10
Benefit payments (64) {52) (17 (22)
Foreign currency exchange rale changes —_— — 25 {27)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 5 1,142 & 1,080 % 525 % 480

Funded status at end of period % 222 % 171§ {38) % {38)

Recognized in consolidated balance sheets:

Won-current asset % 229 § 178 % - 5 —
Current liability (1) {1) - —
Non-current liability {6} {6) (38} {38)
Funded status at end of period i 222 § 171 i {38) 5 iGBi

87
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Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) before tax consist of the following:

.5_ Plans MNondl. 5. Plans
Seplember 30, September 30,
2020 2048 2020 2048
{in millions)
Net actuarial loss 5 135 & 154 § 93 & 70
Benefit obligations in excess of plan assels were as follows:
LS, Plans Non-U.S, Plans
September 30, September 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019
(in millions)
Accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets
Accumulated benefit abligation at end of period 5 (M % (7) § (563) & (528)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period % — 5 — % 525 % 480
Projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets

Benefit obligation at end of period $ (7 & (T)  (563) 3 (528
Fair value of plan asseis at end of period $ - 5 i | 525 % 480
Wel periodic benefil cost consist of the following:
U.S. Plans MNon=U.5. Plans
For the Years Ended September 30,
2020 2018 2018 2020 2018 2018
{in millicns)
Service cost $ — 3 — % — 3 4 5 4 % 4
Interest cost 28 32 a2 10 13 12
Expected retum on assets {72) (71) (70) (15} {18) (20
Amortization of actuarial loss 6 - — 2 - —
Settlement loss 8 7. 3 — — —
Total net periodic benefitcost................. § (30) & (32) & (35 § 1 5 (1) {4}

The service cost component of net periodic benefit cost is presenied in personnel expenses while the other
components are presented in other non-operating income (expense) on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations,

Other changes in plan assetls and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) consist
of the following;

U.5. Plans Nondl 5. Flans
For the Years Ended Seplember 30,
2020 2018 28 2020 218 20138
{in millions)

Curreni year actuarial loss (gain) $ (5 3 114 & (47) % 21 § 27 % an
Amortization of actuarial {loss) gain {14) {7 (3 {(2) = o
Current year prior service cost — - — — 1 —
Total recognized in other comprehensive

income (loss).........cooivvciiciiiiiiies. B 19 & 107 % (501 % 19 5 28 % 30

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cos
and other comprehensive income (loss) $ __(49) 3 5. S (85 8 20 S 27 % 26

)
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Weighted-average actuarial assumptions used {o estimate the benefit obligation and net pericdic benefit cost
were as follows:

LS. Plans Hon-U.S. Plans
For the Years Ended Seplember 10,
2020 219 2018 2020 215 2018
Discount rate for benefit obligation:
Pension VA 288% 326% 423% 160% 180% 2.980%
Discount rate for net periodic benefit cost:
Pension 327% 423% 384% 180% 280% 270%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets T00% 700% 700% 300% 300% 4.25%
Rate of increase!” in compensation levels for:

Benefit obligation ; NA WA NA 250% 250% 3.20%

Net perindic benefit cost NA hA NA  250% 250% 3.20%

M This assumplion & nol apglicabde for the U.S. plans due to the amendment of the U S, cualified defined benefil pension plan in Ootober 2015,
which discontinued Lhe employer provided credils affective after December 31, 2015

Pension Plan Assels

Pension plan assels are managed with a long-lem perspective 1o ensure that there is an adequate level of
asseis to support benefit payments fo paricipants over the life of the pension plan. Pension plan assets are
managed by external invesiment managers. Investment manager performance is measured against benchmarks for
each assel class on a quartedy basis. An independent consultant assists management with investment manager
selections and performance evaluations.

Pension plan assets are broadly diversified to maintain a prudent level of risk and 1o provide adequate liguidity
for benefit payments. The Company generally evaluates and rebalances pension plan asseis, as appropriate, o
ensure that allocations are consistent with ils investment strategy and within target allocation ranges. For U5
pension plan assets, the Company’s investiment strategy is to invest in the following: equity securities of 35% o
65%, fixed income securiies of 43% to 53% and other, primarnily consisting of cash equivalents 1o meet near term
expected benefit payments and expenses, of up o 4%. At September 30, 2020, U.S. pension plan asset allocations
for these categories were 53%., 46% and 1%, respeciively, which were within target allocation ranges.

For non-U.S. pension plan assets, the Company's investment strategy is to investin the following: equity funds
of 12%, interest and inflation hedging assets of 50% and other of 38%, consisting of cash and cash equivalents,
corporate debt and asset-backed securifies, mulli-asset funds and property. Al September 30, 2020, non-U.5.
pension plan asset allocations for these categores were 139%, 50% and 379%, respectively, which generally aligned
with the target allocations.
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The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the pension plans’ invesiments al fair
value as of Seplember 30, 2020 and 2019, including the impact of ransactions that were not seffled at the end of
Seplember:

U.5. Plans
Falr Value Measursments af September 30 Using Inputs Considered as
Level 4 Lovel 2 Level 3 Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2018 2020 2019
{in millions)
Cash equivalents $ 17 % 18 § — § — % — &% — § 17 % 18
Collective investment funds —_ — 509 280 — e 509 580
Corporate debl securities — — T3 188 — — 73 188
U.3. government-sponsored debt
securities = -— a0 35 — e 30 30
U.5. Treasury securifies. 84 a0 — = — == a4 ot}
Asset-backed securifies — — —_ - ar 37 ar 37
Equity securlies 92 133 —_ — — - 92 133
TR i il e ﬁm iimi_ﬂ'?&_ﬂ.?ﬁi w
Hon-U.5. Plans
Fair Value Measurements al Seplember 30 Using Inputs Considered as
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2020 2019 2020 219 2020 2019 2020 209
(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6 3% 16% —§ — % —% — % 6 % 16
Equity securnlies = 66 - —_ - G6
Corporate debt securities —_ — 48 44 —_ - 48 44
Asset-backed securities . ; —_ — — — 67 51 &7 = |
Equity funds - — 65 - — = 65 —
Multi-asset securities! " — — 339 313 — — 339 313

b e e e e e T i 6 E 82 i 452 2 357 i 67T § 51 £525 Edﬂﬁ

M Mulll-asset securties represent penslon plan assets that ane invested in funds comprsed of broad ranges of assals

Level 7 assets. Cash equivalents (money market funds and time depositls), U.S5. Treasury securilies and equity
securties are classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, as fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets.

Level 2 assets. Collective invesiment funds are unregistered investment vehicles that generally commingle the
assels of multiple fiduciary clients, such as pension and other employee benefit plans, 10 invest in a porifolio of
stocks, bonds or other securities. Although the collective investment funds held by the plan are ultimately invested in
publicly traded equity securities, their own unit values are not directly observable, and therefore they are classified
as Level 2, Equity funds are invesimenis in muiual funds that intum ulimately invest in equity securlies of various
jurisdictions. These are classified as level 2 as the equity funds held by the plan are not actively fraded bul the fair
value of underhyving securities are generally, although not always, determined with observable data and inputs. The
fair values of corporate debt, multi-asset and U.S. government-sponsored securities are based on quoted prices in
active markets for similar, not identical, assets.

Level 3 assets. Assel-backed securities are bonds that are backed by various types of assets and primarily
consist of morgage-backed securities. Asset-backed secunties are classified as Level 3 due fo a lack of observable
inputs in measuring fair value,
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Cash Flows

Expected future employer contributions and benefit payments are as follows:
U.S. Flans HNon-U.5, Plans

{in millions)

Expected employer contributions

2021 B 1 % 10
Expected benefit payments

2021 ; 130 7
2022 a3 7
2023 &85 8
2024 80 8
2025 74 B
2026-2030 285 43

Other Benefits

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan, or 401(k) plan, that covers substantially all of is
employees residing in the U.S. In fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, personnel costs included $140 million, $121 million,
and $93 million, respectively, of expenses atiributable to the Company's employees under the 401(k) plan. The
Company’s contributions to this 401{k) plan are funded on a current basis, and the related expenses are recognized
in the period that the payroll expenses are incurmed,

Note 12—Settlement Guarantee Management

The Company indemnifies its clients for setiement losses suffered due 1o failure of any other client to fund its
setflement obligations in accordance with the Visa operating rules. This indemnification creates setilement risk for
the Company due 1o the difference in iming between the date of a payment transaction and the date of subsequent
settlement.

Historically, the Company has experienced minimal losses as a resull of s setllerment risk guaraniee.
However, the Company's fulure obligations, which could be material under its guarantees, are not determinable as
they are dependent upon fulure events,

The Company’s selement exposure is limited fo the amount of unsettled Visa payment fransactions at any
point in fime, which vary significantly day to day. During the year ended Seplember 30, 2020, the Company's
maximum settlement exposure was 397.3 billion and the average daily settlement exposure was $55.6 billion.

The Company maintains and regulady reviews global setlement risk policies and procedures to manage
setflement exposure, which may reqguire clients to post collateral if cerfain credit standards are not met. A
Seplember 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company held the following collateral 1o manage setilement exposure:

Seplember 30,
2020 2018
{in millions}
Resfricted cash and restricted cash equivalents % 1850 % 1,648
Pledged securifies at market value 228 258
Letters of credit 1,306 1,283
Guarantees 717 47T

™
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Note 13—Derivative Financial Instruments

Designated dervative financial instrument hedges. At September 30, 2020 and 2019, the aggregate notional
amount of the Company's derivative confracts oulstanding in its hedge program was $10.7 billion and $10.9 billion,
respectively.

Cash Flow Hedges

As of September 30, 2020 and 2018, the Company's cash flow hedges in an asset position otaled 571 million
and 547 million, respectively, and were classified in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated
balance sheeis. As of Seplember 20, 2020 and 2019 cash flow hedges in a liability position tolaled $39 million and
£31 million, respectively, and were classified in accrued liabililies on the consolidated balance sheets, These
amounts are subject o master netting agreements, which provide the Company with a legal right to net setile
multiple payable and receivable positions with the same counterparty, in a single currency through a single
payment. However, the Company presents fair values on a gross basis on the consolidated balance sheets. See
Mote 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The Company uses regression analysis 1o assess hedge effecliveness prospedlively and retrospectively, The
effectiveness tests are performed on foreign exchange forward confracts based on changes in the spot rate of the
derivalive instrument compared to changes in the spot rate of the forecasted hedged transaction. Forward points
are excluded from effecliveness testing and measurement purposes. Excluded forward points are reported in
earnings. For fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, the amounts by which eamings were reduced relating 1o excluded
forward points from cash flow hedges were $9 million, $12 millien and $9 million, respectively.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivalive confracts designated as cash flow hedges is
recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the consolidated balance sheets,
When the forecasted fransaction occurs and is recognized in eamings, the amount in accumulated other
comprehensive income or loss related to that hedge is reclassified 1o operating revenue or expense, During fiscal
2021, the Company expects fo reclassity $40 million of pre-ax gains to eamings.

MNet Investment and Fair Value Hedges

In fiscal 2012, the Company enfered inlo foreign exchange forward confracts which were designated as a net
investment hedge against a porlion of the Company’s net investment in Visa Europe.

In fiscal 2018, the Company also entered info interest rale and cross-cumency swap agreemenis on a portion
of the Company's outstanding 3.15% Senior Notes due December 2025. The Company designaled the interest rate
swap as a fair value hedge and the cross-curmency swap as a net investment hedge.

As of September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s net investment hedges in an asset position totaled 5186
million and $298 million, respeclively, and were classified in prepaid expenses and other current assets and other
assets on the consolidated balance sheets. As of Seplember 30, 2020, the Company's net invesiment hedges in a
liability position was $137 million, and classified in other liabilifies on the consolidated balance sheets,

As of September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s fair value hedges in an asset posifion fotaled 5248 million
and %89 million, respectively, and were classified in other assels on the consolidaied balance sheeis, As of
September 30, 2019, the Company's fair value hedges in a liability position was $2 million and was classified in
other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

For fiscal 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded an increase in eamings of $150 million and %95 million,
respectively, related to forward points and interest differentials from forward contracts and swap agreements,
respectively, which are excluded from effectiveness testing.

Non-designated dervative financial insfrument hedges

The Company utiizes foreign exchange derivative confracts to hedge against foreign currency exchange rale
fluctuations related to certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency, As of September 30,
2020 and 2019, the aggregate notional amount of these balance sheet hedges was $1.6 billion and $0.8 billion,
respectively. As of September 30, 2020 and 2018, the Company’s balance sheet hedges in an assel position totaled
£7 million and $3 million, respeclively, and were classified in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets, while

o2
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balance sheet hedges in a liability posifion fotaled 35 million and $19 million, respectively, and were classified in
accrued liabilifies on the consolidated balance sheets.

Credit and market risks. The Company's derivative financial instruments are subject o both credit and market
risk. The Company monitors the credit-worthiness of the financial institutions that are counterparties o its derivative
financial instruments and does not consider the risks of counterparty nonperformance to be significanr. The
Company mitigates this risk by entering into master netting agreements, and such agreements require each party 1o
post collateral against its net liability position with the respective counterparly. As of Seplember 30, 2020, the
Company has received collateral of 364 million, from counterparties, which is included in accrued liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets, and posfed collateral of $26 million, which is included in prepaid expenses and other
current assets in the consolidated balance sheeis. Notwithstanding the Company's efforts to manage foreign
exchange sk, there can be no absolute assurance that its hedging activities will adequately protect against the
risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Credit and marncet risks related 1o derivative instruments were
not considered significant as ot September 30, 2020,

Note 14—Enterprise-wide Disclosures and Concentration of Business

The Company's long-lived nel property and equipment and ROU assets are classified by major geographic
areas as follows:

Septomber 30,
2020 2019™"
{in millions)
Us.... . : o . L . $ 1,350 § 1,186
International 558 263

M The flacal 2012 amounts have been revised o conform o the fiscal 2020 presentation.

Revenues by geographic market is primarily based on the location of the issuing financial instiution. Ned
revenues earmed in the U.S. were approximately 46% of total net revenues in fiscal 2020 and 45% of tofal net
revenues in each of fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, No individual country, other than the U.5.. generated more than
10% of total net revenues in these years.

In fiscal 2020, the Company had two dients that accounted for 11% and 10% of iz total net revenues,
respectively. In fiscal 2019 and 2018, no clients generated greater than 10% of the Company’s todal net revenues.

Mote 15—Stockholders’ Equity

Senes A preferred stock issuance. In September 2020, the Company issued 374,819 shares of series A
preferred stock in connection with the Fourth anniversary release. See Nofe 5—ULS. and Europe Retrospective
Responsibility Plans.
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As-converted class A common stock. The number of shares of each series and class, and the number of
shares of class A common stock on an as-converied basis at September 30, 2020 and 2019, were as follows:

September 30,
2020 2048
Conversion Ag- Converaion Aga
Rate Into converted Rate Into converted
Class A Class A Class A Class A
Shares Common Cﬂﬂocl‘:ﬁn Shares Common Com m
Ouitstanding Stock Stock’" Cutstanding Stock Stock'"
(in millions, except conversion rate)
Series A preferred stock — ¥ 100.0000 15 - - - -
UKEl preferred stock 2 6.38T70 16 g 12 83680 32
Europe prefemed stock 3 6.8610 22 3 13.8840 44
Class A common stock™ 1,683 i 1,683 1,718 = 1,718
Class B common stock 245 1.6228 @ 308 245 1.6228 @ 398
Class C common stock 11 4,0000 43 11 40000 45

T s e ey 2 187 2,237
_—

" Figures In the table may not recaloulate exadtly due to rounding. As-converied class A common stock is caloulated based on enrounded
numbars

# The number of shanms oulstanding was less than one milion,

® Class A common siock shares outstanding reflect repurchases settled on or before Seplember 30, 2020 and 2019,

“ The class B to class A common stock comversion mie s presented on a munded basis. Conversion caloulations for dividend payments. ane
basad on a conversion rate munded Io the lerth dadmal

Reduction in as-converted shares. Under the terms of the Europe retrospective responsibility plan, the
Company is entifed to recover VE teritory covered losses through periodic adjustments 1o the class A common
stock conversion rates applicable o the UK&I and Europe preferred stock. The recovery has the same economic
effect on eamings per share as repurchasing the Company’s class A common stock, because it reduces the UKEI
and Europe preferred stock conversion rates and consequently, reduces the as-converted class A common stock
share count, See Note 5—ULS. and Ewrope Retrospective Responsibility Flans,

The following table presents the reduction in as-converled UK&| and Europe preferred siock afier the
Company recovered VE terrifory covered losses recovered through conversion rate adjustments and the Fourth
anniversary release:

For the Years Ended September 30,
2020 20158 Zina
UKEI Europe UKEI Europe UK EI Europe

{in millions, except per share data)

Reduction in equivalent number of
as-converted shares of class A

common stoek 16 22 — = — — (n
Effective price per share'® $ 18431 $ 19433 $141.32 £15026  §113.05 §11282
Recovery through conversion rate

adjustment $ 72§ 92 § 6 & 2 % H F 2
Fourth anniversary release $ 3084 $§ 4,216 S - b —  § — & —

M The reduction in equivalent number of shares of class A common siock was less than ong million shanss.

¥ Eflecdive price per sham for sach adjustment mace dudng the year s caleulated using the velume-weighled average price of the Comparny's
dass A common slock over a pricing period In accordance with the Company’s current cerlificales of designalions for s seras B and G
convertible paricipating prefered slock, Effective price per share for each fiscal year s cakulsted using the weighlad-average effective
prices of the respedive adjusbiments made during the year
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Under the terms of the .3, retrospedlive responsibility plan, when the Company makes a deposit info the
litigation escrow account, the shares of class B common stock are subject fo dilution through a reduction fo the
conversion rafe of the shares of class B common stock 1o shares of class A common slock. See Naote 5—U5. and
Europe Retrospective Responsibility Fians,

The following fable presents the reduction in as-converled class B common stock affer deposits into the
litigation escrow account for the following fiscal years:

For the Years Ended September 30,
2020 2019 2018

(in millions, except par share data)

Reduction in equivalent number of as-converled shares of class A

common stock — 2 5
Effective price per share!" . $ — % 17473 § 13232
Deposits under the U.S. refrospective responsibility plan $ = 300 S 600

" Efedive pice per share s calculated using the valuma-weighled average price of the Company’s class A comman slock over a prdng
pariod in accordance with the Company’s current cenificata of incorporation

Common sfock repurchases. The following fable presents share repurchases in the open market for the
following fiscal years:

For the Years Ended September 30,

2020 2019 2018

{in millions, except per share data)
Shares repurchased in the open market'" 44 56 58
Average repurchase price per share™ 4 $ 183.00 F 1540 % 12376
Total cost $§ 8114 & B8B0OT % T182

M Shares repurchased in the open marked reflec repurchases that setlled durng fscal 2020, 2009 and 2018 Al shares epurchased in the
. open market have been relired and constiute authorized bul unissusd shares
¥ Awverzge repurchase price per share is caloulated based on unroended numbers

In January 2019, the Company's board of directors authorized an $8.5 billion share repurchase program and in
January 2020, authorized an additional $9.5 billion share repurchase program (the “January 2020 Program”). This
authorization has no expiration date. As of September 30, 2020, the Company's January 2020 program had
remaining awthorized funds of $5.5 billion. All share repurchase programs authorized prior fo January 2020 have
been completed.

Dividends declared. In fiscal 2020, the Company declared and paid $2.7 billion in dividends al a quarerdy raie
of $0.20 per share. On October 23, 2020, the Company’s board of directors declared a gquarerly cash dividend of
£0.32 per share of class A common slock {determined in the case of class B and C common stock and series A,
UK&I and Europe preferred stock on an as-converled basis), which will be paid on December 1, 2020, 1o all holders
of record of the Company's common and preferred stock as of November 13, 2020,

Cilass B cormmon stock. The class B common stock is not converible or transferable until the date on which all
of the U.5. covered litigation has been finally resolved. This transfer restriction is subject to limited exceptions,
including transters 1o other holders of class B common stock. After termination of the resirictions, the class B
common stock will be convertible into class A common stock if fransterred to a person that was not a Visa Member
{as defined in the current cedificate of incorporation) or similar person or an affiliate of a Visa Member or similar
person. Upon such transfer, each share of class B common stock will automatically convert into a number of shares
of class A common stock based upon the applicable conversion rate in effect at the time of such fransfer,

Adjustment of the conversion rate occurs upon: (i) the completion of any tolloa-on offering of class A common
stock completed 1o increase the size of the U.S. liigation escrow account (or any cash deposit by the Company in
liew thereof) resulling in & fudher corresponding decrease in the conversion rate; or (i) the final resolution of the
U.S, covered litigation and the release of funds remaining on deposil in the U.S. litigation escrow account to the
Company resulling in a corresponding increase in the conversion rate. See Note 5—ULS. and Europe Refrospective
Responsibiity Plans.

a5
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Class C common stock. As of Seplember 30, 2020, all of the shares of class C common slock have been
released from fransfer restrictions. A total of 140 million shares have been converled from class C o class A
common stock upon their sale into the public market.

FPreferred sfocik. In conneclion with the Visa Europe acquisifion, three new seres of preferred stock of the
Company were created. Upon issuance, all of the preferred stock participate on an as-converted basis in regular
guarterly cash dividends declared on the Company’s class A common stock. Preferred stock may be issued as
redeemable or non-redeemable, and has preference over any class of common stock with respect to the payment of
dividends and distibution of the Company's assets in the event of a liguidation or dissolution.

The UK&l and Europe preferred stock is convertible upon certain conditions info shares of class A common
stock or series A preferred stock. The shares of UK&| and Europe preferred stock are subject o restrictions on
franster and may become convertible in stages based on developments in the VE terrifory covered litigation. The
shares of UK&| and Europe preferred stock will become fully convertible on the 12ih anniversary of the closing of
the Visa Europe acquisilion, subject only 1o a holdback 1o cover any then-pending claims. Upon any such
conversion of the UK&! or Europe preferred stock (whether by such 12th anniversary, or thereafier with respect 1o
claims pending on such anniversary), the conversion rate would be adjusted downward and the holder would
receive either class A common stock or series A preferred stock (for those who are not eligible to hold class A
common stock pursuant o the Company's charter), The conversion rates may also be reduced from fime to time {o
offset cerain liabilties.

The series A preferred stock, generally designed to be economically equivalent 1o the Company’s class A
common stock, is freely fransferable and each share of series A preferred stock will automatically convert into 100
shares of class A common stock upon a transfer 1o any holder that is eligible to hold class A common stock under
the charter. See Nofe 5—LU45, and Europe Refrospective Responsibitity Plans.

Vating rights. The holders of the UK&I and Europe preferred stock have no right to vole on any matters, excepl
for certain defined matters, including, in specified cireumstances, any consolidation, merger, combination or similar
fransaction of the Company in which the preferred stockholders would either (i) receive shares of common stock or
other equity securilies of the Company with preterences, rights and privileges that are not substantially identical o
the preferences, rights and privileges of the applicable seres of preferred stock or (i) receive securities, cash or
other property that is different from what the Company's class A common stockholders would receive, With respect
to these limited matters on which the holders of preferred stock may vote, approval by the preferred stockholders
requires the affirmative vote of the outstanding voling power of each such seres of preferred stock, each such
senes voling as a single class. In either case, the UK&! and Europe preferred stockholders are enfited to cast a
number of voles equal to the number of shares held by each such holder. Holders of the series A preferred stock,
upon issuance at conversion, will have similar voling rights 1o the righls of the holders of the UK&I and Europe
preferred stock,

Class A common stockholders have the right 1o vode on all matters on which stockheolders generally are entiied
fo vote. Class B and C common stockholders have no nghl fo vote on any matlers, except for cerain defined
matters, including {i) any decision to exil the core payments business, in which case the class B and C common
stockholders will vote together with the class A common stockholders in a single class, and (i) in specified
circumsiances, any consolidation, merger, combination or similar fransaction of the Company, in which case the
class B and C common stockholders will vote fogedher as a single dass. In either case, the class B and C common
stockholders are entitled 1o cast a number of votes equal 1o the number of shares of class B or C common stock
held multiplied by the applicable conversion rate in effect on the record date. Holders of the Company’s common
stock have no right to vole on any amendment to the current cerificate of incorporation that relates solely 1o any
sernes of preferred stock.
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Note 16—Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to each class by the weighted-average
nurnber of shares of common stock outstanding and participating securities during the period. Net income is
allocated 1o each class of common stock and paricipating securifies based on its proporional ownership on an as-
converted basis. The weighted-average number of shares of each class of common stock outstanding reflects
changes in ownership over the periods presented. See Note 15—Stockholders’ Equity.

Diluted earnings per share is compuled by dividing net income available by the weighted-average number of
shares of common stock outstanding, padicipating securifies and, if dilutive, potential cass A common stock
equivalent shares outstanding during the period. Dilufive class A common siock equivalents may consist of. (1)
shares of class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of series A, UK&| and Europe preferred stock and
class B and C common stock based on the conversion rates in effect through the period, and (2) incremental shares
of class A common stock calculated by applying the freasury stock method to the assumed exercise of employee
stock oplions, the assumed purchase of stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the assumed vesting
of unearned performance shares.

The following table presenis earnings per share for fiscal 2020

Basie Earnings Per Share Diluted Earnings Per Share

Welghte - Weighted-
Aigcan Bhane S hams  Alocagon  Shane g
(A" _Outstanding (8 (AMEI® (AI' __ _Oustanding (8) (Avis1”
(im millions, except per share data)
Class A common stock § 8310 1697 & 4.90 § 10868 2,223 Mg 4,85
Class B common stock 1,951 245 § 7.84 1,848 245 5 7.93
Class G common stock 214 1 3 19.58 214 1 5 19.56
Parlicipating securities™ 01 Mot presented Mot presented 391 Mot presented Met presented
Net income $ 1ﬂlﬂﬁﬁ

The following table presents eamings per share for fiscal 2019;

Basic Eamings Per Share Diluted Earnings Per Share
i b1 Eaeni | g Earni
Allpation Shares. Sharas  Allocation Shares. "Shant
H Outstanding (B} TAJE) [ Outstanding (8} {ApEY?
(in millions, sxcept per share data)
Class A common stock § 027 1.742 § 532 $ 12,080 2272 Mg 5.32
Class B common stock 2,130 245 & 858 227 245 & 3.66
Class C common stock 247 12- 3 21.30 246 12 s 21.26
Participating securities®™! 430 Nolpresented Mot presentad 429 Not presonted Mol presantesd
Met income i 12,080
The following table presenis eamings per share for fiscal 2018:
Basic Eamings Per Share Giluted Earnings Per hare
Weights d- Waightsd-
Income Average Earnings per Income Average Eamings per
Allscation Shares Share = Allseation Shams Share =
Ay Outstanding [5) [ A Cutstanding (8) {ayrEyY
{in millions, sxcept per share data)
Class A common stock $ 7.937 1.792 % 443 % 10301 2320 B g 4.42
Class B common siock 1,787 245 & 728 1,785 245 5 7.27
Class C common stock. 218 12 § 1772 217 12 5 17.69
Participating securities™ 359 Natpresentad  Net prasented 358  Motpresented Mot pressentad
Met income.. 5 10,304
a7
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M Met income is allbealed basad on propodional pwnership on an as-converdad basis. The weighled-average number of shares of as-converded

dazs B common stock used In the income allocation was 393 milion, 400 million nd 403 milllon for fiscal 2020, 2012 and 2018, espectively.

The welghted-average number of shanes of as-convertad class C commaon stock used in the income allocation was 44 million, 456 milion and

48 milion for fscal 2020, 2012 and 2018, respeclively. The weighled-average number of shares of prefored slock induded within

paricipating securtles was 1 milBan of as-comvenad sodles A prolarred slock for fiscal 2020, 32 million of as-comveded UKE praforad slock

for each of fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, and 43 milllon of as-converted Europe prefemed slock for fiscal 2020 and 44 million of as-comvered

Europe prafarmed siock for each of fiscal 2019 and 2018

Figures in the tatde may nol recalcuials exaclly due o munding. Eamings per share is calculaled based on unrounded numbsoers.

® ywWelghted-average diluled shares ouisianding are calculated on an as-convened basle, and Include incremental common slock equbvalents,
as calkoulaled under the freasury stock method. The compudation indudes 3 million common stock eguivalents for each of fiscal 2020, 2012
and 2018 bacauss their effect would have bean dilulive. The compulation excludes 1 million of common slock aquivalents for each of fiscal
2020, 2019 and 2018, because thelr efiect would have been and-diluthve.

! Participating securiies incluce prefered stock outsianding and unvesied share-based payment awards thel contzin non-forfeltable rights o
dividendds or dividend equivalents, such as the Company’s seres A prefemed stock. UKE| and Europe preferred slock. restricled slock
awards, restricled slock units and eamed performance-based shares Paicipating securities’ income |s aliocaled based on the weighled-
averzge number of shares of as-converied stock. See Node 15—Sicckhoiders ' Equily.

(4]

Mote 17—Share-based Compensation

2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan

The Company's 2007 Equity Incentive Compensation Plan, or the EIP. authorizes the compensation commitiee
of the board of directors to grant non-qualified stock oplions ("oplions”), restricted stock awards ("RS5As"), restricled
stock wnits (*RSUs") and performance-based shares 1o its employees and non-employee directors, for up 1o
236 million shares of class A common stock. Shares available for award may be either authorized and unissued or
previously issued shares subsequently acquired by the Company. The EIP will confinue to be in effect until all of the
common stock available under the EIP is delivered and all restricions on those shares have lapsed, unless the EIP
is terminated earlier by the Company's board of directors. Awards may be granted under the plan until January 31,
2022,

For fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recorded share-based compensation cost related 1o the EIP of
$393 million, $388 milion and $312 million, respectively, in personnel expense on s consolidated statements of
operations, The related tax benefits for fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018 were 363 million, $52 million and $53 million,
respectively.

Options

Options issued under the EIP expire 10 years from the date of grant and primarily vest ratably over 3 years

from the dafe of grant, subject to earlier vesting in full under certain conditions.

During fiscal 2020, 2012 and 2018, the fair value of each stock option was estimated on the date of grant using
a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

For the Years Ended September 30,

2020 218 218
Expected term (in years)'" : ; 4.03 3.98 4.00
Risk-free rate of return'® 1.6 % 209 20 %
Expected volatility™ 18.7 % 20.2 % 183 %
Expected dividend }ﬂeld“" 0.7 % 0.7 9 0.7 %
Fair value per option granted $ 2931 % 2589 % 18.24

M Untl March 2078, this assumption was based on the Company's historcal option exercises and those of & set of pesr companies that
manzgement belleved o be generally comparable to Visa. The Company’s dala was weighted based on the number of years between the
measurameant datle and Visa's IPO dale as a percanlage of the oplions’ contraciual arm. The relative weighting placed on Visa's dala and
poer data for slock options granted wntil March 2018 was approsimately 97% and 3% In fiscal 2078, respaciively. The assumplions for stock
options granted after March 2018 was based on Visa's hislorical exercise experiance as the passage of lime since the Company's IPOQ has
axcesdan 10 yaars.

E - Based upon the zero coupon U5, reasury bond rale over the expectod torm of the awards,

¥ Based on the Company's Implied and historical volatiity

# Basad on the Company’s annual dividend rafe on the cate of grant
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The following table summarizes the Company's oplion activity for fiscal 2020:

Weightod.
Welghted- R‘:m: Aggregale
Avlgragn comrar:tugl g?rin%ic
Exercise Price Term Value'"
Options Per Share {in yoars) (in millians)
Outstanding at September 30, 2019 . 5714658 § 90.18
Gramed 1247982 § 182.50
Forfeiled . (67,193) & 140147
Expired. —_ 5 ooz
Exercised {1,108,898) % 63.53
Qutstanding at September 30, 2020.................. 5,786,549 $ 114,61 6.87 % 494
Options exercisable at September 30, 2020 3425611 & a87.28 578 % 386
Options exercisable and Expemgd to vest at
September 30, 20202 e 5,718,325 § 113.96 684 5 492

"' Calcutated vsing the dosing slock price on the kst trading day of fiscal 2020 of $199.97. less the oplion exercise price, mulliplied by the
y numbsar of instruments
= Applied A forfel e rate to unvested opdions oulstanding at Seplamber 30, 2020 to estimata the oplions oxpected to vest in the flune,

For the options exercised during fiscal 2020, 2012 and 2018, the fodal infrinsic value was $146 million, $107
million and $249 million, respectively, and the tax benefil realized was 531 million, $23 million and $55 million,
respedively. As of September 30, 2020, there was 522 million of fotal unrecognized compensafion cost related fo
unvisted options, which is expecled to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 0.45 years.

Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Units

R3As and RSUs issued under the EIP pimarily vest ratably over 3 years from the date of grant, subject 1o
earlier vesting in full under certain conditions.

Upeon vesting, the RSAs are setfled in class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. During the vesting period,
RSA award recipients are eligible to receive dividends and paricipate in the same voling rights as those granted 1o
the holders of the underlying class A common stock. Upon vesting, RSUs can be setfled in class A common stock
on a one-for-one basis or in cash, or a combination thereof, al the Company's option. The Company does not
currenily imtend 1o seile any RSUs in cash. During the vesfing period, RSU award recipients are eligible to receive
dividend equivalents, bul do not paricipate in the voting rights granted to the holders of the underying class A
common stock. The Company disconfinued granting RSAs in fiscal 2016 but will continue 1o grant REUs under the
EIRP. As of September 30, 2018, there were no RSAs oulstanding.

The fair value and compensation cost before estimated forfeilures for RSAs and RSUs is caleulated using the
closing price of dass A common stock on the dale of grant. The weighled-average grant date fair value of RSUs
granted during fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $183.61, $137.38 and $111.11, respectively. The total grant date fair
value of RSAs and RSUs vested during fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $284 million, $228 million and 5183 million,
respectively,
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The following fable summarizes the Company's RSU aclivity for fiscal 2020;

Weighted-
Avorage
Remaining
Weightod- A ata
A\E " Contractual mg?r:?-lgin
Restricted Grant Date Term Value'!
Stock Units Fair Value {in years) (in millions)
Ouistanding at September 30, 2019 5,166,759 % 118.79
Granted 2352714 § 183.61
Vested (2,561,379) § 110.73
Forfeited (26T7594) 147.70
Outstanding at September 30, 2020 ... ... . 4 agE inu g 154.06 0.83 % 938

M Calcutatad by mudtiplying the closing stock price on the last rading day of fiscal 2020 of $198.57 by the number of Instrurments.

At September 30, 2020, there was 5381 million of fotal unrecognized compensation cost related 1o unvestied
RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average perod of approximately 0.83 years.

Performance-based Sharos

For the Company's performance-based shares, in addition o service condifions, the ultimate number of shares
1o be earmned depends on the achieverment of both performance and market condifions. The performance condition
is based on the Company's eamings per share fargel. The markei condifion is based on the Company's ioial
shareholder refurn ranked against that of other companies that are included in the Standard & Poor's 500 Index.
The fair value of the performance-based shares for fiscal 2020, incorporating the markel conditfion, is estimated on
the grant date using a Monte Cado simulation model with the following weighted-average assumplions: risk-free
rate of retumn of 1.69%, expected 1erm of 1.0 years, expected volatility of 20.9% and expected dividend yield of 0.7%.
The grani-date fair value of performance-based shares granted in fiscal 2020, 2012 and 2018 was $211.08, $153.42
and $120.11 per share, respectively. Performance-based shares vest over three years and are subject to earlier
vesting in full under cerlain condiions. The total gramt date fair value of performance-based shares vested and
earned during fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018 was 565 million, $41 million and $31 million, respectively,

Compensation cost for performance-based shares is initially estimated based on target performance. | is
recorded net of estimated forfeitures and adjusied as appropriate throughout the performance period.

The following table summarnzes the maximum number of performance-based shares which could be eamed
and related activity for fiscal 2020;

Welghted-
Average
Woightod- Remaining
Average Contractual "ﬁ?,,;:i;:’
Grant Date Term Value'"
Shares Fair Valug {in years} {in millians)
Outstanding at September 30, 2019 1070690 $  120.08
Granted® 470128 % 211.08
Vested and earmed (546,018) § 118.18
Uneamed — % —
Forfeited — & e
Outstanding at September 30, 2020........................ 094800 % 171.32 0.73 % 199

M Caleutated by mudtiplying the closing stock price on the last rading day of fiscal 2020 of 519597 by tha numbes of Instruments
“ Reprasents the maximum number of performance-based shares which could be earmed.

At September 30, 2020, there was 520 million of fotal unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested
performance-based shares, which is expected 1o be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately
0.73 years,
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Visa Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan {the *ESPP") permils eligible employees to purchase the
Company's class A common stock at a 15% discount of the stock price on the purchase date, subject to certain
restriclions. A total of 20 million shares of cdass A common stock have been reserved for issuance under the ESPP.
In fizcal 2020, 2019 and 2018, the ESPP did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Note 18—Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments. The Company has soffware licenses throughout the word with varying expiration dates. A
September 30, 2020, future minimum payments on software licenses are as follows:

Faor the Years Ending September 30,
20 2022 2023 2024 2025 Thereafter Total
(in millions)
Software licenses $ 61 $ 26 % 5% 5 % 5 8% — § 102

Mote 189—Income Taxes

The Company's income before taxes by fiscal year consisted of the following:

For the Years Ended September 30,

2020 2018 218

(in millions}
U5, 5 9178 0538 5% 8,088
Non-U.5. 4,612 5.348 4,718
Total income before taxes. ... % 13,790 5 14884 5 12,806

For fiscal 2020 and 2019, U.S. income betore taxes included $3.0 billion, and for fiscal 2018 included $2.7
billion, of the Company's U_S. entiies’ income from operations outside of the U.S.

Income tax provision by fiscal yvear consisted of the following:

For the Years Ended September 30,

2020 2049 208
(in milllion s}

Current:

U3, federal % 1,662 & 1504 % 2.819

State and local 212 243 219

Non-U.5. 743 843 754
Total current taxes 2,617 2.580 3,792
Deferred:

LS. federal 42 184 {1,214)

State and local 9 28 {96)

Non-U.5. 256 2 23
Total deferred laxes 307 214 {1,287)
Total Income tax ProvISION.........coii e s e s e 9 2924 % 2804 % 2.505
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The tax effect of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred fax assets and liabilities
al September 30, 2020 and 2018, are presented below:

September 30,
2020 2018
{in millions)
Deferred Tax Assets:
Acorued compensation and benefits 3 114 § 117
Accrued itigation obligation 204 273
Client incentives 121 125
Net operating loss carnyforwards 80 685
Comprehensive loss 148 33
Federal benefit of state taxes 203 148
Other 12 &
Valuation allowance (84) {62)
D el orre s Bt A e e o e R 798 68
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Property, equipment and fechnology, net (343) {314)
Intangible asseis (5.492) {4,983)
Foreign taxes {(137) {184)
Deferred tax labilities .. (5,972) {5,481)
Net deferred tax HabllIES. ..o s esre st s as s s enssinsa e s vres I5174l g s.q,‘.ragi

On July 22, 2020, UK enacted legislation that repealed the previous tax rate reduction from 19% to 17% that
was effective on April 1, 2020. As a resull, the Company recorded a $329 million non-recuring, non-cash fax
expense related to the remeasurement of its net UK deferred tax liabilities, primarily relaled o intangibles recorded
upon the acquisition of Visa Europe in fiscal 2016. The increase in deferred fax liabilites reflects the remeasurement
of UK deferred tax liabiliies.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Acf’) was enacted in the U.S, on March
27, 2020. The CARES Act includes several U_S. income tax provisions related 1o, among other things, net operating
loss carrybacks, alternatve minimum tax credits, modifications 1o the nel interest deduction imitations, and
technical amendments regarding the income {ax depreciafion of qualified improvement property placed in service
after December 31, 2017. The CARES Act does not have a material impact on the Company's financial results.

At September 30, 2020 and 2019, net deferred tax assets of 363 million and 524 milion, respectively, are
reflected in other assels on the consolidated balance sheets.

In assessing the realizability of deferred {ax asseds, management considers whether it is more likely than not
that all or some porion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ulimate realization of the deferred tax
assels is dependent upon the generation of fulure taxable income during the periods in which those femporary
differences are deduciible, The fiscal 2020 and 2019 valuation allowances relaie primarily fo foreign net operating
losses from subsidiares acquired in recent years.

As of Seplember 30, 2020, the Company had 5132 million federal. $16 million state and 5367 million foreign net
operating loss camyforwards from acguired subsidiaries. Federal and stale net operating loss carnyforwarnds
generated in years prior 1o fiscal 2018 will expire in fiscal 2028 through 2037. Federal net operating losses
generated afler fiscal 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely. Foreign net operating losses may be carmied forward
indefinitely, excepd for cerain foreign losses that expire in fiscal 2025 through 2027, The Company expects to fully
ufilize the state net operaling loss carryforwards in future years.
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The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable U.5.

federal statulory rate 1o pretax income, as a result of the following;
For the Years Ended Seplember 30,
2020 2019 2018
{in millions, excopl pereentages)

U.5. federal income 1ax at statutory rate $ 2896 21% % 3128 21% & 3141 25 %
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 199 2% 223 2% 20 2%
Mon-U.5. tax effect, net of federal benefit (483) {4)% (527) {4)% {485) {4)%
Transition tax on foreign eamings — — % o — % 1,147 9%
Remeasurement of deferred {ax balances. iz 2% - —% (1,133) (9%
Other, net {(17) — % (18) — % (3B6) {3)%
Income tax provision............................. % &924 21% & 2.804 199% % 2505 20 %

In fiscal 2020 and fiscal 20119, the effective income tax rate was 219% and 199, respectively. The effective tax
rate in fiscal 2020 differs from the effective tax rate in fiscal 2019 mainly due fo a $329 million non-recurring, non-
cash tax expense related o the remeasurement of UK deferred fax liabilities, as discussed above.

In fiscal 2019 and fiscal 20118, the effective income tax rate was 19% and 209, respectively. The effective tax
rate in fiscal 2019 differs from the effective tax rate in fiscal 2018 primarily due to:

+  a decrease in federal statutory rate, from a Blended rate of 24.5% in fiscal 2018 1o a rate of 21% in fiscal
2019, resulting from the Tax Act,

«  new provisions enacled as parl of the Tax Act, including the deduction for foreign-derived intangible income
{"FDII") and tax on global intangible low-tax income (GILTI"), effective for the Company on October 1, 2018,
and the absence of the following items recorded in fiscal 2018:

= a %11 billion one-time transition {ax expense on cerfain untaxed foreign earnings in accordance with the
Tax Act;

+ a$1.1 billion non-recuring, non-cash benefit from the remeasurement of deferred tax balances due 1o the
reduction in U.S. federal fax rate enacted by the Tax Act; and

= 5161 milion of fax benefits due 1o varous non-recurring audit sefflements.

Current income taxes receivable al September 30, 2020 and 2019 of $23 million and 3130 million, respectively,
wiere included in prepaid expenses and other cument assets. Non-current income 1axes receivable at September 30,
2020 and 2019 of $988 milion and $771 million, respectively, were included in ofher assets. Income taxes payable
al September 30, 2020 and 2019 of $134 million and $327 million, respectively, were included in accrued liabilities,
Acerued income taxes at September 30, 2020 and 2019 of $2.8 billicn and $2.5 billion, respeclively, were included
in other liabilities.

The Company's operating hub in the Asia Pacific region is located in Singapore. Eftective October 1, 2008
through September 30, 2023, # is subject o a fax incentive which is conditional upon meeting cerain business
operations and employment thresholds in Singapore. The fax incentive decreased Singapore tax by $280 million,
£324 million and $295 million, and the benefit of the tax incentive on diluted eamings per share was 50,13, 50.14
and $0.13 in fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

In accordance with Accownting Standards Codification 740-—income Taxes, the Company is required o
inveriory, evaluate and measure all uncerain tax posilions taken or fo be faken on {ax returns, and o record
liabilities for the amount of such positions that may not be sustained, or may only parfially be sustained, upon
examination by the relevant taxing authorities.

Al September 30, 2020, 2018, and 2018, the Company's fotal gross unrecognized {ax benefils were $2.6
billion, £2.2 billion and $1.7 billion, respectively, exclusive of interest and penalties described below. Included in the
$2.6 billion, $2.2 billion and $1.7 bilion are $1.6 billion, $1.4 bilion and $1.2 billion of unrecognized 1ax benefits,
respectively, that if recognized. would reduce the effective tax rate in a future period,
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A reconciliation of beginning and ending unrecognized tax benefils by fiscal year is as follows;

2020 2019 218
{im milliens)

Balance at beginning of period - $§ 223 § 165 % 17383
Increases of unrecognized {ax benefits related to prior years 66 216 37
Decreases of unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years (83) {13) (233)
Increases of unrecognized tax benefits related to current year are 384 172
Decreases related 1o setiements with taxing authorities. (12) (e —_
Reductions related to lapsing statute of limitations {2) (2) {1)

Balance at end of Perlod.............ccoiiiiniiiiis s 3 58T9 5 2234 5 1.858

_— e

In fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized 368 million, $66 million and $15 million of interest
expense, respectively, related to uncerain fax positions. In fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company accrued
penalties related to uncertain tax positions of $4 million, %5 million and none, respectively. M September 30, 2020
and 2019, the Company had accrued interest of $233 million and $165 million, respectively, and accrued penallies
of $31 million and $26 million, respectively, relaled to unceriain tax positions incuded in other long-term liabilities in
ifs consolidated balance sheeis.

The Company’s fiscal 2012 through 2015 U.S. federal and California income tax relurns are currently under
examination. The Company has filed federal refund claims for fiscal 2008 through 2011, and California refund claims
for fiscal 2006 through 2011, which are also currently under examination. Except tor the refund claims, the federal
and California statutes of limitations have expired for fiscal years prior 1o 2012,

During fiscal 2013, the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) completed its examination of the Company's fiscal
2002 through 2009 Canadian tax returns and proposed certain assessments. Based on the findings of its
examination, the CRA also proposed cerlain assessments {o the Company's fiscal 2010 through 2017 Canadian tax
returns. The Company filed notices of objeclion against these assessments and, in fiscal 2015, completed the
appeals process without reaching a setflement with the CRA. In April 2018, the Company petiioned the Tax Cour of
Canada to overlurn the CRA's assessments. In September 2020, the Company decided to accept a setlement offer
provided by the CRA, The settlement agreement is subject to approval by the Tax Courd of Canada. The Company's
income tax provision has been adjusted accordingly.

The India 1ax authorities completed the first level examination of the Company’s income tax retumns for the
taxable years falling within the perod from fiscal 2010 1o 2016, and proposed certain assessments. The Company
objected to these proposed assessments and filed appeals 1o the appellate authorities. While the timing and
oufcome of the final resclufion of these appeals are unceriain, the Company believes that its income tax provision
adequately reflects its income tax obligations in India.

The Company is also subject to examinations by various state and foreign tax authorities. All material siale and
foreign tax matlers have been concluded for years through fiscal 2006, The timing and outcome of the final
respludions of the federal, state and foreign 1ax examinations and refund claims are uncerfain. As such, it is not
reasonably possible 1o estimate the impact that the final outcomes could have on the Company's unrecognized tax
benefits in the next 12 months.

Mote 20—Legal Matters

The Company is parly 1o various legal and regulatory proceedings. Some of these proceedings involve
complex claims that are subject fo substantial uncertainties and unascertainable damages. Accordingly, except as
disclosed, the Company has not established reserves or ranges of possible loss related to these proceedings, as at
this fime in the proceedings, the matiers do not relate 1o a probable loss and/or the amount or range of losses are
nol reasonably estmable. Although the Company believes thal i has strong defenses for the litigation and
regulatory proceedings described below, it could, in the fulure, incur judgments or fines or enter into settlements of
claims thai could have a matenal adverse eftect on the Company's financial position, results of operafions or cash
flows. From time to time, the Company may engage in setlement discussions or mediations with respect to one or
more of its outstanding lifigation matters, either on its own behalf or collectively with other paries.
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The litigation accrual is an esfimate and is based on management's understanding of its lifigation profile, the
specifics of each case, advice of counsel fo the extent appropriate and management's best estimate of incurred loss
as of the balance sheet date.

The following fable summarizes the aclivity related to accrued lifigation by fiscal year:

2020 2015
(in millions}

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,203 % 1434
Provision for uncovered legal matiers 10 a7
Provision for covered legal matiers 26 535
Reestablishment of prior accrual related to interchange multidistrict Itigation 467 —
Paymenis for legal matters (T792) (803)

Balance at end of PEriom.........cureeiimmmeriinsmm s manismsmsssisssssmsssssmmassssnanss ssasansasases B 914 5§ 1,203

Accrual Summary—U.S. Covered Litigation

Visa Inc., Visa U.5.A. and Visa Infemational are pariies 1o certain legal proceedings that are covered by the
U.5. retrospective responsibility plan, which the Company refers o as the U.S. covered lifigation. An accrual for the
.5, covered litigation and a charge to the liigation provision are recorded when a loss is deemed to be probable
and reasonably estimable. In making this determination, the Company evaluaies available information, including but
nod limited 10 actions taken by the liigation committee. The {ofal accrual related to the U.S. covered Iitigation could
be either higher or lower than the escrow account balance, See further discussion below under Inferchange
Multidistrict Litigation (MDL) - Individual Merchant Actons and Note 5—U.8 and Europe Retrospeciive
Respansibility Plans.

The following table summarizes the accrual activity related to U.S. covered itigation by fiscal year:

2020 2018
{in millions)

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,198 § 1428
Provision for interchange multidistrict litigation —_ 370
Reestablishment of prior accrual related to interchange mulidistrict Iitigation 467 —
Payments for U.S. covered litigation (777) {600)

Balanice ol e OF DEtTOT i o v ceasesssoiess s b s s b S a i s Eah ay 888 5 1,188

Accrual Summary—VE Territory Covered Litigation

Visa Inc., Visa Infernational and Visa Europe are parties {o certain legal proceedings that are covered by the
Europe retrospective responsibility plan. Unlike the U.S. refrospective responsibility plan, the Europe retrospeclive
responsibility plan does not have an escrow account that is used fo fund setilements or judgments. The Company is
enfitled {o recover VE territory covered losses through periodic adjustments 1o the conversion rates applicable to the
UK&l preferred stock and Europe preferred stock. An accrual for the VE territory covered losses and a reduction 1o
stockholders’ equity will be recorded when the loss is deemed to be probable and reasonably estimable. See further
discussion below under VE Territary Covered Lifigation and Note 5—U.5. and Europe Refrospective Responsibility
Fians.

The following table summarizes the accrual activity related to VE terrilony covered litigation by fiscal year;

2020 2049
{in millions)

Balance at beginning of period $ 5 % —
Accrual for VE territory covered Itigation 26 165
Payments for VE terifory covered litigation {10) {160

Balance at end of pariod...........ccco i sssves s s s s semss ssssa e vanasas $ 21 § 5
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U.5. Covered Litigation
interchange Multidistrict Litigation (MOL) - Putative Class Actions

Beginning in May 2005, a series of complaints (the majority of which were styled as class aclions) were filed in
U5, federal district courls by merchanis against Visa U.S.A., Visa Intemational andfor Mastercard, and in some
cases, cerfain U.5. financial instilutions. The Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation issued an order fransferring the
cases fo the U.S. District Courd for the Eastern District of New York for coordination of pre-frial proceedings in MOL
1720, A group of purpored class plaintiffs subsequently fled amended and supplemental class complaints. The
individual and class complaints generally challenged. amaong other things, Visa's and Mastercard's purporied setting
of inlerchange reimbursement fees, their “no surcharge” and honor-all-cards rules, alleged tying and bundling of
fransaction fees, and Visa's reorganization and PO, under the federal antitrust laws and, in some cases, certain
state unfair competition laws. The complainis sought money damages, declaratory and injunclive relief, atlomeys’
fees and, in one instance, an order that the IPO be unwound.

Visa Inc., Visa U.S.A., Visa Inlernational, Mastercard Incorporated, Masiercard Intermafional Incorporated,
varous LS. financial instiluion defendants, and the class plaintifis signed a setiement agreement (the 2012
Settlement Agreement”) to resolve the class plaintiffs’ claims. Pursuant to the 2012 Settlement Agreement, the
Company deposiled approximately $4.0 billion from the U.S. litigaion escrow accouni and approximately $500
millicn attributable to interchange reductions for an eight-month perod into court-authorized setlement accounts,
Visa subsequently received from the Courl and deposited into the Company's U.S. liigation escrow account
“akedown payments” of approximately $1.1 billion. On June 30, 20186, the U.S. Courl of Appeals for the Second
Circuit vacated the lower court's cerification of the merchant class, reversed the approval of the settlement, and
remanded the case to the lower courd for furher proceedings.

On remand, the district cour entered an order appointing interim counsel for two pulative classes of plaintifis, a
“Damages Class™ and an “Injunciive Relief Class.” The plaintifts purporting 1o act on behalf of the putative Damages
Class subsequently fled a Third Consolidated Amended Class Action Complaint, seeking money damages and
aftomeys fees, among other relief. A new group of purported class plaintiffs, acting on behalf of the putative
Imjunctive Reliet Class, filed a class action complainl against Visa, Mastercard, and certain bank defendants
seeking, among other things, an injunclion against the setting of defaull interchange rates; against certain Visa
operating rules relating to merchants, including the honor-all-cards rule; and against various transaction fees,
including the fixed acquirer network fee, as well as attorneys’ fees.

On Seplember 17, 2018, Visa, Mastercard, and cerdain U.S. financial institutions reached an agreement with
plaintifis purporting to act on behalt of the putative Damages Class fo resolve all Damages Class claims (the
“Amended Setlement Agreement”), subject to cour approval. The Amended Setilement Agreement supersedes the
212 Setllement Agreement and includes, among other terms, a release from paricipating class members for
liability arising out of conduct alleged by the Damages Class in the litigation, including claims that accrue no later
than five years after the Amended Settlement Agreement becomes final. Parlicipating class members will not
release injunclive relief claims as a named representative or non-representative class member in the putative
Injunctive Reliet Class. The Amended Settlement Agreement also required an additional setilement payment from
all defendants totaling $800 million, with the Company's share of $600 million paid from the Company's litigation
escrow account established pursuant 1o the Company's refrospective responsibility plan. See Note 5—ULS. and
Europe Retrospedctive Responsibitity Plans. The additional settlement payment was added 1o the approximately $5.3
billion previously deposited into sefllement accounts by the defendanis pursuant 1o the 2012 Seftlement Agreement.

Following a motion by the Damages Class plainfitts for final approval of the Amended Settlement Agreement,
certain merchants in the proposad setflement class objected to the setlement and/or submitted requesis to opt oul
of the setlement class. On December 13, 2019, the district courd granted final approval of the Amended Setilerment
Agreement relating 1o claims by the Damages Class, which was subsequently appealed, Based on the percentage
of class members (by payment volume) that opted out of the class, $700 million was refumed to defendants. Visa's
portion of the takedown payment was calculaded to be approximately 2467 million, and upon receipt, was deposited
into the U3, litigation escrow account with a corresponding increase in accrued litigation to address opt-out claims,
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Setlement discussions with plaintiffs purporting 1o act on behalf of the putative Injunctive Relief Class are
ongoing. On January 168, 2019, the bank defendants moved to dismiss the claims brought against them by the
Imjunctive Relief Class on the grounds that plainiffs lack standing and failed 1o stale a claim against the bank
defendants. On November 20, 2012, the district court denied the bank defendants’ motion o dismiss the claims
brought against them by the putative Injunctive Relief Class.

On May 29, 2020, a complaint was filed by Old Jericho Enterprise, Inc. against Visa and Mastercard on behalf
of a purporied class of gasoline retailers operating in 24 states and the District of Columbia. The complaint alleges
viclations of the antitrust laws of those jurisdictions and seeks recovery for plaintiffs as indirect purchasers. To the
extent that Plaintiffs’ claims are nol released by the Amended Setflement Agreement, Visa believes they are
covered by the U5, Retrospective Responsibility Plan,

On June 1, 2020, Visa, jointly with other defendants, served a motion for summary judgment regarding the
claims in the Injunctive Relief Class complainl. The puiative Injunctive Relief Class plaintiffs served a motion for
parfial summary judgment.

Interchange Multidistrict Litigation (MOL) — Individual Merchant Actions

Since May 2013, more than 50 cases have been filed in or removed 1o various federal district cours by
hundreds of merchants generally pursuing damages claims on allegations similar o those raised in MDL 1720. The
cases name as defendamts Visa Inc., Visa U.5.A., Visa Infernational, Mastercard Incorporated and Mastercard
International Incorporated, although some also include certain U.S. financial institulions as defendants. A number of
the cases include allegations that Visa has monopolized, attempted 1o monopolize, and/or conspired 1o monopolize
debit card-related market segments. Some of the cases seek an injunction against the setting of default inferchange
rales; cerain Visa operating rules relating to merchants, including the honor-all-cards rule; and various transaction
fees, including the fixed acquirer network fee. In addition, some cases asser thatl Visa, Mastercard andfor their
member banks conspired to prevent the adoption of chip-and-PIN authenfication in the U.S. or otherwise circumvent
competition in the debit market. Cerain individual merchams have filed amended complaints 1o, among other
things, add claims for injunclive refief and update claims for damages.

In addition 1o the cases filed by individual merchants, Visa, Mastercard, andfor certain U.S. financial institution
defendants in MDL 1720 filed complaints against cerlain merchants in the Eastern District of New York seeking, in
parl, a declaration that Visa's conduct did not violate federal or state anfitrust laws.

The individual merchant actions described in this seclion have been either assigned o the judge presiding
over MDL 1720, or have been transferred or are being considered for transfer by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict
Litigation for inclusion in MDL 1720, These individual merchant actions are U3, covered litigation for purposes of
the U.3. refrospective responsibility plan. See Note 5—ULS. and Europe Refrospective Responsibiity Plans.

Visa has reached setflements with a number of merchants representing approximately 40% of the Visa-
branded payment card sales volume of merchants who opted ocut of the Amended Setflement Agreement with the
Damages Class plainiffs.

On June 1, 2020, Visa, joinfly with other defendants, served maotions for summary judgment regarding the
claims in cerain of the individual merchant actions, as well as certain declaratory judgment claims brought by Visa,
Mastercard, and some U.S. financial institutions. Plaintiffs in cedain of the individual merchant actions served
motions for parial summary judgment.

The Company believes it has substantial defenses 1o the claims asserted in the pulative class actions and
individual merchant actions, but the final cutcome of individual legal claims is inherently unpredictable. The
Company could incur judgments, enter inlo setflements or revise s expectations regarding the outcome of
merchants' claims, and such developments could have a matenal adverse effect on the Company’s financial results
in the period in which the effect becomes probable and reasonably estimable. While the US. refrospective
responsibility plan is designed to address monetary liability in these matters, see Nofe 5—US. and Europe
Retrospective Responsibilty Plans, judgments or setliements that require the Company to change ils business
practices, rules, or contractual commitments could adversely affect the Company's financial results.
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VE Territory Covered Litigation
Europe Memhant Litigation

Since July 2013, in excess of 550 Merchants (the capitalized term "Merchant,” when used in this seclion,
means a merchant together with subsidiaryaffiliate companies that are party to the same claim) have commenced
proceedings against Visa Europe, Visa Inc. and other Visa subsidiaries in the UK, Germany, Beigium and Poland
primarily relating fo interchange rales in Europe and in some cases relating to tees charged by Visa and certain Visa
niles. They seek damages for alleged anfi-competitive conduet in relation to one or more of the following types of
interchange fees for credit and debit card fransactions: UK domesfic. Irish domestic, other European domestic,
intra-Evuropean Economic Area and/or other inter-regional, As of the filing date, Visa Europe, Visa Inc. and other
Visa subsidiaries have seffled the claims assered by over 100 Merchants, leaving more than 400 Merchants with
outstanding claims. In addition, over 30 additional Merchants have threatened o commence similar proceedings.
Standstill agreements have been enfered into with respect 1o some of those threatened Merchant claims, several of
which have been seftled. While the amount of interchange being challenged could be substantial, these claims have
not yet been filed and their full scope is not yet known. The Company has learned thal several addifional European
entities have indicated that they may also bring similar claims and the Company anticipates additional claims in the
future.,

A trial fook place from Movember 2016 to March 2017, relating io claims asserted by only one Merchant. In
judgments published in November 2017 and February 2018, the court found as fo that Merchant thal Visa's UK
domestic inlerchange did notl restrict competition, but that if it had been found fo be restrictive it would not be
exemptible under applicable law. In April 2018, the Court ot Appeal heard the Merchant's appeal of the decision
alongside two separate Mastercard cases also involving inferchange claims. On July 4, 2018, the Cour of Appeal
overiurned the lower courd’s rulings, finding that Visa's UK domestic interchange restricted competition and the
guestion of whether Visa's UK domestic interchange was exempt from the finding of restriction under applicable law
had been incorrecily decided. The Court of Appeal remitted the claim to the lower cour 1o reconsider the exemption
issue and the assessment of damages. On November 29, 2018, Visa was granted permission o appeal aspects of
the Court of Appeal's judgment to the Supreme Cour of the United Kingdom, including the question of whether
Viza's UK interchange restricled competition. On June 17, 2020, the Supreme Cour of the United Kingdom found
that Visa's UK domesiic interchange restricled competition under applicable competifion law, The case will now
continue before the UK Competition Appeals Tribunal 1o determine the lawful level of interchange and the amount, if
any, the plaintift may be entitled to recover,

The full scope of potential damages is not yet known because not all Merchant claims have been served and
Viza has substantial defenses. However, the claims that have been issued, served andfor preserved seek several
billion dollars in damages.

Other Litigation
Eurapean Commission DCC Investigation

In 2013, the European Commission (EC) opened an investigation against Visa Europe, based on a complaind
alleging that Visa Europe's pricing of and rules relating to Dynamic Currency Conversion {DCC) transactions
infringe EU competition rules. On October 16, 2020, the EC informed Visa that it has closed the invesfigation.

Canadian Marchant Litigation

Beginning in December 2010, a number of class action lawsuits were filed in Quebec, British Columbia,
Ontario, Saskatchewan and Alberta against Visa Canada, Mastercard and ten financial institutions on behalf of
merchants that accept payment by Visa and/or Mastercard credit cards. The actions allege a violation ot Canada’s
price-fixing law and varicus common law claims based on separate Visa and Mastercard conspiracies in respect of
defaull interchange and cerain of the networks' rules, To date, five financial instituions have setfled with the
plainfifts. In June 2017, Visa and Mastercard also reached setlements with the plaintifts. Courts in each of the five
provinces approved the sefflements and Wal-Mart Canada and/or Home Depol of Canada Inc. filed nolices of
appeal of the decisions approving the setflements, The Courls of Appeal in British Columbia, Quebec, Ondario and
Saskalchewan rejected the appeals filed by Wal-Marl Canada and Home Depot of Canada Inc. Wal-Mart Canada
and Home Depot of Canada Inc. sought leave 1o appeal those decisions and the Supreme Courd of Canada denied
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those applications on March 26, 2020 (British Columbia, Quebec and Ontario) and Oclober 28, 2020
{Saskalchewan). An appeal 1o the Alberta Court of Appeal remains pending.

UE ATM Access Fee Litigation

Mational ATM Council Class Action. In October 2011, the National ATM Council and thifeen non-banke ATM
operators filed a purporied class acfion lawsuil against Visa (Visa Inc., Visa Internafional, Visa U.5.A. and Plus
Systemn, Inc.) and Mastercard in the U.5. District Court tor the District of Columbia. The complaint challenges \isa's
rile {and a similar Mastercard rule) that if an ATM operator chooses {o charge consumers an access fee for a Visa
or Plus fransaction, that fee cannol be greater than the access fee charged for fransactions on other networks.
Plaintitts claim that the rule violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act, and seek freble damages, injunctive reliet, and
attorneys’ fees. On September 20, 2019, plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification.

Consumer Class Actions. In October 20711, a purporied consumer class action was filed against Visa and
Mastercard in the same federal court challenging the same ATM access fee rules. Two other purpored consumer
class actions challenging the rles, later combined, were also filed in October 2011 in the same federal courd
naming Visa, Mastercard and three financdial institutions as defendanis. Plaintiffs seek freble damages, restifulion,
injunctive relief, and atlorneys’ fees where available under federal and state law, including under Section 1 of the
Sherman Act and consumer protection statules. On September 20, 2019, plaintiffs in both cases filed motions for
class certification. On Ociober 5, 2020, plainfifts in the case naming three financial institutions as defendants filed a
motion for preliminary approval of a cdass action settlement reached with those financial institution defendants.

LS. Department of Justice Chwl Invesfigative Demand

On March 13, 2012, the Anfifrust Division of the United States Depariment of Justice (the "Division”) issued a
Civil Investigative Demand, or “CID,” to Visa Inc. seeking documents and information regarding a potential viclation
of Section 1 or 2 of the Sherman Acl, 15 U.5.C. §§ 1. 2. The CID focuses on PIN-Authenticated Visa Debit and
Visa's competitive responses 1o the Dodd-Frank Act, including Visa's fixed acquirer network fee. Visa is cooperating
with the Division in connection with the CID.

Pulse Network

On November 25, 2014, Pulse Network LLC filed suil against Visa Inc. in federal district cour in Texas. Pulse
alleges that Visa has, among other things, monopolized and attemplied to monopolize debit card network services
markeds. Pulse seeks unspecified freble damages, attorneys' fees and injunctive refief, including 1o enjoin the fixed
acquirer network fee structure, Visa's conduct regarding PIN-Authenticated Visa Debit and Visa agreements with
merchants and acquirers relating to debil acceptance, On August 31, 2018, the courd granted Visa's motion for
summary judgment, finding that Pulse did not have standing to pursue ils claims. Pulse appealed the district court's
summary judgment decision to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, which held oral argument on October
9, 2019, On June 5, 2020, the U.S, Courl of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit set the case for re-argument,

EMV Chip Liability Shift

Following their initial complaint filed on March 8, 2016, BER Supermarked, Inc., d'bfa Milam's Market, and
Grove Liguors LLC filed an amended class action complaint on July 15, 2016, against Visa Inc., Visa U.3.A,,
Mastercard, Discover, American Express, EMVCo and certain financial institutions in the U.S. District Court for the
Worthern District of Califomia. The amended complaint asserts that defendants, through EMVYCo, conspired to shifl
liability tor fraudulent, taulty or otherwise rejected payment card transactions from defendants to the purporied class
of merchants, defined as those merchanis throughout the U.S. who have been subjected to the “Liability Shift” since
October 2015, Plaintiffs claim that the so-called “Liability Shifi”™ violates Seclions 1 and 3 of the Sherman Act and
cerain state laws, and seek treble damages, injunctive reliet and attomeys’ fees.

EMVCo and the financial instifution defendants were dismissed, and the matier was subsequently transferred
fo the U.5. District Cour for the Eastern District of New York, which has darified that this case is not part of MDL
1720,

On August 28, 2020, the district court granted plaintiffs’ motion for class cerification, and on September 11,
2020, defendants sought permission from the U.5. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit to appeal the decision,
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Austratian Competiion & Consumer Commission

On July 12, 2019, the Australian Competition & Consumer Commission (ACCC) informed Visa that the ACCC
has commenced an investigation into cerain agreements and interchange fees relating fo Visa Debit Visa is
cooperating with the ACCC.

Federal Trade Commission Civl Investigative Demand (Formerly Voluntary Access Lefter)

On November 4, 2019, the Bureau of Compeiion of the United States Federal Trade Commission (lhe
“Bureau”®) requested that Visa provide, on a voluntary basis, documents and information for an investigation as fo
whether Visa's actions inhibited merchani choice in the selection of debit payments networks in polential violation of
the Durbin Amendment io the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Profection Act. On June 9, 2020, the
Federal Trade Commission issued a Civil Investigative Demand to Visa requesting additional documents and
information, and Visa is cooperating with the Bureau,

Euronet Litigation

On December 13, 2019, Eurcnet 380 Finance Limited, Euronet Polska Spolka z.o.0. and Euronetl Senvices
spol. s.r.o. (“Euronet”) served a claim in the UK alleging that cerain rules affecting ATM access fees in Poland, the
Czech Republic and Greece by Visa Inc. and Mastercard Incorporated, and cerain of their subsidiaries, breach
varnous competition laws. Euronetl seeks damages, costs, and injunctive relief to prevent the defendants from
enforcing the aforementioned rules.

Eurnpean Commission Staged Digital Walefs Investigation

On June 26, 2020, the European Commission ("ECT) informed Visa that it has opened a preliminary
investigation into Visa's rules regarding staged digital walleis and issued a request for information regarding such
riles. Visa is cooperating with the EC.

Plaid inc. Acquisition
On November 5, 2020, the US. Deparment of Justice filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the
Worhern District of California seeking a permanent injunction to prevent Yisa from acquiring Plaid Inc., alleging that

the proposed acquisiion would substantially lessen competition in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act and
wiould constilute monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act. Visa intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following tables show selected quarterly operating results for each quarter and full year of fiscal 2020 and
2018 for the Company:

CQuarter Ended [unaudited) Fiscal Year
September 30, June 30, March 31, Decamber 31,
2020 2020 2020 2013 2020
{in millions, except per share data)

Netrevenues. ... ... % 5101 % 4837 % 5854 % 6,054 % 21,846
Operating income...........oooiiinn. B 3142 % 2999 5 3924 % 4016 § 14,081
MNet income e g 2137 5 2373 % 3084 % 3272 $ 10,866
Basic earnings per share

Class A common stock 5 097 § 107 § 139 § 146 % 4.90
Class B common siock 5 157 % 1.74 % 225 % 237 % 7.04
Class C commeon stock g 388 % 429 § 554 § 585 % 19.58
Diluted earnings per share

Class A common stock g D97 £ 107 & 138 5 146 § 4.89
Class B common stock £ 157 % 1.74 & 225 % 23T % 7.93
Class C common stock 3 387 % 429 § 554 % 581 % 19.56

Quarter Ended [unaudited) Fiscal Year
Eapmnhglr 30, June 30, March 31, December 3,
21y 2018 218 2018 2018
{in millions, except per share data)

Netrevenues. . ... % 6,137 $ 5840 5 5484 5 5506 % 22977
Operating income...............ccccce. B 3735 % jong % N I 3717 % 15001
Metincome ... g 3025 % 3101 % 2977 % 2977 % 12,080
Basic earnings per share

Class A common stock $ 134 § 1.37 % 131 % 130 % 532
Class B common siock g 219 % 223 § 213 % 212 % 868
Class C common stock % 538 % 548 § 523 % 520 % 21.30
Diluted earnings per share

Class A common stock g 134 § 137 5 131 § 130 % 532
Class B common stock kS 219 5 223 & 213 % 212 % B.66
Class C common stock 3 53T % 548 & 523 % 520 % 21.26

M Tha Company’s unaudiled consolidated stalement of operations include the impad of several significant ore-dime ilems. See Ovendew within
fom F=—Managemend s DNscussion and Analysis of Fnancial Corddion ang Sesuits of Operatians of this repor
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Visalnc.:

We consent to the inclusion in this Securities Report on Form 8 of Visa Inc. filed with the Kanto Local
Finance Bureau of our report dated November 19, 2020with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Visa
Inc. and subsidiaries as of September 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended September 30, 2020, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Visa

Inc. as of September 30, 2020, and to the reference to our firm under the caption “Section VI. - Financia
Conditions’ in this Securities Report.

/s KPMG LLP

Santa Clara, Cdlifornia
March 29, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Stockholders and Board of Directors
Visalnc.:

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Satements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Visa Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of September 30, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
September 30, 2020 and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). We also have
audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all materia
respects, the financial position of the Company as of September 30, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended September 30, 2020, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financia reporting as of September 30, 2020, based on
criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Changes in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of
accounting for revenue from contracts with customers in the year ended September 30, 2019 due to the
adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update 2014-09 “ Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)”.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financia reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of interna
control over financia reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’ s consolidated financial
statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We
are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respectto the Companyin accordance with the U.S.federal
securities lawsand the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective interna
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over
financia reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
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considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financia statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financia reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the
consolidated financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financia
statements and (2) involved our especialy challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not ater in any way our opinion on the consolidated financia
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing a
separate opinion on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relate

Assessment of the accrued litigation liability for class members opting out of the Damages Class settlement in
the Interchange Multidistrict Litigation (MDL)

As discussed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company isinvolved in various legal
proceedings, including the Interchange Multidistrict Litigation (MDL) - Individual Merchant Actions, and has
recorded an accrued litigation liability of $914 million as of September 30, 2020. In preparing its consolidated
financia statements, the Company is required to assess the probability of loss associated with each lega
proceeding and the amount of such loss, if any. The outcome of the legal proceedings to which the Company
is a party is not within the complete control of the Company or may not be known for prolonged periods of
time.

We identified the assessment of the accrued litigation liability for class members opting out of the
Damages Class settlement, also known as the MDL - Individual Merchant Actions, as a critical audit matter.
This proceeding involves complex claims that are subject to substantial uncertainties and unascertainable
damages. The assessment of the accrued litigation liability for the MDL - Individual Merchant Actions
required especially challenging auditor judgment due to the assumptions and estimates associated with the
consideration and evaluation of possible outcomes. Changes to the outcomes could have a significant effect
on the estimated amount of the liability.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated
the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company’s litigation
assessment process, including internal controls over the Company’s litigation accrual process for the MDL -
Individual Merchant Actions. We assessed the amounts accrued by reading letters received directly from the
Company’s external legal counsel and in-house legal counsel that discussed the Company’s legal matters,
including the MDL - Individual Merchant Actions. We considered relevant publicly available information,
such as published news articles, about the Company and its legal matters, including the MDL - Individua
Merchant Actions. We evaluated the Company’s ability to estimate its monetary exposure by comparing
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historically recorded liabilities to actual monetary amounts incurred upon resolution of legal matters for
merchants that opted out of the previous MDL class settlement. To assess the estimated monetary exposure in
the Company’s analysis, we compared such amounts to the complete population of amounts attributable to
opt-out merchants. We aso performed sensitivity analysis over the Company’s monetary exposure

calculations.

/s KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2007.

Santa Clara, Cdlifornia
November 19, 2020
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